
AGENDA

CABINET

YN SYTH AR ÔL CYFARFOD PWYLLGOR CRAFFU'R CABINET
DYDD MERCHER 30 MEHEFIN 2021.

O BELL DRWY MICROSOFT TEAMS

RHAID GOSOD POB FFÔN SYMUDOL AR Y MODD DISTAW AR 
GYFER PARHAD Y CYFARFOD

Rhan 1

1. Penodi Cadeirydd  

2. Croeso a galw’r rhestr  

3. Chairpersons Announcement/s  

4. Datganiadau o fuddiannau  

5. Rhaglen Sgiliau a Thalent Bargen Ddinesig Bae Abertawe  
(Tudalennau 3 - 130)

6. Prosiect Sinema Canolfan Celfyddydau Pontardawe  (Tudalennau 
131 - 142)

7. Adolygiad Archwillio Cymru o'r System Rheoli Perfformiad 
Corfforaethol (CPMS)  (Tudalennau 143 - 150)

8. Buddsoddiadau o Gronfeydd Wrth Gefn 2021/2022  (Tudalennau 
151 - 164)

9. Adfer, Ailosod, Adnewyddu  (Tudalennau 165 - 214)

10. Tim Gorfodi COVID-19  (Tudalennau 215 - 220)



11. Papur ar y cyd Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Bae Abertawe a Chyngor 
Bwrdeistref Sirol Castell-nedd Port Talbot ar Gwm Afan Uchaf  
(Tudalennau 221 - 246)

12. Cymru Wrth-hiliol: Cynllun Gweithredu Cydraddoldeb Hiliol Cymru - 
ymateb i'r ymgynghoriad drafft  (Tudalennau 247 - 260)

13. Cronfa Gymunedol yr Aelodau  (Tudalennau 261 - 288)

14. Eitemau brys  
Unrhyw eitemau brys (boed yn gyhoeddus neu wedi'u heithrio) yn ôl 
disgresiwn y Cadeirydd yn unol ag Adran 100b (4)(B) o Ddeddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 1972.

K.Jones
Prif Weithredwr

Canolfan Ddinesig
Port Talbot 

Dydd Iau, 24 Mehefin 2021

Aelodau’r Y Cabinet: 

Y Cynghorwyr   C.Clement-Williams, D.Jones, E.V.Latham, 
A.R.Lockyer, P.A.Rees, P.D.Richards, A.Wingrave, L.Jones a/ac 
M.Harvey



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

30th June 2021

Report of the Director of Environment and Regeneration

Matter for Decision

Wards Affected: 

All wards.

Swansea Bay City Deal Skills and Talent Programme

Purpose of the Report:

To seek Members approval of the Swansea Bay City Deal Skills and 
Talent business case (attached as Appendix 1 of this report) and to 
authorise its’ formal submission to the Portfolio Management Office in 
accordance with the City Deal Implementation Plan to secure City 
Deal funding approval.

Executive Summary:
The Skills and Talent Programme is a unique programme within the 
suite of nine projects that make up the Swansea Bay City Deal 
portfolio that will over the next 5 years deliver a skills training solution, 
offering the best value sustainable skills infrastructure to develop the 
workforce of the future. The development of skills to meet the needs 
of the City Deal projects and wider employer needs will enhance 

Tudalen3

Eitem yr Agenda5



opportunities for the residents of the county and increase the number 
of people with higher level skills in the region.

The overarching aim of the programme is to strengthen collaboration 
and increase investment that will significantly boost the quality and 
quantity of trained and skilled individuals through the intervention of 
the programme. The programme has clear outputs set out below and 
it will achieve these by developing and delivering pilot projects in 
partnership with the eight City Deal projects and key stakeholders in 
the region. 

Background:
The Swansea Bay City Deal is a £1.3bn investment in nine major 
projects across the Swansea Bay City Region which is made up of 
Carmarthenshire, Neath Port Talbot, Pembrokeshire and Swansea. 
The City Deal is being funded, subject to the approval of project 
business cases, by the UK Government, the Welsh Government, the 
public sector and the private sector.

A business plan for the Skills and Talent Programme has been 
prepared and is enclosed as Appendix 1 for member’s consideration 
with a summary included in the body of this main report.

The City Deal funding will fund a programme team that will develop a 
Skills Barometer for the region, the Barometer will identify the skills 
gaps that exist in the region and identify the new skills required to 
meet the existing and future needs of the 8 City Deal projects across 
the five key themes of Construction, Digital, Energy, Health and 
Wellbeing and Smart Manufacturing.

The programme delivery will be across four phases:

 Phase1 - mapping of the City Deal skills gaps and analysis of the 
training needs for the City Deal projects and the wider regional 
benefits. The needs analysis will consider the business needs; 
gender and equality imbalances and the needs and availability of 

Tudalen4



the existing and future workforce through re-training and 
increasing awareness of opportunities.  

 Phase 2 - identify the skills gaps across the five key themes and 
the programme team will work with stakeholders to develop pilot 
projects to deliver the skills training and upskilling identified. The 
Skills and Talent programme will not duplicate existing provision 
but will work with all training providers across the region to ensure 
that the courses delivered through the pilot projects will meet the 
future skills needs for the region and will provide a lasting legacy 
of skilled individuals across the Swansea Bay region. 

 Phase 3 - will work with schools across the region to highlight 
opportunities that will be generated through the City Deal projects 
and develop clear pathways to help young people make the right 
choices in schools.  The aim will be to increase the number of 
pupils following STEM subjects in Further and Higher Education.

 Phase 4 – identify opportunities to create Centres of Excellence in 
the region that will be the legacy of the programme and identify the 
region as being the best place to learn specific sector skills. 

The overarching aim of the programme is to strengthen collaboration 
and increase investment that will significantly boost the quality and 
quantity of trained and skilled individuals through the intervention of 
the programme.  The aim is to:

 To directly deliver at least 2,200 additional skills and support the 
development of around 14,000 individuals with higher level 
(between 2-8) skills within 10 years.

 To create at least 3000 new apprenticeship opportunities, to 
include level 3 to Degree apprenticeships.

Tudalen5



 To create at least 2 Centres of Excellence within specific sectors 
to develop the region as being “the best” area for skills 
development. 

 To create a clear career pathway from school education through 
further and higher education in the key areas of digital; 
construction, energy; smart manufacturing and life-science and 
wellbeing, achieved through engagement and development work 
with schools increasing the number of pupils following the STEM 
subjects in FE and HE.

 To deliver 20 new/updated course frameworks to ensure they 
meet the industry training needs for the future.

The Skills and Talent programme is required because the region 
suffers from a series of overarching economic issues including low 
GVA, lack of well-paid job opportunities, skills shortage, high levels of 
economic inactivity and outward youth migration. The region is 
characterised by a higher proportion of individuals with no 
qualifications when compared with national averages. A high number 
of individuals in the region are currently in low skilled, low paid and 
unstable employment and subsequently a lower-than-average level of 
individuals are in higher paid, meaningful employment. The 
programme will help address the skills gaps by working with the City 
Deal projects and regional stakeholders to develop and deliver the 
skills needs for the future in the region.

Financial Impacts: 
The financial profile is detailed below.  These figures are the current 
financial investment forecast that the Skills and Talent programme is 
projecting over its 5 year term.

Tudalen6



Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

(£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m)
Capital -£              -£             -£             -£                   -£                   -£                   -£                   
Revenue 24,800£        2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£       7,500,000£       7,055,200£       30,000,000£    
Total 24,800£        2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£       7,500,000£       7,055,200£       30,000,000£    
Funding 
Swansea Bay City Deal Grant 24,800£        1,170,000£ 1,500,000£ 2,500,000£       2,500,000£       2,305,200£       10,000,000£    
Public Sector -£              1,250,000£ 3,000,000£ 4,000,000£       4,000,000£       3,750,000£       16,000,000£    
Private Sector -£              500,000£    500,000£    1,000,000£       1,000,000£       1,000,000£       4,000,000£       
Total 24,800£        2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£       7,500,000£       7,055,200£       30,000,000£    

Expenditure 
Total

The Joint Committee is responsible for overseeing the proportion of 
each Local Authority’s responsibility for borrowing to provide funding 
for regional projects.  The capital borrowing in respect of the 
Government funded elements of the City Deal projects will be re-paid 
by identified Government funds (UK & Welsh Government) over the 
15-year period. 
The exact level of borrowing and the structure and terms of the 
borrowing are yet to be confirmed, although it will be calculated 
based on the amount required per relevant Local Authority and will be 
in line with the individual LA’s internal requirements.  This is being 
determined by the four Section 151 Officers of the four regional LAs.  
All borrowing will be agreed based on the principles of the Prudential 
Code and Treasury Management Policy and Strategy for each Local 
Authority. 
When the borrowing requirement is confirmed for the regional 
programmes each local authority will be obligated to individually 
support their determined element and any associated borrowing 
costs. Currently work is ongoing to determine the level of borrowing 
required for the three regional programmes in light of the 
announcement of the advancement of grant from UK Government 
and the ongoing discussions with Welsh Government to match this 
grant advancement.

Integrated Impact Assessment:
The scheme has been considered against the five ways of working 
(long term, prevention, integration, collaboration, involvement) in the 

Tudalen7



Well-being of Future Generations sustainable development principle.  
Skills and Talent will directly contribute to our objectives:

 Involvement – Part of the project is to deliver up-skilling, which 
is fundamental to opening opportunities for all and increasing 
the chance for all to get employment and have a better 
standard of living. 

The scheme is unlikely to impact on any specific groups as defined 
within the Equality Act 2010.

Finally, the scheme is unlikely to impact on the Council’s obligations 
under the Welsh Language Standard Regulations 2015.

Valleys Communities Impacts: 
The Skills and Talent programme will support training opportunities 
across the whole region.

Workforce Impacts:
No implications

 Long Term –Skills and Talent development is a long-term 
investment that enables transformative actions at many levels. 

 Prevention –Skills delivery represents an opportunity to improve 
services and provide a stable platform for future change. 

 Integration –Skills development is a critical enabler across 
many sectors and makes integration simpler and more 
effective.

 Collaboration –Skills and Talent opens significant new 
opportunities to involve people and organisations in working 
together and increase prosperity in the region. 

Tudalen8



Legal Impacts:
No implications

Risk Management Impacts: 
Report authors should identify the risks associated with implementing 
the proposed recommendations and also the risks associated with 
failing to implement the proposed recommendations.

Other Impacts
None.

Crime and Disorder Impacts: 
No impacts

Counter Terrorism Impacts: 
No impact 

Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Impacts:
No impact

Consultation:
There is no requirement for external consultation on this item’

Recommendations: 
1. To approve the Swansea Bay City Deal Skills and Talent business 

case and its formal submission to the Portfolio Management Office 
in accordance with the City Deal Implementation Plan to secure 
City Deal funding approval.

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Director of Environment 
and Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member for to 
approve any amendments to the business case that may be 
required to obtain approval at local, regional and national level.

Tudalen9



Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
To enable the formal submission of the Skills and Talent business 
case to the Portfolio Management Office in accordance with the City 
Deal project approval process.

Implementation of Decision:

The decision is proposed to be implemented after the 3 day call in 
period.

Appendices: 
Swansea Bay City Deal Skills and Talent Programme Business Case

List of Background Papers:
None

Officer Contact:
Jane Lewis, Regional Partnership Manager 
jelewis@cararthenshire.gov.uk

Tudalen10



1 | P a g e  
 

 

  

 

 “Create Ambition and Raise Aspiration” 

Version 8 

 

Updated May 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Swansea Bay City Deal 

Skills and Talent Programme  

Business Case 

 

Tudalen11



i | P a g e  
 

Executive Summary  

1 Vision 

To create new and sustainable opportunities that will generate prosperity for 
individuals and businesses in the Swansea Bay City Deal region. This will be achieved 
through the development of a pathway of skills for all and the pilot delivery of demand 
driven high level skills and upskilling opportunities across the five key sectors. 

2 Programme Introduction 

The Skills and Talent programme is a unique programme within the suite of 9 City Deal 
projects that will deliver a skills training solution offering the best value sustainable skills 
infrastructure to develop the future workforce for the region. The development of a 
comprehensive and forward-thinking skills programme that will deliver the right skills and 
competency across all the key themes of the City Deal programme is vital to the overall 
success of the City Deal Portfolio. 

The programme will align the available skills provision and identified skills gaps with the needs 
of Industry across the region as well as the 8 innovative projects that make up the City Deal 
supporting the growth of GVA, productivity and business investment in the region.   The 
delivery of an innovative skills training programme will be through initial scoping and 
publication of a skills barometer followed by the development of pilot projects to offer training 
solutions that will over the lifetime of the programme and beyond deliver a skilled workforce 
that will meet the requirements of the projects and the wider economy of the Swansea Bay 
region.   

The Regional Learning and Skills Partnership (RLSP), a partnership of Industry Employers 
and public sector training and education providers will be the lead body for the Skills and 
Talent programme.  The partnership was established in 2010 to identify skills and training 
needs of the region and has a long-standing experience of working with industry and training 
providers and reporting to Welsh Government the regional training needs. 

Proposal Description 

The development and delivery of an up-to-date training and skills programme through formal 
education; traineeships, apprenticeships and higher-level apprenticeships is critical to 
improving opportunities for lower skilled workers to upskill for labour market and to seek higher 
level outcomes. The programme will enable the support of employees already in the workplace 
to upskill/reskill to be developed to achieve the overall ambition and success of the Swansea 
Bay City Deal will be based on the ability of businesses in the region to compete with other 
areas in Wales and the UK.  To ensure that we achieve this success it is essential to have a 
highly skilled and productive workforce to enable the region to be connected and competitive. 
Through the funding support of the City Deal programme the RLSP will create a trained and 
talented workforce for the future within the Swansea Bay City Region working with 
stakeholders, employers and training providers.  The Skills and Talent programme will provide 
a private led business skills solution delivered through an integrated regional approach to 
delivering skills focusing on specific sector skills required in order to meet the demand of the 
Swansea Bay City Region City Deal and the five themes of ‘Digital, Construction, Health and 
Wellbeing, Energy and Smart Manufacturing all fused together to bring about Economic 
Acceleration in the region.  The programme will help open up new jobs to increase the number 
of people moving into work (including those who have been out of work over a long period of 
time) and reduce the number of people becoming NEET’s. 

Tudalen12



ii | P a g e  
 

 

The Skills and Talent programme will: 

✓ To directly deliver at least 2,200 additional skills and support the development of around 

14,000 individuals with higher level (between 2-8) skills within 10 years. 

✓ To create at least 3000 new apprenticeship opportunities, to include level 3 to Degree 

apprenticeships. 

✓ To create at least 2 Centres of Excellence within specific sectors to develop the region 

as being “the best” area for skills development.  

✓ To create a clear career pathway from school education through further and higher 

education in the key areas of digital; construction, energy; smart manufacturing and life-

science and wellbeing, achieved through engagement and development work with 

schools increasing the number of pupils following the STEM subjects in FE and HE.. 

✓ To deliver 20 new/updated course frameworks to ensure they meet the industry training 

needs for the future. 

The skills and talent project will work with the eight projects that make up the City Deal as well 
as understanding the wider skills requirements across the region. 

Ec
o

n
o

m
ic

 A
cc

e
le

ra
ti

o
n

 

Swansea City 
& Waterfront 
Digital 
District 

To boost Swansea city centre’s economic well-being at the heart of the City 
Region’s economy, while retaining local tech, digital and entrepreneurial 
talent.  

Yr Egin To support and further develop the region’s creative industry sector and 
Welsh language culture. The two-phased programme will be located at the 
University of Wales Trinity Saint David campus in Carmarthen. 

Digital 
infrastructure 

To significantly improve digital connectivity throughout the City Region for 
the benefit of businesses and residents, also helping to attract inward 
investment.  

Li
fe

 S
ci

en
ce

 &
 W

el
l-

b
ei

n
g 

Life Science, 
Wellbeing & 
Sport 
Campuses 

To develop digital health and platform technologies and clinical innovation 
to help prevent ill health, develop better treatment and improve patient 
care. Advanced research and development facilities will be created, 
building on the success of the Institute of Life Sciences at Swansea 
University and expanding on regional expertise in sport and exercise 
science. This project will be located at Morriston Hospital and Swansea 
University’s Singleton Campus. 

Pentre Awel  
 

This development will include life sciences research and assisted living units 
on one site in Llanelli, alongside state-of-the-art leisure, well-being and 
business incubation facilities. The development will include a well-being 
skills centre and a clinical delivery centre. This project will benefit from and 
further develop regional expertise in life sciences, while providing training 
and high-value job opportunities for local people. 

En
er

gy
 

an
d

 
Sm

ar
t 

M
an

u
f

ac
tu

ri
n

g 

Homes as 
Power 
Stations 

A co-ordinated project across the City Region, Homes as Power Stations will 
see energy-saving technologies introduced to thousands of homes as part 
of a smart, low carbon new-build and retrofit programme. 

Tudalen13



iii | P a g e  
 

Pembroke 
Dock Marine 

This project will place Pembrokeshire at the heart of UK and global zero 
carbon, marine and offshore energy innovation, building on the expertise 
of a marine energy cluster in Pembroke Dock. Facilities will be provided for 
marine energy innovators to build, test and commercialise their 
technologies. 

Supporting 
Innovation & 
Low Carbon 
Growth 

This project will help further decarbonise the Neath Port Talbot economy, 
while safeguarding the regional steel industry and providing high-quality 
space for the innovation, ICT and research and development sectors.  

 

Key areas of Influence 

The programme will seek to influence the following areas; 

• Advanced skills: Leading innovation across the City Deal projects.  The 
advanced skills offer will support the new and emerging technologies contained 
within the constituent proposal bids.  

 

• Under/Postgraduate Expansion: Providing increased productivity through 
greater graduate skills application across the Four Internet themes.  

 

• Further/Higher Education: Delivering skills for new roles within the theme 
sectors, through Foundation Degree programmes, Apprenticeships and Higher 
Apprenticeships to include Degree Apprenticeships.  Delivering innovation will 
include new blended learning approaches. 

   

• Continuing Professional Development: Ensuring the region’s skills across the 
themes remains at the forefront of professional practice. This is to include 
ensuring that older workers currently operating within the economy have the 
skills they desire and require to progress and diversify.  

 

• Apprenticeships: Support the integration of Apprenticeship opportunities 
throughout the Skills and Talented Future Generations project. 

 

• Skills facilities development: Creation of sector-specific facilities to support the 
development of new emerging skills/roles and the creation of a step-change in 
capacity across the region. 

 

• Schools engagement to influence curriculum development and delivery to 
ensure the adequate supply of young people with the right skill sets. 

 

• Increased engagement with current channels and programmes delivering 
careers advice to enthuse young people and influence career decisions at the 
right time and in the right way to retain the talent of young people in the region 
and reduce the impact of “brain drain” on the region. 

 

• Engagement with people of all ages who are not currently in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEETS) ensuring that there are opportunities for all. 

The Skills and Talent Programme will be a cross cutting theme across all other 8 projects, the 
programme has already established a connection with all project leads and has strong and 
developing links through to the private sector via sector specific cluster groups. Existing 
consultation mechanisms will therefore identify the skills required and the relevant providers 
to deliver those skills solutions.  

Tudalen14



iv | P a g e  
 

The skills developed through the Skills and Talent programme will not only help fill the new 
roles directly created through the City Deal Themes, but also support a broader uplift in 
productivity (GVA) across the sectors and wider regional economy.  Given the varying lead 
times of each project a timescale of between five and fifteen years is proposed in the first 
instance to achieve the aims which will be monitored through the incremental measurement 
of GVA.  The RLSP has a tried and tested methodology for identifying skills needs which will 
be built on and honed to identify the skills solutions for each of the projects within the proposal.  

Individual Project Skills needs will be identified and quantified through the following process;  

• Existing Regional Skills Identified through a desk-based review of relevant labour 
market information, 

• City Deal Project Skills identified through continued engagement with the individual 
projects, 

• Skills Gap Analysis undertaken and Skills Barometer published, 

• Skills Requirement solutions identified, and projects developed 

• Career Pathways developed with schools and colleges 

• Centres of Excellence identified as a legacy for the programme 
 

Synergies  

The unique nature of the projects is a key driver of the City Deal and this allows for each to 

work independently with the success of one not completely dependent on the success of 

another. In the simplest sense, whilst no project is directly reliant on another, there are 

instances whereby projects will achieve more, quicker and easier if other projects are 

working to their peak also, these instances are referred to as interdependencies. 

Undeniably, underpinning each of the projects is skills and talent requirements and the 

success of all projects will be determined through having a skilled workforce both now and 

for the future. 

A further key determinant of success is the preparedness and capability of future 

generations to capitalise on the opportunities presented by the proposal. The Initiative 

recognises that it is essential that younger generations are well-informed, it is therefore the 

intention of the programme to foster the themes of entrepreneurship and digital innovation 

through closer engagement with schools and the further and higher education institutions. 

The further and higher education institutions operating within the region already have an 

exemplary offer of provision within these areas. Aligning their offer more closely to the 

specific needs of the City Deal and identifying where there are opportunities for multi-

disciplinary teaching will create skilled individuals with the transferable skills needed to work 

across the City Deal. 

3 Overview of Strategic Case  

The Skills and Talent programme will align with the 4 key strands of the City Deal i.e 
Economic Acceleration; Energy; Life Science and Well-being and Smart Manufacturing.  The 
programme will develop a sustainable pipeline of individuals to support the growth of the  
themes and support the future competitiveness of the region and maximise the potential of 
City Region partner organisations through the existing RLSP structure. 

The programme aligns with the requirements and aims of the following National, Regional and 
local strategies.  

• UK Industrial Strategy, 

• Welsh Government Prosperity for All: the national strategy, 

• Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act, 

Tudalen15



v | P a g e  
 

• International Strategy for Wales 

• 21st Century Higher Education Strategy for Wales 

• Education in Wales Strategy – our National Mission 

• Youth Engagement and Progression Framework Strategy 

• Tackling Poverty Plan 

• Swansea Bay City Region Economic Regeneration Strategy 

• Framework for Regional Investment in Wales. 

• Regional Employment and Skills Plan 

• Rural Vision for Wales – Thriving Communities for the future 
 

 

 

Case for Change 

The Swansea Bay City Deal region suffers from a series of overarching economic issues 

including low GVA, lack of well-paid job opportunities, skills shortage, high levels of 

economic inactivity and outward youth migration. The region is characterised by a higher 

proportion of individuals with no qualifications when compared with national averages. A 

high number of individuals in the region are currently in low skilled, low paid and unstable 

employment and subsequently a lower-than-average level of individuals are in higher paid, 

meaningful employment. The programme will help address the skills gaps by working with 

the City Deal projects and regional stakeholders to develop and deliver the skills needs for 

the future in the region. 

Objectives & Benefits 

The overarching objective of the Skills and Talent programme is to strengthen collaboration 

and increase investment that will significantly boost the quality and quantity of trained and 

skilled individuals through the intervention of the programme.  The aim is to: 

 

Tudalen16



vi | P a g e  
 

✓ To directly deliver at least 2,200 additional skills and support the development of around 

14,000 individuals with higher level (between 2-8) skills within 10 years. 

✓ To create at least 3000 new apprenticeship opportunities, to include level 3 to Degree 

apprenticeships. 

✓ To create at least 2 Centres of Excellence within specific sectors to develop the region 

as being “the best” area for skills development.  

✓ To create a clear career pathway from school education through further and higher 

education in the key areas of digital; construction, energy; smart manufacturing and life-

science and wellbeing, achieved through engagement and development work with 

schools increasing the number of pupils following the STEM subjects in FE and HE. 

✓ To deliver 20 new/updated course frameworks to ensure they meet the industry training 

needs for the future. 

These investment objectives are SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and 

time bound) and will be delivered with a £30 million investment from: 

  

City Deal   Public Sector   Private Sector 

                £10m         £16m              £4m 

Existing Arrangements and Business Need 

The Strategic Case outlines the existing arrangements for skills training provision and 
identifies the business need that the Programme will respond to. This is summarised in the 
table below: 

Theme Existing Arrangements Investment objective Business Needs 

E
c

o
n

o
m

ic
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 

Fewer people with higher 
level qualifications.  

14000 individuals with 
increased level of skills 
(2,000 direct and 12,000 
indirect)  

To increase the number of 
people with higher level 
qualifications to support the 
SDCB projects 

The region has the highest 
number of people in Wales 
with low or no qualifications 

Create at least 3000 new 
apprenticeship 
opportunities to include 
level 3 to degree 

Develop a programme of 
opportunities to upskill the 
existing workforce. 
Attain 100% completion of 
the apprenticeship 
programme and provide the 
employability support to 
individuals to move into full 
time employment. 

High number of individuals in 
low paid employment 

Create opportunities to 
support people into work. 

Increase opportunities 
through the improvement of 
skills levels to increase the 
number of people in higher 
paid jobs 

The jobs in the region have 
a strong reliance on the 
foundational economy or 
public sector. 

Create clear pathways 
within schools focusing on 
the key themes within the 
City Deal portfolio 

Developing the career 
pathways throughout the 
school years to showcase 
the opportunities will 
highlight the new 
opportunities. 

 
Increased uptake of 
school pupils progressing 
into STEM subjects at 
FE/HE 

High number of 
economically inactive people 

Upskill and support 
people into employment 
by creating opportunities 

Working with employability 
programmes to develop the 
opportunities to upskill and 

Tudalen17



vii | P a g e  
 

through project 
community benefits 
programme. 

gain qualifications into 
meaningful jobs. 

Course frameworks do not 
meet future skills needs and 
lecturers/teachers are not 
fully aware of the new ways 
of working within industry. 

Invest in course 
frameworks to ensure 
they meet the needs of 
the projects and 
employers in the region 
and provide 
upskilling/CPD for 
teachers and lecturers 

Work required to understand 
the gaps and work with 
stakeholders and employers 
to bridge the gap and 
develop new qualifications. 
Identify what upskilling is 
required. 

Delivery of 20 
new/updated course 
frameworks to meet 
industry training needs. 

The area is not known for 
the delivery of any specific 
specialist skills 

Establish at least two 
Centres of Excellence 
based on prioritised 
sectors. 

Centres of Excellence in 
skills required for the City 
Deal projects that are new 
and emerging. 

Ageing Population 
The ageing population is an 
issue for the region if they 
do not work or will not upskill 
to work within the new and 
emerging sectors. 

Deliver pilot programmes 
of new courses to upskill 
existing workforce. 

Map out opportunities for 
key employees to upskill 
through a faster than normal 
process to enable 
businesses to have the 
necessary skills immediately 

 

Potential Scope 

The mapping of the City Deal skills gaps and analysis of the training requirements will consider 
the business needs; gender and equality imbalances of people taking up the courses; and the 
needs and availability of the existing and future workforce through re-training and increasing 
awareness of opportunities. The aim of the Skills and Talent programme is to work within 5-
year time line periods which would account for the changing skills demands and enable the 
necessary skills to be developed as quickly as possible to meet the project needs.  There will 
be a requirement to upskill the existing workforce in many areas including upskilling the 
teachers/lecturers who deliver the training, and this work will be a priority within the first 3 
years of the programme.  At the same time the necessary frameworks for FE/HE and 
apprenticeships in the relevant areas will be developed and pilot projects will be implemented 
to deliver the training. 

Work will progress with primary and secondary schools in the region to highlight opportunities 
available through the City Deal projects and develop clear pathways to help young people 
make the right choices in schools.  

The table below highlights some of the potential key skills requirements already identified for 
each of the project business cases in the City Deal portfolio, this document is continually being 
added to as skills are identified.   

Sector Skills 

Digital Basic IT skills 
Cyber 
Artificial Intelligence 
Digital Forensics 
Machine Learning 
Robotics 
Cloud technology 
Creative Industries 
 

Construction 
 

SMART Housing 
Solar, heat pumps, Smart controls, mechanical and electrical systems 

Tudalen18



viii | P a g e  
 

Electrical Vehicles 
Retrofit 

Energy Engineering – specialised for offshore wind, tidal energy, marine energy 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Digital technology in health care 
Digital assimilation 
Connectivity with community support workers 
Digital consultation from hospitals and GP surgeries. 

Smart 
manufacturing 

New ways of manufacturing utilising robotics and new Digital technologies. 

 

Key Benefits, Risks, Dependencies, Constraints 

Benefits 

• Increased number of higher skilled 
individuals for jobs created through City Deal 
projects 

• Opportunities for all to achieve a qualification 
and skills  

• Increased number of apprenticeships / 
higher apprenticeships offered through the 
construction phase of the projects 

• Centres that specialise in the development 
skills within a particular sector(s). 

• Inspiring the next generation to take the 

correct path in their career  

• Developing the pathway for children from 
primary school through to secondary school 
through the introduction of new vocational 
training opportunities  

• Retention of skilled individuals to work 
within the City Deal projects. 

• Developing new and updating existing 
frameworks to meet the needs of the 
projects and employers across the region. 

 

Risks 

• City Deal funding not secured –programme 
will not be implemented. 

• Programme timescale slippage 

• Lack of resources /Insufficient capacity to 
manage the programme and to deliver the 
stated activities and results 

• Organisational and financial risks 
associated with taking on this project 

• The programme does not secure sufficient 
partner/stakeholder buy in. 

• Failure to increase the number of skilled 
individuals. 

• Lead times in the development of a new 
skills offer in the region. 

• Failure to engage with training providers to 
deliver the necessary skills development 
 

Constraints 

• UK and Welsh Government Policy in relation 
to training and education. 

• Capacity within the FE and HE sector to 
implement the changes within their delivery 
mechanism.   

• Funding constraints from the public and 
private sector 

• Ensuring that the capacity is present to meet 
the aims and objectives of the Programme.  

• Covid-19 restrictions on the delivery of 
training and education. 

 

Dependencies 

• Close alignment of the Programme with the 
delivery of the City Deal projects 

• Continual review of skills needs for the 
Region and work with partners and 
employers to understand changing demands 

• Continuation funding from Welsh 
Government for new frameworks 

• Funding contributions from public and private 
sector 

• Training providers delivering the necessary 
skills provision 
 

 

4 Overview of Economic Case  

The Economic case has been undertaken in accordance with the with the HM Treasury’s 
Green Book guidelines.  The section sets out the options and analysis of those options, the 
identification of the long and short list and the appraisal of the short list through economic 
assessment. 

 

Tudalen19



ix | P a g e  
 

 

 

Critical Success Factors 

The Critical Success factors of the Skills and Talent Programme were determined to be: 

 

Long List and Short List 

The following long list of options were identified for the scope of the programme and agreed 

by the Senior Project Team, 

1. Do Nothing – City Deal skills needs supported only by existing programmes/providers   
2. Do Minimum – create a dedicated Skills Programme team to enhance employers and 

schools engagement with City Deal Projects at an estimated cost of £1M 
3. City Deal Skills Fund – create Skills Fund from City Deal resources available to City 

Deal projects only at an estimated cost of £8M 
4. Supported City Deal Skills Fund - create a dedicated Skills Programme team to 

enhance employers and school’s engagement and manage awards from the City Deal 
Skills Fund to City Deal Projects only at an estimated cost of £10M  

5. Targeted Skills Delivery – create RLSP project team and leverage public/private funding 
to address all City Deal Projects’ skills gaps at an estimated cost of £30M 

6. City Deal Ambitious - deliver a full suite of skills training to meet regional needs of all 
four themes of the City Deal at an estimated cost of £153M 

7. Do Maximum – deliver a full suite of skills training to redress the entire regional skills 
gap at an estimated cost of £518M 

 

 

Critical Success Factors 

Strategic Fit • Strategically aligned to the Swansea Bay City Deal 
• Strategically aligned to the Welsh Government Education and 

Skills strategy and Wellbeing and Future Generations Act. 
• Delivers the future skills requirements for the region and the skills 

needs of the 8 projects that make up the City Deal. 
• Increasing the number of people with higher level qualifications  
• Retraining people in the region to give the opportunities to all. 
• Developing resilient learners with a life-long attitude to learning. 

Value for 
Money 

• Reduce the duplication that could occur if all 8 City Deal projects 
managed their own skills programme by bringing together the 
skills requirements across the region. 

• The programme offers Value for money and avoids duplication 
• Achieve a viable cost benefit ratio compared to other options. 

Supplier 
capacity 
and 
capability 

• Training providers from across the region are keen to work 
together to achieve the aims of the programme. 

• Reduce costs by delivering skills in a way that meet the needs of 
all employers. 

Affordability • Demonstrate the affordability of the Programme within the 
defined funding arrangements from the City Deal, Public and 
Private Sector. 

Achievability • Delivery of option is achievable within the timescale, available 
funding and capacity. 

Tudalen20



x | P a g e  
 

Short List Options Appraisal 

Following a series of appraisals and management discussions, the following short list of 

options emerged, 

Option 1 – Do Nothing 

To continue to deliver training through existing methods, with no additional funding. The FE, 

HE and training providers would offer the existing frameworks with no update or development 

of new opportunities.  The RLSP would continue to gather data and do a minimal amount of 

work with schools. 

Option 2 – Supported City Deal Skills Fund 

A Skills Programme team would be recruited to enhance the employer and project 

engagement to identify the skills gaps and work with schools to share the opportunities that 

would be created through the City Deal projects.  Centres of Excellence would also be 

supported for each of the Key Themes. The eight Projects of the City Deal would deliver their 

own training solutions independently, bidding into the City Deal Skills Fund as required. 

Option 3 – Targeted Skills Delivery 

The RLSP would explore the skills needs of all 8 projects and identify the gaps. A dedicated 

Skills Programme team would be appointed who would work with the City Deal Project leads, 

the wider employers and the training leads to develop an action plan to deliver the appropriate 

solutions to the skills gaps identified and using City Deal Programme funds to leverage public 

and private sector match funding/contributions in kind. The solutions would be delivered as 

Skills Programme projects which would be developed by the Skills Programme team with key 

partners. The Programme team would also work with schools and all education and training 

providers to co-ordinate the future opportunities from the City Deal projects and created a 

supported pathway with schools to higher skills training. Centres of Excellence would also be 

supported for each of the Key Themes. 

Option 4 – City Deal Ambitious 

This option would allow for the delivery of a full suite of skills training to meet the needs of all 

industry sectors within the four themes of the City Deal – Energy, Digital, Smart Manufacturing 

and Life Science. The RLSP would explore the skills needs of all these sectors and identify 

the gaps. An enhanced dedicated Skills Programme team would be appointed who would work 

with public bodies, wider employers and the training leads to develop an action plan to deliver 

the appropriate solutions to the skills gaps identified and using City Deal Programme funds to 

leverage public and private sector match funding. The Skills Programme team would work 

intensively with all schools, colleges and universities to raise the awareness of and develop 

new skills programmes to address the sector gaps. 

Key Findings 

The economic appraisals are as follows,  

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen21



xi | P a g e  
 

Net Present Cost and Benefits Findings (All Public Sector Costs but excludes private 

sector costs/investment) 

 Undiscounted Value 

(£) 

Net Present Value 

 (£) 

Option 1 – Do Nothing  

Additional Income Generated - - 

Less City Deal funding                      -                      - 

Less  Other Public Sector     

Funding 

                     -                      - 

Total  -  - 

Option 2 – Supported City Deal Skills Fund 

Additional Income Generated £16,537,040 £11,932,301 

Less  City Deal Funding £10,000,000 £9,812,949 

Less  Other Public Sector     

Funding 

- - 

Total £5,537,040 £2,119,352 

Option 3 – Targeted Skills Delivery 

Additional Income Generated £49,603,320 £35,788,186 

Less City Deal funding £10,000,000 £9,812,949 

Less  Other Public Sector     

Funding 

£16,000,000 £15,700,965 

Total £23,603,320 £10,274,272 

Option 4 – City Deal Ambitious 

Additional Income Generated £292,948,032 £211,535,059 

Less City Deal funding   £57,552,000   £56,482,633 

Less  Other Public Sector     

Funding 

 £92,083,200             £90,372,214 

Total £143,312,832   £64,680,212 

Net Present Cost/Benefit Findings 

Preferred Option 

The results of the investment appraisal are summarised in the Table below,  

Evaluation Results Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal 

Ambitious 

Economic appraisals 4 3 2 1 

Tudalen22



xii | P a g e  
 

Benefits appraisal 4 3 2 1 

Risk appraisal 4 2 1 3 

Overall Ranking 4 3 1 2 

Short-list Options Evaluation Results 

On the basis of this analysis, the preferred option is Option 3 – Targeted Skills Delivery.  

Whilst Option 4 – City Deal Ambitious scored 1st in the Economic and Benefits Appraisals, this 
is purely a reflection of the much higher costs and scale of the skills delivery projected. The 
level of funding for a Programme of this scale not currently available and there would be very 
significant delivery risks due to the enormous increase in regional capacity and capability that 
would be required. Option 3 can be delivered within identified costs at a low-risk exposure and 
can deliver the prime objective of ensuring sufficient new and additional skills can be provided 
to meet the needs of the other City Deal Projects. This has therefore been selected as the 
Preferred Option going forward.       

Summary Table of Economic Appraisals 

The results of the economic appraisals above are summarised in the Table below.  

Summary of Economic 

Appraisal 

Option 1: Do 

Nothing 

Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted 

Skills Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal Ambitious 

Net Present Value 

(after allowing for 

private sector 

investment) 

- £2,119,352 £6,348,476 £60,754,534 

Public Sector Cost - £9,812,949    £25,516,897   £146,854,847 

Appropriate BCR -          1.216               1.403                1.440 

Significant un-

monetizable 

costs/benefits 

-            N/A                 N/A                    N/A 

Significant 

unquantifiable factors 

-             N/A                 N/A                   N/A 

Risk costs (increased 

education delivery 

costs) - residual 

optimism bias 

(undiscounted) 

-   £1,000,000 

  

    £3,000,000     £15,363,520 

Switching Values 

(preferred option 

only) 

    -13.33%   

Tudalen23



xiii | P a g e  
 

Time Horizon and 

Reason 

15 Year Programme Period in accordance with City Deal requirements 

 

5.1 Overview of Commercial Case 

This programme does not contain a high value capital-cost based construction project, 

instead it will deliver several lower cost revenue interventions at project level to achieve the 

programme investment objectives and outcomes. 

The Skills and Talent programme will manage this through delivery of a programme fund 
disseminated to pilot projects following approval by the Programme Board. It is anticipated 
that pilot projects will be led and procured by a third-party stakeholder organisation. 

The Skills and Talent programme is led by Carmarthenshire County Council on behalf of the 

four regional Local Authorities, two universities and two health boards that make up the 

Swansea Bay City Deal primary stakeholders. Carmarthenshire County Council must ensure 

that procurements fully comply with:  

• Welsh National Rules on the Eligibility of Expenditure – public contracts 

regulations 2015 

• Welsh Procurement Policy Statement 2019 

• State Aid Rules 

• Procurement Legislation 

• Community Benefits Principles  

• Any other Carmarthenshire County Council, UK and Welsh Assembly Government 

rules and regulations which apply to procurement 

• Procurements will also align to the procurement principles of the City Deal 

Service Requirements and Outputs 

The initial skills gaps analysis will be undertaken by the programme team and the Skills 
Solution Group to understand what new/updated skills and apprenticeship frameworks are 
required to inform development of the pilot projects which will be delivered in conjunction with 
stakeholders. An action plan will be developed outlining the gaps and proposals and 
recommendations.  The assistance of consultants / specialist advisers to help with the 
research may be required and if so, will be procured. 

6 Overview of Financial Case  

The Skills and Talent programme is a revenue funding amounting to a total of £30 million over 
5 years, £10 million City Deal; £16 Million public sector and £4 million private sector funding. 

 

The funding of this Programme will be operated through Carmarthenshire County Council as 
the accountable financial body and managed on a day-to-day basis through the Regional 
Learning and Skills Partnership Board.   

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

(£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m)

Capital -£               -£              -£              -£                    -£                    -£                    -£                    

Revenue 24,800£         2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£        7,500,000£        7,055,200£        30,000,000£     

Total 24,800£         2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£        7,500,000£        7,055,200£        30,000,000£     

Funding 

Swansea Bay City Deal Grant 24,800£         1,170,000£ 1,500,000£ 2,500,000£        2,500,000£        2,305,200£        10,000,000£     

Public Sector -£               1,250,000£ 3,000,000£ 4,000,000£        4,000,000£        3,750,000£        16,000,000£     

Private Sector -£               500,000£     500,000£     1,000,000£        1,000,000£        1,000,000£        4,000,000£        

Total 24,800£         2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£        7,500,000£        7,055,200£        30,000,000£     

Expenditure 
Total

Tudalen24



xiv | P a g e  
 

This Programme is a desk-based research project to identify the skills gaps and work with the 
project leads; training providers and Welsh Government to provide the most appropriate 
training in the region to support the development of talented individuals to take up the roles. 

Following the initial research there will be a requirement to develop specific projects that will 

include courses to meet the Industry needs; update course content where required and re-

accredit those courses.  The projects will also include pilot initiatives to upskill the workforce 

in specific areas, the work with schools will also be supported through this Programme to 

provide more detailed information about the opportunities that will be developed through the 

City Deal and the courses available to them within the region 

7 Overview of Management Case   

The management case demonstrates the achievability of the scheme and how the programme 
will be operated and managed by the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership (RLSP) offering 
value for money by identifying the skills needs of all 8 projects and delivering through projects 
developed with key stakeholders across the region without causing duplication. 

The Skills and Talent programme will meet strict governance portfolio hierarchy as detailed in 
the table below; 

 

 

The Regional Learning and Skills Partnership Board for South West Wales has been in 
existence since 2010, and since 2015 has been led by the private sector and incorporating 
representatives of further and higher education, training providers and education together with 
key stakeholders in employability and training in the region.  The partnership is 
transformational bringing business leaders, education and regeneration partners together to 
help provide a better future for learners and potential learners and people wishing to re-train 
across the region. The RLSP Board provides an oversight and ‘on the ground’ leadership in 
relation to the skills requirements and demands of industry. The Board is supported by nine 
Industry cluster groups and the members of each cluster group provide valuable insight into 
the needs of the industry. The RLSP will lead the Skills and Talent programme within the work 
of the existing partnership board to become the programme board.  

Tudalen25



xv | P a g e  
 

 . 

 

 

The RLSP will ensure the programme is managed effectively, to approved timescales and in 
line with the governance structure of partner organisations. The RLSP has overall 
responsibility for decisions pertaining to the strategic direction, the approval of projects and 
where appropriate, the operational delivery of the scheme.  

The RLSP Board will provide leadership and drive forward the vision of the Skills and Talent 
programme as set out in the Business Case.  The remit of the Board will be delivered under 
the regional governance framework as set out within the City Deal portfolio business case. 
The Board will have responsibilities which will include but not exclusive to:  

• Securing funding and approval for the programme 

• Updating the business case when required in accordance with the requirements 
and expectations of the Welsh and UK Governments and submitting this via the 
agreed governance requirements of the SBCD. 

• Project level approval of all major plans and seeking approval through the 
agreed governance arrangements. 

• Provide resource required to enable the programme delivery 

• Approval of all deviations from agreed tolerances in line with agreed change 
management arrangements. 

• Arbitration on any conflicts that cannot be resolved at Project level and 
escalation through the appropriate channels as required. 

• Reviewing and reporting the programme benefits (outcomes and impacts) and 
whether they are still achievable. 

• Management of major risks and issues at programme level and coordination and 
escalation of risks and issues that are likely to have an impact on other areas of 
the Portfolio. 

• Initial approval and sign off of key project documentation and coordination of 
approval of key documentation from wider stakeholders as required. 

• Approving and funding key changes 

• Guaranteeing equity and catering for the needs of all partners and stakeholders.  

• Ensuring longevity of initiatives and programmes created as a result of the Skills 
and Talent programme. 

 

Programme Team 

The day-to-day operation of the programme will be delivered by the programme 
management team who will have responsibility for the delivery of the programme working to 
and alongside the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership Board. 

 

Tudalen26



xvi | P a g e  
 

Monitoring and Evaluation. 

The City Deal portfolio finances will be monitored through the Programme Board and Joint 

Committee, with the Economic Strategy Board also making recommendations on possible 

additional funding opportunities or alternative portfolio expenditure. Regular reports will also 

be presented by the Accountable Body to the regional Local Authority Directors of Finance 

and Regional Section 151 Officer working group. This working group will, in collaboration with 

the Welsh Government and the SBCD PMO, agree the financial monitoring process which will 

be: 

o In line with overall reporting processes for the City Deal  

o Based on best practice principles and guidance on Programme monitoring 

contained within the Green Book 

Programme evaluation 

A review of the programme will be conducted at the end of the programme to evaluate its’ 
effectiveness. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen27



xvii | P a g e  
 

Contents 

1 Programme Overview 

2 The Strategic Case 

Vision 

Background 
Strategic Context 

• Organisational overview 

• Policy and strategic alignment 

• Strategy and Programme Investment Aims 

• Case for Change 

• Objectives and Benefits 

• Existing arrangements 

• Business needs  

• Potential scope and key project requirements 

• Main benefits criteria 

• Scope for Investment 

• Risks and counter measures  

• Constraints 

• Dependencies. 
 
2:  The Economic Case 

• Overview 

• Evidence of Demand for the Programme 

• Investment Objectives 

• Critical Success factors 

• Long-listed options 

• Short-listed options appraisal 

• Economic appraisal 

• Qualitative Benefits appraisal 

• Analysis of Key results 
-Risk appraisal 
- Preferred option 
- Sensitivity analysis 
-  Preferred option. 
 

3 The Commercial Case 

• Introduction 

• Procurement strategy and route 

• Procurement Plan and proposed implementation timescale  

• Risk Allocation 

• Service Requirements and Outputs 

• Payment mechanisms and key contractual arrangements 

• Accountancy Treatment 

• Personnel Implications 
 

 

Tudalen28



xviii | P a g e  
 

4: The Financial Case 

• Introduction 

• Financial Risk Management & Assurance 

• Investment Summary  

• Income and Expenditure summary 

• Investment Breakdown  

• Monitoring and Evaluation 

• Accounting Treatment of Programme Transactions 

• Added Value 

• Sustainability 

• Constraints  

• Dependencies  
 

5: The Management Case 

• Introduction 

• Governance and Delivery Structures 

• Stakeholders 

• Use of Special Advisors 

• Monitoring and Evaluation for Performance and Benefits 

• Benefits Realisation 

• Risk Management Strategy 

• Communication plan 

• Contingency 

• Post Funding/Continuation Strategy 
 

Appendices (separate documents) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen29



xix | P a g e  
 

Appendices 

The Strategic Case  

A. Skills and 
Talent Interaction 
with the City Deal 
projects 

Appendix A Skills 

and Talent interaction.pdf
 

B Project 
Interaction 

Appendix B Project 

Interaction.pdf
 

C. RLSP Board 
members 

Appendix C RLSP 

Board membership.pdf
 

C Strategy and 
Programme 
Investment Aims 
– The four themes 
of the City Deal. 

Appendix B 

Strategic and  Programme Investment.pdf
 

D Cluster Group 
Membership 

Appendix D List of 

cluster group members.pdf
 

E Course Mapping 
– Swansea Bay 
Region FE/HE and 
apprenticeships. 

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1225384/cd_pm_v2.xlsx 

F Risk Register 

Appendix F Skills 

and Talent Risk Register April 2021.pdf
 

Economic Case  

G Cost Benefit 
Analysis  

Appendix%20G%20

CBA.xlsx
 

The Commercial 
Case 

 

H City Deal 
Procurement 
Principles Appendix H The 

SBCD Procurement Principles V2.pdf
 

I  Programme 
Implementation 
Plan Appendix I 

Programme Implementation Plan.pdf
 

Financial Case  

J and J(1) Funding 
profile for the 
Programme Appendix%20J.xlsx appendix%20J(1).xls

x
 

The Management 
Case 

 

Tudalen30

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1225384/cd_pm_v2.xlsx


xx | P a g e  
 

K Summary of 
Engagement 

Appendix K.pdf

 
L RLSP 
Programme Board 
Terms of 
Reference 

Appendix L RLSP 

Board Terms of Reference April 2021.pdf
 

M Terms of 
Reference of Skills 
Solution Group Appendix%20M%20

%20Skills%20Solution%20Group.docx
 

N  IAAP 

Appendix%20N%20

Skills%20&%20Talent%20May%202021.xlsx
 

O  Benefits 
Register 

Appendix%20O%20

Skills%20and%20Talent%20Benefits%20register%20may%2021.xlsx
 

Tudalen31



1 | P a g e  
 

 

1. OVERVIEW OF THE SKILLS AND TALENT PROGRAMME 

1.1 Introduction  

The Swansea Bay City Deal (SBCD) Skills and Talent Programme (2021- 2033) will deliver 

an integrated regional approach to delivering skills to meet the demand of the Swansea Bay 

City Deal projects alongside with the wider skills needs of the region.  The Programme 

Business Case details how the funding from the City Deal, regional collaboration and 

prioritisation will enhance and develop the regional skills needed to meet future demands of 

industry and to remain nationally competitive, and in doing so, will attract and grow sustainable 

regional investment from local, national and international companies. Skills development will 

support the overarching aims for of the SBCD Portfolio, which is growth in Gross Value Added, 

jobs and private investment.   

The Skills and Talent programme is integral part of the SBCD portfolio, which consists of eight 

further headline projects and programmes. Given that people are an organisations greatest 

asset, skills and talent development will provide businesses and people with employment 

opportunities to better themselves, their companies and the region’s economic prosperity.  

The success of the SBCD and its associated projects and programmes is dependent 

on the Skills and Talent programme.  

The Business case is aligned to the HM Treasury Green Book and Better Business Case 

guidance to appraise the Skills and Talent programme. The business case was also developed 

in consultation with the SBCD project leads, industry leaders; Higher and Further Education 

(HE and FE) institutions, training providers and head teachers of primary and secondary 

schools across the region. 

1.2 The need for intervention 

The Swansea Bay City Region suffers from a series of overarching economic issues, including 

low GVA, lack of well-paid job opportunities, skills shortages, high level of economic inactivity 

and outward youth migration.  The region also has a higher proportion of individuals with no 

qualifications as well as lower than average number of individuals possessing higher 

qualifications. The RLSP has been working with training providers and employers across the 

region on the development and implementation of the annual Employment and Skills plan 

since 2017, such plans have influenced the Welsh Government funding into FE and 

Apprenticeship training to meet the needs of the priority economic sectors and the employers 

in the region.  The RLSP was also instrumental in the preparation of the skills needs 
assessment undertaken for the proposed Tidal Lagoon project in Swansea in 2016.  During 
2020/2021 the RLSP has been working with employers to understand the impact of Covid-19 
on the specific industry sectors and identify new skills requirements that have arisen as a 
result of the pandemic, all of this information has been collated into bi-monthly reports to Welsh 
Government and has resulted in the development of new courses through the Personal 
Learning Accounts and through the Apprenticeship programme. 

1.3 Aims of the Skills and Talent Programme 

The Skills and Talent programme aims to work with regional stakeholders to address many of 

the challenges and issues facing young people, adults already employed and businesses to 

upskill and retain talent in the region. Specifically, the programme aims to deliver the following 

Tudalen32



2 | P a g e  
 

investment objectives and benefits over the next 10 years, based on sectors including digital, 

energy, smart manufacturing, construction and life-sciences and wellbeing: 

✓ To directly deliver at least 2,200 additional skills and support the development of around 

14,000 individuals with higher level (between 2-8) skills within 10 years. 

✓ To create at least 3000 new apprenticeship opportunities, to include level 3 to Degree 

apprenticeships. 

✓ To create at least 2 Centres of Excellence within specific sectors to develop the region 

as being “the best” area for skills development.  

✓ To create a clear career pathway from school education through further and higher 

education in the key areas of digital; construction, energy; smart manufacturing and life-

science and wellbeing, achieved through engagement and development work with 

schools increasing the number of pupils following the STEM subjects in FE and HE.. 

✓ To deliver 20 new/updated course frameworks to ensure they meet the industry training 

needs for the future. 

The wider benefits and impact of the programme includes:  

✓ A skilled workforce with requisite skills to support the region over coming decades, in terms 

of supply chain development, growth of SMEs and attraction of large companies 

✓ A co-ordinated and efficient regional approach with service integration that meets the 

needs of employers without duplication 

✓ Support for people to get good jobs by creating opportunities through project community 

benefits programme 

✓ Flexible and responsive to evolving and targeted need of the region and labour markets 

by bringing learning and skills together with regeneration opportunities in the region 

✓ A business productivity programme to develop a suite of solutions to generate higher level 

skills which meet the demands of employers and will support improvements in productivity 

✓ Raised awareness and upskilling of teachers and lecturers with new skills opportunities  

✓ Increase the availability of informative, up to date information to help in strategic planning; 

ensuring the most appropriate learning opportunities and progression routes are available 

for learners in the region, which will benefit the learner by providing pathways through their 

lifelong learning pathway from schools, colleges, universities and upskilling whilst in work 

1.4 Strategic alignment 
 
The programme’s investment objectives and wider impacts are a dependency to the success 
of the SBCD portfolio and is strategically aligned to the needs of the region, Welsh 
Government and UK Government policy and strategy for skills development. 
 
The Skills and Employability section of the Prosperity for All - the National Strategy states  

“the better people’s skills are, the better their chances of getting fair, secure and rewarding 

employment, and the stronger the skills base is in Wales, the more chance we have of 

attracting new businesses and growing existing ones to improve prosperity”1  

 
and in the previous Taking Wales Forward strategy the Welsh Government said  

“Better schools and better skills have never been so important for our young people and the 

future of the economy.  Through better education and providing skills for life we can help to 

break the cycle of disadvantage and inequality over the longer term. Our commitment is to 

 
1 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/employability-plan-2.pdf  

Tudalen33

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/employability-plan-2.pdf


3 | P a g e  
 

offer the skills and experiences people need to thrive and prosper in our times. Getting people 

into employment and sustaining jobs is not just about increasing skills. We will improve 

workforce health, including mental ill health, through ensuring that health services support 

people throughout their working life.”2   

 
To achieve the aligned investment objectives, a change to existing training delivery is needed 

regionally. The Skills and Talent programme team and RLSP board will work closely with WG 

and UKG and regional stakeholders to better integrate schools with the regional economy 

drivers and embrace the educational pathways to Colleges and Universities in the region. All 

of which is underpinned by understanding and meeting the needs of current and future 

businesses and regional priorities and investment. 

 
1.5 Programme Delivery 

A dedicated programme team will be recruited Q2/3 2021 reporting to the Regional Learning 

and Skills Partnership (RLSP) Board incorporating the Skills and Talent Programme Board.  

The RLSP Board, chaired by a business leader supported by the programme Senior 

Responsible Owner (SRO) are responsible for the successful delivery and oversight of the 

governance and reporting arrangements for the programme.   

Extensive engagement with key stakeholders will form part of the governance arrangements 

and in the lifecycle of the programme development and delivery. Stakeholders include 

government bodies, training providers and employers from across the region. 

Digital innovation (to include Creative Industries), energy, construction, smart manufacturing 

and life science and wellbeing are the five key areas that the skills project will focus on in 

relation to skills development.  

Programme delivery will focus on five key phases that are interlinked to strengthen 

opportunities for training; upskills and for life-long learning: 

1.5.1 Phase 1 - Identification of the skills gaps 

From the outset, the programme will develop and publish a Regional Skills Barometer, 

providing all stakeholders with a better understanding to make informed decisions by 

presenting a complete landscape of the regional labour market demands and existing 

training opportunities.  The Barometer will feed into a shared platform of employment 

opportunities linked to the development of a skilled workforce and the creation of upskilling 

programmes for the existing workforce to support the ambitions and delivery of the SBCD 

portfolio. 

This will complement on-going mapping exercises of current course delivery through regional 

colleges, universities and training providers, where the data has been matched to skills 

requirements already identified by the SBCD projects and programmes.  Further work is 

needed across the SBCD portfolio as businesses cases are developed and projects transition 

into delivery to understand the new training/skills opportunities and existing skills gaps in the 

region, which will shape and prioritise training provider offerings at University/College 

frameworks or via an apprenticeship route.   

The skills identification process will be repeated periodically during the programme lifecycle. 

The initial scoping will identify skills requirements for the next 5-10 years. A further review will 

 
2 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-08/taking-wales-forward.pdf  

Tudalen34

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-08/taking-wales-forward.pdf


4 | P a g e  
 

be undertaken thereafter to identify new skills that will be developed as new projects and 

business investment is generated in the area. 

The focus for the first 5 years of the programme will be on the following sectors where key 

skills gaps have already been identified and there is an urgent need to upskill people already 

in the workforce to fill the gaps but to also prepare the next generation with the information to 

enable them to be aware of the opportunities if they choose to study in these areas: 

• Digital – Cyber; Cloud, Digital forensics, Machine Learning knowledge; Creative Industries 
– recent report by the Learning and Work Institute states “the UK is heading towards a 
“catastrophic” digital skills shortage.  The Covid-19 pandemic has increased the number 
of jobs in IT or requiring IT skills and evidence gathered by the RLSP3 shows that the trend 
is increasing and there are insufficient numbers of skilled people applying to take up the 
positions in the region.  

• Construction – New roles in the Industry will need to be created and the Construction 
Wales Innovation Centre (CWIC) estimated that the equivalent of 350,000 new roles will 
be created by 2028 and these will need to be found through a mix of new jobs, upskilling 
existing and in innovation within the industry itself.4  Examples include Solar, Heat pumps, 
Smart controls, Electrical Vehicles; retrofit of homes; new construction methods; 
mechanical and electrical systems management including heat pumps etc. 

• Energy – The expected growth in jobs (direct and Indirect) to deliver a net zero economy 
in Wales by 2030 is anticipated to exceed 150,000 with further growth expected by 2050.  
The range of jobs will be wide and will include manufacturing and installation of wind 
turbines, solar PV, nuclear reactors, low- emission vehicles; specialist engineering roles 
within the offshore wind, tidal energy; marine energy sector; specialist maintenance roles 
etc. 

• Health and Wellbeing – technology in health care- digital assimilation; connectivity with 
community support workers; digital consultations. 

• Smart Manufacturing - new ways of manufacturing using digital technology. 

• Creative Industries – the development of new technologies in the digital arena will enhance 
the opportunities within the Arts and Creative world of work.  Yr Egin and the Waterfront 
project will offer key opportunities for work within the Creative sector.  Over and above the 
digital requirements a number of new courses have already been developed to meet some 
of the needs identified to date. 

The work that has already been undertaken has identified the cross-sector demand for digital 

training particularly the introduction of the use of technology in delivering services. 

1.5.2 Phase 2 -Development of new Frameworks and training programmes  

There is evidence of need in terms of new national occupational standards or updated 

frameworks to meet the needs of the projects, the Programme Team will work with the Skills 

Solution group to understand the requirements and commission the development of the 

updating of frameworks for pilot delivery in the region.  The work will include: 

• Employer engagement. 

• Alignment of skills needs now and in the future. 

• Identification of needs to train the trainers. 

 
3 An Analysis of the Impact of COVID-19 on South West and Mid Wales (November 2020) – Regional Learning 
and Skills Partnership 
4 https://www.uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2020/delivering-skills--training-in-wales-for-net-zero-
.html  

Tudalen35

https://www.uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2020/delivering-skills--training-in-wales-for-net-zero-.html
https://www.uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2020/delivering-skills--training-in-wales-for-net-zero-.html


5 | P a g e  
 

• Review of frameworks after five years to determine additional requirements in line 

with changing technology. 

 

1.5.3 Phase 3- Pilot Projects 

During the initial five years of the programme pilot projects will be developed to deliver the 

skills requirements. The projects will be developed with a range of stakeholders and partners 

across the region including the HE, FE institutions, the training providers and schools.  

However, there will also be opportunities for the private sector business to submit projects 

that they could match fund with the programme funding. 

The pilot projects will include opportunities to upskill individuals in specific trades as well as 

upskilling lecturers/teachers in new technology required across all of the themes. The pilot 

projects will develop the legacy of the programme as new training/qualifications are 

integrated into mainstream delivery across the region. 

The pilot projects will also identify opportunities to enhance the apprenticeship offer from 

level 3 to degree level 6.  There has already been strong links made with Cyfle the shared 

apprenticeship scheme for the construction industry who already operate a mentoring 

support programme for apprentices to get in to work after the training period.  The Skills and 

Talent programme would aim to develop similar models across the other key sectors. 

It is anticipated that all successful pilot projects will become stand-alone programmes and 

adopted by other schools, colleges as good practice projects to deliver new skills and 

training in specific areas.  All frameworks developed or updated through the Skills and Talent 

programme will adopted into mainstream delivery and funded through the annual allocation  

by Welsh Government, delivered through FE, HE and the Apprenticeship scheme.  There is 

evidence of the demand for such a programme through the existing Regional Employment 

and Skills Plans and through engagement with employers in the region and the project leads 

of the City Deal projects. 

1.4.4 Phase 4 - Development of Career Pathways 

The work of schools is paramount to the success of this programme and the SBCD portfolio 

to generate the talent of the future and will run in parallel with Phase 3.  The main aim of this 

phase is to inspire the next generation onto the right path by highlighting the opportunities 

for their careers in the region as well as the pathways to get to the jobs. There are many 

opportunities to work with schools, to influence the curriculum by investing in specific 

projects to support schools to develop the potential of their students in areas where there will 

be highly paid jobs. The Skills and Talent programme will support the schools with funding to 

develop specific initiatives that will enhance the opportunities for young people in their 

chosen career paths. The career pathway will also develop new opportunities to upskill 

teachers on the use of new technology and on new opportunities in the world of work. 

The aim will be to generate an increased number of students following STEM subjects in FE 

and HE, these areas will include: 

• Science & Mathematics 

• Engineering and Manufacturing Technologies 

• Information and Communication Technologies. 

•  

 

Tudalen36



6 | P a g e  
 

1.5.5 Phase 5 -Creation of Centres of Excellence 

The programme aims to develop Centres of Excellence in key sectors that support the City 

Deal projects. The Centres will exist within existing colleges or universities and will offer and 

become known as the best Centre to gain the skills in one or all five of the outlined above.  

The Skills and Talent programme will support the development of such centres working with 

private sector employers, the City Deal projects and the training providers.  The Centres of 

Excellence will not duplicate what is already on offer but will compliment work that is already 

being developed or become an additional resource within the region to support the sector.  

Tudalen37



7 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen38



8 | P a g e  
 

2 THE STRATEGIC CASE 

2.1 Vision 
 

To create new and sustainable opportunities that will generate prosperity for 
individuals and businesses in the Swansea Bay City Deal region. This will be achieved 
through the development of a pathway of skills for all and the pilot delivery of demand 
driven high level skills and upskilling opportunities across the four key sectors. 

2.2 Background 

The Swansea Bay City Region (SBCR) spans across four local authority areas with a 
combined population of approximately 698,000 people. The City Region published an 
economic regeneration strategy in 2013 with a common vision to enhance the long-term 
prospects of the region’s economy, businesses and communities. The strategy will co-ordinate 
collective action and identify routes and initiatives to respond to the structural challenges that 
are holding back the SBCR economy. 
 
The SBCD is part of the SBCR strategy and portfolio. It is a partnership of eight regional 
organisations made up of local authorities, universities and health boards that aims to 
accelerate economic and social advancement through regional infrastructure and investment 
funds.   
 
The Skills and Talent Programme is one of the nine Projects and Programmes within the 
Swansea Bay City Deal (SBCD). The City Deal was signed by Prime Minister Theresa May 
and First Minister Carwyn Jones on the 20th March 2017, securing £1.3billion of public and 
private sector funding over a 15-year Programme for economic growth and regeneration for 
the region.  
  
The Programme will across the projects and programmes of the SBCD Portfolio which have 
been developed under the Key Themes of Economic Acceleration, Energy, Life Science and 
Wellbeing and Smart Manufacturing: 
 
Economic Acceleration  

• Regional Digital Infrastructure 

• Swansea City and Waterfront Digital District  

• Creative Digital Cluster – Yr Egin. 

Energy 

• Homes as Power Stations 

• Pembroke Dock Marine 

Life Science and Wellbeing 

• Life Science & Well-being Campuses 

• Pentre Awel (Life Science and Well-being village) 

Smart Manufacturing 

• Innovation and Low Carbon Growth 

 
Appendix A shows how all the projects interact and the themes all play an important role in 
the economy of the region, Appendix B contains more detailed information on how these 

Tudalen39



9 | P a g e  
 

themes are currently impacting the economy of the region and how the Skills and Talent 
programme will specifically address the skills requirements for each theme. 
 

2.3 Organisational overview 

The Regional Leaning and Skills Partnership (RLSP) for South West Wales is the organisation 
making the case for investment working with the 8 projects that make up the City Deal and 
any other future projects that may arise from the overall City Deal programme.  The RLSP 
Board is a long established multi sector partnership focusing on skills investment and the 
economic regeneration of the area through the development of a skilled workforce.  The RLSP 
has a long-standing reputation of regional collaborative working with key partners in the region 
and working with Welsh Government to influence policy on the delivery of skills training in the 
region and with DCMS on specific skills projects. The work of the partnership includes;  

• Promoting and championing a strategic overview of skills provision to ensure that it 
meets regional needs and maximises economic opportunities.  

• Analyse and comment on national and labour market intelligence to identify and inform 
skills and curriculum provision bridging the gap between education and regeneration 
to create a strong vibrant economy underpinned by innovation growth and a capable 
workforce. 

• Review and evaluate skills provision in partnership with the employers and 
stakeholders in the region. 

• Encourage innovation and greater utilisation of higher-level skills through supporting 
organisations to develop higher value products and services. 

• Preparing annual reports for Welsh Government on the Skills needs of the region. 

• Preparing specialist sector reports for specific projects. 

This role is recognised by the Welsh Government through the commissioning of a Regional 
Delivery Plan for Employment and Skills and the regional Demand and Supply Assessments 
which have been instrumental in developing a strategic approach to skills. The Welsh 
Government through its Prosperity for All strategy says “the better people’s skills, the better 
their chances of getting fair, secure and rewarding employment, and the stronger the skills 
base is in Wales, the more chance we have of attracting new businesses and growing existing 
ones to improve prosperity.”  This is the key driver for the work of the Regional Skills 
Partnerships across Wales working with stakeholders and businesses across the region. 

The representation on the Board includes stakeholders from Further Education, Higher 
Education, Training Providers; Government Departments including Department of Work and 
Pensions, Careers Service and the Education and Skills Department of Welsh Government; 
Education Departments of Local Authorities; Third Sector and Local Authority Economic 
Regeneration.  The private sector representation includes the chairs of the respective 9 priority 
sectors; the private sector chair; Federation of Small Business, Haven Waterway Enterprise 
Zone and the TUC.  Appendix C details the representation on the Board and Appendix D the 
representation on the 9 Industry Sector Cluster groups and the Skills Provider group. 

 

Tudalen40



10 | P a g e  
 

2.4 Policy & Strategy Alignment 

The Swansea Bay City Region is a critically important driver for the Welsh and UK economy. It is a region with strong urban centres a diverse 

rural landscape and a significant coastline that has created an economic profile with numerous opportunities and challenges. With a resident 

population of 704,8975 supporting some 311,000 jobs6 and containing around 27,000 businesses7, the Swansea Bay City Region is a major driver 

of the Welsh economy. However, overall productivity (GVA) growth in the region has been consistently below that of the UK and Wales over the 

past two decades and remedying this position is the primary priority of the City Deal.   

The primary aim of the Swansea Bay City Deal is to stimulate economic growth within the region through attracting investment and generating 

high-value job opportunities.Through the City Deal the Swansea Bay Region will embrace a once in a generation opportunity to further 
consolidate its’ role in technological innovation, realisation and commercialisation making a substantial contribution to the UK Government’s 
Industrial Strategy and harness the opportunities set out by the Welsh Government’s Prosperity for All – the national strategy. The Skills and 
Talent programme strongly aligns to UK, Welsh and Regional policies, strategies and targets and these alignments are summarised in Table 1 
below. 
 
 

Strategy  Core Principles Fit 

UK   
Industrial 

Strategy 

The Industrial Strategy for the UK -

Building a Britain Fit for the Future 

outlines the longer-term approach to 

improving living standards and 

economic prosperity. 

A strategy for securing significant economic gains underpins the entire City Deal proposal 

and the 9 individual projects will support this commercial potential, will increase the Gross 

Value Added (GVA) within the region and support the development of key skills and 

employment across the region.  
 

The Skills and Talent Programme will develop a sustainable pipeline of individuals to support 
growth of the four themes and support the future competitiveness of the region.  It will nurture 
indigenous talent through initial education and ongoing career development, while also 
attracting globally-competitive skills to the region through the private sector investment which 
ensues from the proposal as a collective. The programme will seek to utilise and maximise the 
potential of city region partner organisations through the existing RLSP structure and will look 
to develop and support strategic skills interventions around the key themes of ICT infrastructure 
and digital skills, Health, Energy and Smart Manufacturing. 

The UK's Industrial Strategy - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 
5 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-year  
6 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-year  
7 Inter Departmental Business Register (IDBR) 2018 

T
udalen41

https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/the-uks-industrial-strategy
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-year


11 | P a g e  
 

Wales   

Welsh 

Government 

Prosperity for 

All Strategy 

The Economic Strategy for Wales The Skills and Talent programme supports the key objectives of the Welsh Government’s 

Prosperity for All strategy specifically the Ambitious and Learning theme by creating 

opportunities for all to achieve skills at all levels and from all ages enabling individuals to 

achieve a better chance of getting a rewarding job and the ability for the region to attract 

inward investment to the area because of a strong skills base. 

Securing Wales' Future Summary (gov.wales) 
Wellbeing and 

Future 

Generations 

Act 

A Prosperous Wales • The Skills and Talent programme seeks to support to City Deal in maximising the 
economic and social benefits of the digital economy within the Swansea Bay City Region.  

• The programme will enhance the employability of individuals within the region providing 
digital economy skills across all levels from school engagement, Further Education and 
Higher Education.   

• It will directly support an innovative and skilled Wales through developing new skills 
activity to support the development of the City Deal projects. It will allow for activity to 
become mainstream enhancing the current skills provision and allowing a greater number 
of talented individuals to enter the Welsh digital economy.   

• The programme will support the development of local supply chains and new and 
innovative business activity through supporting skills development within the digital 
economy. 

 A Resilient Wales • The programme will support the economy of the regional and Wales through the global 
transition that will arise from technological changes such as automation and artificial 
intelligence by ensuring residents are equipped with the skills required. 

• It will also support the development of new low carbon technologies including supporting 
the internet of energy theme and the ‘Homes as Power Stations’ and ‘Pembroke Dock 
Marine’ projects and improving Wales’ energy security and reducing the impact on the 
environment. 

 A Healthier Wales • Skills and Talent will support individuals to participate within the digital economy and 
access sustainable employment which benefits mental and physical well-being.  

• There will be direct support for the life science and well-being theme which includes 
Pentre Awel the ‘Life Science and Well-being Village’ as well as the ‘Life Science 
Campuses’ projects.   

• Increased connectivity and the skills to utilise digital technologies will help to address 
issues related to isolation, loneliness and well-being. 

 A more Equal Wales • Skills and Talent will support the City Deal in its ambitions to drive through economic 
transformation within the region and reduce the deficit in GVA performance compared to 
other parts of the UK. 

T
udalen42

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-10/prosperity-for-all-the-national-strategy.pdf


12 | P a g e  
 

• Through the learning opportunities developed there will be greater opportunities for 
individuals to participate in the digital labour market and increase the equality of 
opportunity.  

• The programme will support a reduction in poverty through providing individuals with the 
opportunity to access well paid sustainable employment locally. 

 A Vibrant and Cultural Wales • Skills and Talent will support skills activity bilingually where possible and support the 
progression of bilingual learners into the digital economy. 

• There will be significant skills support for the ‘Yr Egin’ development and the Waterfront 
District  which will allow for the development of digital cultural activity and supporting the 
development of the creative industries.   

 A globally Responsible Wales • The skills developed via the programme will support the development of a low carbon 
economy within the region and improving sustainability, through supporting projects under 
the themes- Energy and Smart Manufacturing.  

• It will also promote global wellbeing through supporting the Wellbeing and Life-science 
Theme and supporting the skills required for citizens to live healthier lives in a connected 
environment. 

 A Wales of Cohesive Communities • Through the Economic Acceleration and the development of skills within the digital 
economy ecosystem there will be growth opportunities for both local indigenous 
companies and local supply chains.  

• Improved digital infrastructure and skills to utilise technologies will improve the resilience 
and cohesion of communities, particularly within rural areas 

Wellbeing and 

Future 

Generations 

Act - The 5 

ways of 

working 

Long Term The Skills and Talent programme will support the long-term economic transformation of the 

region through developing and delivering skills activity that directly supports the City Deal. 

This activity will ensure that residents of the Swansea Bay City Region will have the 

opportunity to benefit from the investment and the prosperity.  The programme will engage 

with young people to provide digital skills and inspire the next generation into careers within 

the digital economy.  

 Prevention The programme will support individuals, through developing appropriate and relevant skills 

into long term sustainable employment aligned to the City Deal improving the overall 

economic competitiveness of the region. This reduces the risks associated with long term 

unemployment, poverty and improving individual well-being through the application of digital 

skills and new technologies. The project will support individuals at risk of economic 

displacement through providing the opportunities to access new skills. 

 Collaboration The RLSP and its partners has a strong record of collaboration, the intervention will build 

upon this experience through developing all activity within a collaborative framework with 

clear governance. The engagement with all of the City Deal projects will ensure that the 

T
udalen43



13 | P a g e  
 

activity will be developed collaboratively and will ensure that the most appropriate activity is 

developed. 

 Integration The Skills and Talent programme will integrate with all of the City Deal projects supporting the 

employment outcomes of each. There is also significant integration with the members of the 

four public services boards including local authorities and education providers of Swansea 

Bay supporting employability outcomes, economic development and sustainability.  It also 

aligns significantly with Welsh Government’s Prosperity for All strategy and Working Wales 

employability plan. 

 Involvement The RLSP has a strong level of engagement with organisations from the public, private and 

third sectors and will continue this engagement throughout. The RLSP will ensure effective 

communication to enable collaboration with all partners and stakeholders to utilise the 

expertise that are available regionally. In addition, there will be increased engagement with 

both relevant industry and learners to ensure the intervention is meeting the needs of 

citizens.  The intervention’s governance will ensure that all stakeholders are appropriately 

represented. 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 – The Future Generations Commissioner 
for Wales 

International 

Strategy for 

Wales 

The strategy aims to raise the profile 

Internationally of Wales as a place that 

is full of creativity, innovation and 

manufacturing.  Higher Education plays 

an important role with the connections 

across the World. 

The aim of the Skills and Talent programme is to develop the opportunities for all to achieve 

higher qualifications and opportunities to work in groundbreaking technology through the City 

Deal projects and other investment opportunities that will be generated in the region.  The 

International opportunities through the Erasmus programme and the development of 

opportunities for companies and students from overseas to invest, study and work in the 

region. 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-10/international-strategy-for-wales-

v1.pdf 

 

21st Century 

Higher 

Education 

Strategy for 

Wales 

The strategy aims to transform the lives 

and livelihoods across Wales through 

the combined efforts of a Higher 

Education establishments in Wales 

The vision of the Skills and Talent programme is to increase the number of individuals with 

the high- level qualifications in the region through full time or part time study or through 

degree apprenticeships. The programme team will work with the Universities in the region to 

develop opportunities linked with the individual projects to meet the programme vision. 

https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/521/ 

Education in 

Wales 

Strategy- Our 

National 

Mission 

The strategy covers post 16 education 

and skills via further and higher 

education, adult and community 

learning and apprenticeship and aims 

to deliver.  The aspiration of the 

The Skills and Talent programme aims to increase the number of people in the region 

attaining a qualification and to generate opportunities for all to attain higher qualifications to 

meet the needs of the City deal projects. 

https://gov.wales/education-and-skills-planning-and-strategy 

 

T
udalen44

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-10/international-strategy-for-wales-v1.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-10/international-strategy-for-wales-v1.pdf
https://gov.wales/education-and-skills-planning-and-strategy


14 | P a g e  
 

strategy is to have aspirational young 

people with opportunities across all 

levels of education achieve the highest 

levels of qualifications 

Youth 

Engagement 

Framework 

the Youth 

Engagement 

and 

Progression 

Framework 

The framework sets out the Welsh 

Government approach to supporting 

young people who are at risk of 

becoming NEET. The Framework has 6 

key elements: Identifying young people 

most at risk of disengagement; Better 

brokerage and co-ordination of support 

The Skills and Talent programme will work with all people in society with the aspiration of 

raising the skills levels for all across the region.  There are a high percentage of individuals 

who fall within the NEET category and the Skills and Talent programme will work with all 

employability projects, stakeholders and educational establishments to ensure that the 

opportunities that will be generated through the whole City Deal portfolio. 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-02/implementation-plan-youth-

engagement-and-progression-framework.pdf 

Tackling 

Poverty Plan 

2021- 2035 

The key objectives of the Tackling 
Poverty actions are:  
• to prevent poverty, especially through 
investment in giving children the best 
possible start in life. From conception 
through to early adulthood, our aim will 
be to reduce inequality at the earliest 
possible stage and break the link 
between socio-economic disadvantage, 
educational under achievement and the 
impaired life chances that flow from 
these;  
• recognising that the best route out of 
poverty is through employment, we will 
continue to help people to improve their 
skills and enhance the relevance of 
their qualifications. We will also remove 
other barriers to employment – from 
practical barriers such as the 
accessibility of transport and buildings 
to less tangible barriers such as poverty 
of aspiration - helping people to move 
on to and up the employment ladder;  
• at the same time, we will increase 
action to mitigate the impact of poverty 
here and now. We recognise that for 

The Skills and Talent programme will: 
Identify and develop opportunities through working with schools and colleges to identify the 
career pathways suitable for all; 
Work with partners in the Employability programmes to identify the skills gaps and develop 
programmes to support training for all. 
Create opportunities for everyone to work and gain the necessary experience in the world of 
work to enhance their opportunities for better paid work. 
 
 
https://gov.wales/tackling-fuel-poverty-2021-2035-html 
 

T
udalen45

https://gov.wales/tackling-fuel-poverty-2021-2035-html


15 | P a g e  
 

more and more people, even being in 
work will not guarantee that they can 
escape poverty. We can act to improve 
the quality of life of these communities, 
families and individuals. 

Manufacturing 

Future for 

Wales- 

Framework 

for Action 

The Framework will look at how the 

Welsh Government, Industry, Academia 

and Trade Unions can work together to 

secure the future of manufacturing in 

Wales. 

Skills within the manufacturing sector have already been identified as being at risk and with 

the advent of Industry 4.0 there is a need to ensure that Engineering and Manufacturing are 

highlighted as key career opportunities in the region. The Skills and Talent programme will 

work with Industry Wales and academia to develop the clear pathway from school through to 

higher education and apprenticeship.  Alongside the development of individuals there will also 

be a need to upskill the teachers and lecturers in the new ways of working. 

Regional   

Swansea Bay 

City Region 

Economic 

Regeneration 

strategy 

2013-2030 

The Strategy has 5 key aims: 

1 Business Growth and Retention. 

2 Skilled and Ambitious people 

3 Maximize job creation. 

4 Knowledge Economy and Innovation. 

5 Distinct places and competitive 

infrastructure. 

The strategy identifies the major deficits that exist across the region regarding the low 

number of people with higher level qualifications or no qualifications at all.  These issues 

need to be addressed in order to drive performance competitiveness and salary levels. 

The Skills and Talent programme will be instrumental in the success of all 5 key aims of the 

strategy and will deliver on the key skills requirements to meet the needs of the employers in 

the region. The programme will lead on the upskilling of individuals to meet the changing 

demands; develop clear career pathways for children in school to identify the opportunities 

available and skills required and finally to develop a more ambitious workforce with the right 

skills for the future. 

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/7514/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-

Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf   
Framework 

for Regional 

Investment in 

Wales 

The Regional Framework brings 

together the regional Economic 

requirements both long term and short 

term post Covid-19 within one strategy 

sitting under the Chief Regional Officer 

The Skills and Talent programme will work with the Chief Regional Officer to identify the skills 

requirements and support the development of key skills in specific locations across the 

region. 

 
The Skills and Talent programme will align to the objectives set out in the recently launched 
framework for regional investment in Wales post Brexit.  These objectives include: 

• Support the workforce to become skilled and trained to achieve progression including 
skills from transition to Industry 4.0 and 5.0 technology. 

• Opportunities for people to develop their skills and acquire new skills. 
• Increase the number of upskilled individuals in the workplace to achieve the skills of 

the future. 
• Tackle digital exclusion and increase engagement with the digital and technological 

skills. 
• Increase opportunities through apprenticeship and traineeships. 

T
udalen46



16 | P a g e  
 

 

Regional 
Employment 
and Skills 
Plan 2019 - 
2022 

 

The plan informs and support the 
Welsh Government's strategic 
approach to the delivery of employment 
and skills provision in conjunction with 
the other two Regional Skills 
Partnerships in Wales. 

The Skills and Talent programme will utilise the work undertaken by the RLSP team including 
data being generated on the impact of Covid-19 pandemic for future skills needs. 
 

http://online.flipbuilder.com/itet/fdew/mobile/index.html 

Rural Vision 
for Wales – 
Thriving 
Communities 
for the future 

One key recommendation is to develop 
a targeted rural youth programme to 
invest, upskill and retain bright and 
talented young people in rural 
communities: 
i) Establish STEMM (Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Maths and 
Money) Centres of 
Excellence by investing in high quality 
facilities within rural Further Education 
Institutions to provide training for young 
people, as well as opportunities for 
adult 
in-work upskilling and retraining 
opportunities, targeted at the following 
sectors - 
o Food Science 
o Digital and Electronics 
o 21st Century Agriculture 
o Healthcare and Medical Sciences 
o Low Carbon Infrastructure 
o Creative Industries 
o Circular Economy 
o Advanced Manufacturing 
o Bioeconomy 
 

Many of the key areas highlighted with the Rural Vision report link to the key areas identified 
within the Skills and Talent programme and will be developed therein.  The objectives of the 
Rural Vision also highlights some of the key challenges identified within the Programme 
Business case. 

 
https://rural-urban.eu/publications/rural-vision-wales-thriving-communities-future-evidence-
report 

Table 1 –Alignment to UK and Government and Regional Policies

T
udalen47



17 | P a g e  
 

2.5 Case for Change 

The HM Treasury Green Book indicates that the rationale for Government intervention is founded 

‘either in market failure or where there are clear government distribution objectives that need to be 

met.’  Market failure refers to where the market has not and cannot itself be expected to deliver an 

efficient outcome; the intervention that is proposed within this programme will seek to redress this. 

The Swansea Bay City Deal region suffers from a series of overarching economic issues including 

low GVA, lack of well-paid job opportunities, skills shortage, high levels of economic inactivity and 

outward youth migration. The region is characterised by a higher proportion of individuals with no 

qualifications when compared with national averages, Table 2 below outlines the 2019 data on 

Highest Qualifications based on a regional/Wales average, the average earnings, the current 

employed and unemployment data and the gender pay gap. A high number of individuals in the 

region are currently in low skilled, low paid and unstable employment and subsequently a lower 

than average level of individuals are in higher paid, meaningful employment.  

There is also further area of concern for the region’s workforce - the ageing population, with 36% of 
the region’s total population of 704,8978. being over the age of 55.9 Retirement risk is high in the 
region with around 276,000 individuals expected to retire soon, (this is above the average for an 
area of similar size, which sits at 241,000.10 The potential loss of skilled individuals at such a scale 
is a challenge for the region but one that the City Deal and the opportunities it presents through the 
Skills and Talent programme can mitigate.  

With the rising opportunities currently on offer within the region and the potential development of 
high paid jobs through the City Deal there is a real concern that there will be limited number of people 
with the correct qualifications and experience to take up the roles.  Furthermore, the impact of Covid-
19 on the Employment landscape will require upskilling of individuals from existing skills base into 
new industries as a matter of urgency. 

  Carms Pembs Swansea Neath 
and 
Port 
Talbot 

Wales 

Total 
Employment 

Workplace 
Employment (Whole 
Workforce) 11 

79,600 58,000 124,200 49,600 1,452,100 

Employment in 
High skilled 
occupations 

% of workers in SOC 
digits 1-3 (2020)12 

39.6% 36.7% 45.2% 33.4% 44.2 

Unemployment Unemployment rate %   
(June 2020) 

4.2 2.7 5.4 4.0 3.7 

Earnings Median FT weekly 
earnings £ 
(2020)13 

£568.60 £492.90 £531.90 £566.40 £537.80 

Male Earnings Weekly median gross 
pay male full time 
(2020)14 

£550.40 £510.20 £521.10 £604.30 £556.70 

 
8 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-

by-localauthority-year 
9 RLSP analysis of EMSI data  
10 RLSP analysis of EMSI data 
11 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-
Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-industry  
12 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-
Work/Employment/Persons-Employed/peopleinemployment-by-area-occupation  
13 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-
Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year  
14 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-
Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year 

Tudalen48

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-industry
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-industry
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Persons-Employed/peopleinemployment-by-area-occupation
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Persons-Employed/peopleinemployment-by-area-occupation
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year


18 | P a g e  
 

Female 
Earnings 

Weekly median gross 
pay female full time 
(2020)15 

£592.80 £477.10 £534.80 £492.20 £515.40 

Economic 
participation 

Economic activity rate 
%  
aged 16-64 (Sept 
2020)16 

72.7 76.7 74.0 72.5 76.2 

       
Low skills17 % with no 

qualifications aged 16-
64 (2019) 

7.4 8.8 7.7 10.8 8.2 

 % qualified to below 
level 2 (2019) 

11.5 12.6 11.6 14.5 12.7 

 % qualified to NQF 
level 2 (2019) 

20.0 22.1 17.4 24.8 19.7 

 % qualified to NQF 
level 3 (2019) 

19.6 20.0 23.3 19.7 20.6 

 % qualified to NQF 
level 4-6 (2019) 

30.2 26.9 26.7 23.6 27.6 

 % qualified to NQF 
level 7-8 (2019) 

11.2 9.7 13.3 6.5 11.2 

 

Table 2 – Employment and Skills Levels within the Swansea Bay region.18   

 

The Skills and Talent programme has a key role to play here in providing individuals with the right 

training opportunities to not only improve their skills and qualification levels but also their access to 

better and more meaningful employment opportunities. People with higher level qualifications and 

skills are more likely to be in sustained employment, with larger earning and wage gains, 

particularly for those individuals from disadvantaged areas. Apprenticeships tend to increase the 

probability of participants being in employment with higher level apprenticeships appearing to 

generate substantially larger labour market benefits.  

The region needs a motivated skilled and functioning workforce that deliver on the overall aims of 

the Swansea Bay City Deal over the next 15 years and the Skills and Talent programme will be 

instrumental in piloting the skills solutions for the 8 projects and in turn will support regional 

education providers to deliver the skills solutions required. Evidence highlighted in the 2019 

Employment and Skills Plan19 indicates that skills will broadly be required in (but not limited to) the 

areas of ICT and digital, health and manufacturing, energy and new construction and engineering, 

aligning closely to the four themes of the City Deal programme.  A recent report by the Learning 

and Work Institute20 states that the number of young people taking IT subjects at GCSE has 

dropped 40% since 2015 whilst demand for Artificial Intelligence, cloud and robotic skills are 

soaring.  The report further states that there are four main reasons why the digital skills shortage is 

climbing across the country and these include lack of clearly defined job roles; lack of 

understanding of potential career paths; lack of relatable role models and the appeal of the roles. 

Evidence has also been gathered from the project leads during 2020 on specific key skills relating 

to Digital- Cyber security; Cloud, Artificial Intelligence (machine Learning Knowledge) and Data 

 
15 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-
Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year 
16 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Economic-
Inactivity/economicinactivityratesexcludingstudents-by-welshlocalarea-year  
17 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Data-For-Regions-of-
Wales/highestqualificationlevelofworkingageadults-by-region-localauthority  
18 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-
Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification 
19 http://online.flipbuilder.com/itet/fdew/mobile/index.html  
20 https://learningandwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Disconnected-Report.pdf  

Tudalen49

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings/medianweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Economic-Inactivity/economicinactivityratesexcludingstudents-by-welshlocalarea-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Economic-Inactivity/economicinactivityratesexcludingstudents-by-welshlocalarea-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Data-For-Regions-of-Wales/highestqualificationlevelofworkingageadults-by-region-localauthority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Data-For-Regions-of-Wales/highestqualificationlevelofworkingageadults-by-region-localauthority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
http://online.flipbuilder.com/itet/fdew/mobile/index.html
https://learningandwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Disconnected-Report.pdf


19 | P a g e  
 

Science and from Green Energy where there is a direct link to Digital which include, Solar, Heat 

pumps, Smart controls and Electric vehicles There will be opportunities for the transferability of 

skills between projects and therefore across the region, creating a thriving talent base.  

Undeniably, underpinning each of the projects is skills and talent; a theme that runs strongly 

throughout and will determine the over-all success of the City Deal and its constituent projects. 

With this, the ability of the Skills and Talent programme to determine the skills needs of the 8 

projects is a key determinant of the City Deals success. The right people with the right skills, 

available in the region at the right time is the most important consideration and challenge for the 

City Deal. Without a strong, capable and flexible workforce the projects would struggle to meet the 

outcomes they propose and therefore have the transformational effect that they aim to have. The 

programme aims to address the skills gaps at all levels by working in partnership with key 

providers/partners and employability programmes in the region. 

2.6 Investment Objectives & Benefits 

The overarching objective of the Skills and Talent programme is to strengthen collaboration and 

increase investment that will significantly boost the quality and quantity of trained and skilled 

individuals through the intervention of the programme.  The aim is to: 

✓ create a lasting legacy of a higher skilled workforce across the region. 

✓ encourage meaningful participation by stakeholders in designing and delivering skills 

training and development. 

✓ increase opportunities for individuals to improve their skills and get higher paid jobs. 

✓ be central to maximising the value of the City Deal Investment by delivering the workforce 

programme.  

✓ upskilling individuals for new roles utilising key skills that they may already have that could 

be beneficial to new roles created through the projects or other opportunities in the region.   

The Investment objectives have been identified by the RLSP and partners based on evidence 

gathered through stakeholder engagement; engagement with City Deal project leads and National 

Government statistics. The objectives for the programme are identified below as being time limited 

for the purpose of monitoring however, the interventions made by the Skills and Talent programme 

will have an impact over a longer term with the development of new frameworks fit for the future: 

The programme aims to deliver the following investment objectives and benefits over the next 10 

years, based on sectors including digital, energy, smart manufacturing, construction and life-

sciences and wellbeing 

✓ To directly deliver at least 2,200 additional skills and support the development of around 

14,000 individuals with higher level (between 2-8) skills within 10 years. 

✓ To create at least 3000 new apprenticeship opportunities, to include level 3 to Degree 

apprenticeships. 

✓ To create at least 2 Centres of Excellence within specific sectors to develop the region as 

being “the best” area for skills development.  

✓ To create a clear career pathway from school education through further and higher education 

in the key areas of digital; construction, energy; smart manufacturing and life-science and 

wellbeing, achieved through engagement and development work with schools increasing the 

number of pupils following the STEM subjects in FE and HE.. 

✓ To deliver 20 new/updated course frameworks to ensure they meet the industry training needs 

for the future. 

These investment objectives are SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and time 

bound) and will be delivered with a £30 million investment from: 

City Deal   Public Sector   Private Sector 

 £10m        £16m        £4m 

Tudalen50



20 | P a g e  
 

The programme will aim to nurture indigenous talent through initial education and on-going 

professional development, supporting the attraction of globally competitive skills to the region 

through the significant inward investment fostered by the individual projects and the wider 

economic regeneration proposals.  An example would be the Pentre Awel project, the skills 

requirements for this project will be diverse but there will be an opportunity to bring specialist 

leaders in research to the project who will work with students from the universities to develop new 

ways of working and treatments offered within the Life science sector. 

To support this work the RLSP has undertaken a consultation with regional employers; training 

providers and City Deal project leads over the last 18 months to understand the skills requirements 

for the region and identify the skills gaps and where additional resources need to be made 

available in order to support the vision of the City Deal to grow the economy in the region. The 

consultation has been undertaken via on-line questionnaires; face to face meetings within the 

Industry sector cluster groups on a bi-monthly basis; through workshops and annual events and 

RLSP Board meetings. 

2.7 Existing Arrangements 

The delivery of skills training across all ages in the SBCD region are delivered by the Education 
Departments of the Local Authorities; four Further Education Colleges and two Universities together 
with a range of private sector training companies who deliver bespoke and/or apprenticeship 
training. The RLSP works with all partners and employers to understand the gaps in existing 
provision against Industry needs and identification of future learning based on future needs.  

The RLSP prepares an annual Employment and Skills plan and evidence to support the 
recommendations contained therein to improve skills delivery in the region is gathered through 
engagement with Industry leads across the 9 main sectors (Advanced Materials and Manufacturing; 
Energy; Food and Land Management; Financial and Professional services; Tourism Retail and 
Leisure; Construction; Creative Industries, ICT and Public Services). There has been evidence of 
some change within the apprenticeship and further education sector as a result of recommendations 
made but the change in school curriculum and higher education is not as quick to react. Influencing 
change must be a partnership of all skills and training bodies to create the pathway of skills and 
opportunities for all. 

The current delivery model delivers the needs of the Government in the development of opportunities 
for individuals to follow the education route through school and on to Further or higher education or 
apprenticeship, but these pathways do not always reflect the needs of employers.  The Employment 
and Skills Plans for the region  since 2017 have all reported the concerns from employers regarding 
outdated course content; the need for an increased number of people trained within the engineering 
and digital sectors and to improve career pathway advice and information to reflect what is 
happening in industry today. The report makes clear recommendations to the Welsh Government 
on what needs to change in the current landscape in order to meet the needs of Industry as well as 
identifying key future skills needs.  An example of this was a skills needs assessment undertaken 
for the proposed Tidal Lagoon in Swansea that identified key skills needed in the region in order to 
meet the demand that would be created by the project.21 The delivery within the FE and HE sector 
is driven by student demand to take up courses that do not always lead to a paid role in their chosen 
subject and not industry requirements that would lead to full-time, well-paid jobs. The Skills and 
Talent programme offers an opportunity to change the information given to allow individuals to make 
informed decisions of a clear career pathway through the education.  There is a need to develop a 
clear destination pathway for each individual from education through into the world of work and 
beyond. 

2.8 Business Need 
This section identifies the problems, issues and difficulties that the area faces from economic; low 
productivity; low wage levels and skills gaps, all of which will impact on the success of the City Deal 
projects and other investment in the region. Table 3 below and the supporting evidence in this 

 
21 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1225118/sna.pdf 

Tudalen51

http://online.flipbuilder.com/itet/fdew/mobile/index.html
http://online.flipbuilder.com/itet/fdew/mobile/index.html
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1225118/sna.pdf


21 | P a g e  
 

section highlights the key issues the region faces, whilst the programme will address some there are 
already programmes in place outside of the City Deal portfolio that are working on reducing the 
impacts on the regional economy, the importance for the Skills and Talent programme will be the 
strong working arrangements and partnership with these programmes to resolve the difficulties 
across the next 15 – 20 years.  

Work has already been undertaken with all of the project leads to identify skills gaps that they are 
aware of and this has been undertaken through a number of ways including face to face meetings; 
workshops; through the Provider group leads identified to work with the project leads on specific 
skills and through on-line surveys. Consultants appointed to support the development of the 
Economic Impact have also worked with the project leads to identify the skills requirements against 
the jobs being created.  From all of the evidence gathered to date there is clear knowledge that there 
is a demand for new skills to be developed as a matter of urgency to support the delivery of the City 
Deal project. 

In gathering the evidence, a connection has also been made with the skills programmes of other 
City Deals across the UK to understand what has worked well where programmes have already 
begun and there are some examples of good practice that can be shared and possibly utilised in the 
region.  The Belfast City Deal skills programme has identified similar issues to those evidenced 
within the Swansea Bay area specifically around the high number of people with low qualifications 
and the shortage of people with digital skills that are so important to the projects included in the 
Belfast City Deal.  The discussions with other City Deals will continue as a system of good practice 
to share knowledge. 

Theme Existing Arrangements Investment objective Business Needs 

E
c

o
n

o
m

ic
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 

Fewer people with higher 
level qualifications.  

14000 individuals with 
increased level of skills 
(2,000 direct and 12,000 
indirect)  

To increase the number of 
people with higher level 
qualifications to support the 
SDCB projects 

The region has the highest 
number of people in Wales 
with low or no qualifications 

Create at least 3000 new 
apprenticeship 
opportunities to include 
level 3 to degree 

Develop a programme of 
opportunities to upskill the 
existing workforce. 
Attain 100% completion of 
the apprenticeship 
programme and provide the 
employability support to 
individuals to move into full 
time employment. 

High number of individuals in 
low paid employment 

Create opportunities to 
support people into work. 

Increase opportunities 
through the improvement of 
skills levels to increase the 
number of people in higher 
paid jobs 

The jobs in the region have 
a strong reliance on the 
foundational economy or 
public sector. 

Create clear pathways 
within schools focusing on 
the key themes within the 
City Deal portfolio 

Developing the career 
pathways throughout the 
school years to showcase 
the opportunities will 
highlight the new 
opportunities. 

 
Increased uptake of 
school pupils progressing 
into STEM subjects at 
FE/HE 

High number of 
economically inactive people 

Upskill and support 
people into employment 
by creating opportunities 
through project 
community benefits 
programme. 

Working with employability 
programmes to develop the 
opportunities to upskill and 
gain qualifications into 
meaningful jobs. 

Tudalen52



22 | P a g e  
 

Course frameworks do not 
meet future skills needs and 
lecturers/teachers are not 
fully aware of the new ways 
of working within industry. 

Invest in course 
frameworks to ensure 
they meet the needs of 
the projects and 
employers in the region 
and provide 
upskilling/CPD for 
teachers and lecturers 

Work required to understand 
the gaps and work with 
stakeholders and employers 
to bridge the gap and 
develop new qualifications. 
Identify what upskilling is 
required. 

Delivery of 20 
new/updated course 
frameworks to meet 
industry training needs. 

The area is not known for 
the delivery of any specific 
specialist skills 

Establish at least two 
Centres of Excellence 
based on prioritised 
sectors. 

Centres of Excellence in 
skills required for the City 
Deal projects that are new 
and emerging. 

Ageing Population 
The ageing population is an 
issue for the region if they 
do not work or will not upskill 
to work within the new and 
emerging sectors. 

Deliver pilot programmes 
of new courses to upskill 
existing workforce. 

Map out opportunities for 
key employees to upskill 
through a faster than normal 
process to enable 
businesses to have the 
necessary skills immediately 

Table 3  Synopsis of Business Needs. 

 

The skills landscape across the region is wide and far reaching but can be complex to stakeholders 
not directly involved in the delivery in the schools, colleges, universities and apprenticeship 
programmes.  Alongside the known providers there are a number of programmes to support the 
unemployed and the economically inactive that deliver training to get people into or back to work 
alongside the third sector and private businesses who deliver training to their staff.  The RLSP brings 
the organisations together however there is a need to develop the clear pathway to develop the skills 
pathway for the future across the region and to address the following issues as a regional 
programme to deliver change: 

2.8.1 Course Frameworks not fit for the Future 

A complete analysis of the skills delivered across the region and publication of a Skills Barometer 
for the region will be an essential requirement for the programme.  The work that the RLSP has 
already undertaken with employers identifies a number of key issues with course frameworks that 
need to be re-written and accredited in order to meet the requirements of employers now and in the 
future.  This work is fundamental to the success of the skills and talent programme to ensure that 
we have the right skills, as identified by employers, being taught at all levels across all training 
providers.  The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted a number of key skills particularly within the 
digital sector that need to be developed as a matter of urgency to meet the changing working 
practices by employers across the region.  The new skills will require new qualifications to be 
developed and up-skilling of teachers and lecturers across the whole education system will be 
imperative. 

2.8.2 Workforce Development 

The workforce in the region is dominated by a high reliance on the public sector, some 30% of the 

workforce (92,200) are employed in this sector.22  A high proportion of individuals are employed in 

what is termed as the foundational economy. The aspirational projects contained within the City 

Deal rely on these specific areas of employment (Construction, Information & Communication and 

Professional; Scientific and Technical activities) that only currently amount to 20% of the 

 
22 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-
Work/Employment/Persons-Employed/publicprivatesectoremployment-by-welshlocalauthority-status  

Tudalen53

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Persons-Employed/publicprivatesectoremployment-by-welshlocalauthority-status
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Persons-Employed/publicprivatesectoremployment-by-welshlocalauthority-status


23 | P a g e  
 

workforce.23 The aim of the City Deal will be to increase the proportion of people working within 

these sectors creating a more balanced workforce demography which is less reliant on the 

foundational economy and service sectors. These sectors are high value in terms of GVA therefore 

any increase in these sectors will serve to act as a catalyst for the increase in GVA and 

productivity that the region requires. 

 

2.8.3 Covid-19 impact in the region 

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a dramatic effect on the labour market in recent months, the effects 
of which are likely to be felt for a long period of time. A high proportion of workers have been 
furloughed across the region with the most recent statistics24 highlighted in table 4 below: 

County and district / unitary authority 

Employments 

furloughed 

Take-up 

rate 

Carmarthenshire 10,700 14% 

Neath Port Talbot 6,700 11% 

Pembrokeshire 8,600 19% 

Swansea 13,400 14% 

Table 4 – Furloughed workers in the region at 31st January 2021 

The full scale of job losses suffered as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic will likely come to fruition 

following the end of the job retention scheme. The Skills and Talent programme will have an 

important role to play in supporting economic growth over coming years and will in some part 

support the labour force to respond effectively to this unique time the country currently finds itself 

in.  

The RLSP and the Skills team will continue to monitor labour market intelligence and will work with 

the programme team to identify areas that the programme’s activity can serve to support the 

region and its people throughout the recovery period and beyond particularly in upskilling 

individuals into new areas of work which will become more secure in the changing landscape. This 

monitoring of data will also be a key tool to measure the long-term impact of the success of the 

Skills and Talent Programme. 

2.8.4 Business Demography  

The region as a whole is dominated by micro and small sized enterprises and a higher than average 

proportion of self-employed individuals which has an impact on the available workforce. The 

Swansea Bay region has the second highest proportion of self-employed people by City regions, the 

highest being in the Greater London Authority.25 The most recent statistics, indicate that 99% of the 

businesses operating in the region have less than 99 employees. Approximately 18,600 businesses 

have between 1 and 4 employees.26   The Skills and Talent programme will work with a diverse 

range of employers representing micro to large strategic employers in the region to ensure that they 

are aware of the skills needs identified and availability of training through the programme to support 

the supply chain workforce that will be involved within the delivery of the SBCD projects. 

 

 
23 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-
Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-industry  
24 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-march-2021  
25https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/datasets/sel
femploymentincityregions  
26 Inter Departmental Business Register (IDBR) 2018 

Tudalen54

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-industry
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-industry
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-march-2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/datasets/selfemploymentincityregions
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/datasets/selfemploymentincityregions


24 | P a g e  
 

2.8.5 The Changing Pattern of Employment 

The way that people work continues to evolve and traditional notions of a job for life is increasingly 

unrealistic for many within the labour market. Increasingly the labour market is becoming more fluid 

with dynamic and different ways of working and various ways to be employed, these changes 

produce a number of skills challenges. Research undertaken by the Recruitment & Employment 

Confederation (REC) highlights that ‘13% of British people believe they will be working in traditional 

‘9 – 5’ employment by 2025’ 27  highlighting the awareness of the changing nature of employment 

and the need for flexibility.  

The requirement for business support for emerging and new start up business is evident particularly 

around skills development and support for apprenticeships and work placements.  This is evidenced 

in the 2019 Employment and Skills Plan for the South West and Mid Wales region.  The programme 

will identify the gaps where some of the information is not readily available and ensure that 

businesses are made aware of the opportunities and where support can be received.  An example 

of support that does exist is the Welsh Government Skills Gateway which offers support to business 

and refers to the funded programmes available to support people into work.  

2.8.6 Digital Skills 

Digital skills are becoming increasingly important within the economy with many job roles becoming 
increasingly digitalised. This is a trend that has undoubtedly been accelerated by the recent change 
to working practices as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

If the UK and indeed Wales are to become world-leading digital nations then it is imperative that the 
current and future workforce are equipped with the right skills which allow them to fully take 
advantage of the opportunities that new digital technologies will provide.  

‘Market and institutional challenges mean that many businesses are struggling to obtain employees 
with the right skills to exploit technological opportunities, and sections of society are missing out on 
the benefits of the digital economy.’28 

At a regional level the Swansea Bay City Deal will provide significant opportunities within the digital 
sector, it is therefore imperative that any market and institutional challenges are addressed in a 
timely manner. The Swansea City and Waterfront Digital District and Yr Egin will provide 
opportunities for the development and expansion of high value digital/tech companies which will be 
positive both for employment levels and the economy as a whole. 

2.8.7 Rurality and the rural economy  

The rural economy within South West Wales is of significant importance and encompasses large 
areas of the North and West of the region. It faces a wide range of challenges that are unique to the 
rural setting. These include the issues identified below; 

➢ Declining productivity  

The productivity as measured by GVA within predominantly rural areas is significantly below the 
UK and also below those of more urban areas across the region. This is a trend that is visible 
across the UK. This is in part due to the nature of businesses located within the different areas 
with higher numbers of high GVA industries such as Financial and Professional Services being 
located in the more urban areas. An additional factor is the nature of employment within rural 
areas with a greater emphasis on part time working and self-employment, often relating to 
lifestyle businesses. 

The productivity divide between the urban and rural areas is significant and it produces a 
number of skills related challenges particularly relating to the availability, recruitment and 

 
27 Gig Economy: The ubernisation of work – REC 2016  
28 http://gyitproject.eu/content/o1-research-report-findings 

Tudalen55

http://online.flipbuilder.com/itet/fdew/mobile/index.html
https://businesswales.gov.wales/skillsgateway/?utm_source=google&utm_medium=cpc&utm_campaign=SkillsGatewayGS


25 | P a g e  
 

retention of appropriately skilled individuals.  The main challenge around the development of 
skills can be linked to how the skills training is delivered particularly in the rural areas. 

Productivity is significantly lower in sectors which are more prevalent in rural areas. Evidence 

from the Welsh Government Priority sector29 statistics show that the GVA per hour worked in 

2015 was £14 in the Food and Farming sector and £15 in the Tourism sector.  This compares 

with £59 for the Financial and Professional Services sector and £50 for the ICT sector which 

are predominantly located within urban areas.   

 

➢ Demographic challenges  

Within the region there are a significant number of demographic challenges with rural areas 
being more likely to have issues regarding an ageing population. This includes a higher 
proportion of over 65’s than the urban averages which affects both the demands on local services 
as well as the proportion of working age residents who can form the workforce. This demographic 
imbalance creates significant challenges both in creating a critical mass required for 
economically viable delivery of interventions but also a requirement for the re-skilling of older 
individuals.    

With the large number of people working from home as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic a 
demand had been created to relocate to more rural areas from the urban towns and cities.  The 
impact of such has not been fully assessed to date. 

➢ Access to services  

Rurality and in particular deep rurality places significant pressures on the delivery of services 
due to a number of different factors which include. 

• Lower population densities make achieving relative economies of scale difficult, this can 
include a low number of clients for services to support, making costs expensive for delivery 
bodies as well as limiting the potential engagement opportunities.   

• Large travel distances between conurbations increases time and cost for accessing services, 
this can hinder the skills development of individuals within rural areas who may encounter 
these barriers.   

• Poor digital connectivity remains a challenge due to the cost of installing fibre broadband, 
issues with ‘the last mile of connectivity’ remain a significant challenge for many in rural 
areas.  

It is essential that the effects of the City Deal are as relevant to the rural as the urban areas of the 

SBCR region. Given the declining productivity experienced in some rural areas the City Deal has 

an opportunity to provide high value employment and expansion opportunities for the individuals 

working in and the SMEs operating in those areas. This will be achieved through the proposed 

supply chain opportunities that could come into fruition as the City Deal Proposal progresses.  The 

RLSP will work with all 8 projects to identify the Community Benefit clauses included within all 

contracts to ensure that there are benefits over and above the economic growth, these would 

include building of strong communities through educational support initiatives: apprenticeship 

training and volunteering opportunities. Furthermore, the advancements within the digital sector 

proposed and the increased connectivity which would manifest as a result of the City Deal could 

improve these areas access to services exponentially. 

2.8.8 Gender Equality and Imbalances  

There is significant evidence to suggest that women and men do not enjoy the same rights and 
opportunities across all sectors of society. For Wales this is especially prevalent within the labour 

 
29 http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/priority-sector-statistics/?lang=en  

Tudalen56

http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/priority-sector-statistics/?lang=en


26 | P a g e  
 

market and economy where there is not an equal representation of men and women across a range 
of roles, sectors and subject areas. 

Women are under-represented within a number of the WG’s priority sectors, Table 5 below30; depicts 
that an area of particular concern is the stark lack of women employed within the Advanced Materials 
and Manufacturing, Construction, Energy and Environment and ICT sectors in comparison to men. 
A disparity within sectoral employment can result in gender pay gaps, a disproportion within skills 
development and a lack of access to the same opportunities and progression.  

 

Sector 2018 

Male Female 

Advanced Materials & 

Manufacturing 

66,000 15,600  

Construction 96,400 12,900  

Creative Industries 36,400  21,600  

Energy & Environment 117,900  37,100  

Food & Farming 36,700  14,800  

Financial & Professional Services 81,100  56,600  

ICT 22,500  8,500  

Life Sciences 8,700  4,800  

Tourism 61,900  65,300  

       Table 5 – Gender Equality Data 2018 

For instance, given the alignment of the aforementioned sectors to the Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) sector this is particularly worrying, given the perceived 
benefits of pursuing a career in this area; ‘the gap in starting salary between men and women who 
have studied STEM subjects and go on to take jobs in those spheres is smaller than in any other 
subjects studied. If more women were to pursue careers in these areas, not only would it give them 
a more balanced portfolio of skills, but it would also narrow the gender pay gap for those in the early 
years of their working lives.’ 31 There is much research to suggest that solving the gender pay gap 
would need a focussed effort on increasing the profile of STEM subjects among young female 
learners. 

The alignment of the 8 City Deal projects to STEM related subjects creates a significant opportunity 
for gender imbalances to be addressed. This is especially true given the programme’s aspiration of 
working with schools to promote the opportunities associated with the City Deal. This could improve 
the perception of STEM related subjects with girls at a very young age, resulting in a higher chance 
of them pursuing a career within the sector later in life. The RLSP has already been working with 
schools in partnership with TATA and VALERO to showcase opportunities for women in engineering 
and technology.  This work has been piloted with 6 schools and 2 colleges in the region the 
programme proposes to roll this work out to all schools across the region. 

 

 

 
30 https://gov.wales/priority-sector-statistics-2018  
31 https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/Growth/deloitte-uk-women-in-stem-pay-gap-
2016.pdf  

Tudalen57

https://gov.wales/priority-sector-statistics-2018
https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/Growth/deloitte-uk-women-in-stem-pay-gap-2016.pdf
https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/Growth/deloitte-uk-women-in-stem-pay-gap-2016.pdf


27 | P a g e  
 

2.8.9 Duplication of Course delivery 

There is a considerable amount of duplication of traditional course delivery across the region with 
no clear focus on the specific skills required for the City Deal projects, the wider employer need or 
recognition of future skills needs post 5 years. Whilst it is difficult to anticipate the “new skills” 
requirements of 10 – 15 years there has to be a clear pathway of where the region wants to go and 
how it will achieve the goals. The Skills and Talent programme aims to bring together the skills 
training providers across all levels to clearly identify what the skills needs are, how those skills will 
be delivered across the region and by who, this will drive the adaptation of the skills offer in HE, FE 
and training providers to meet the needs as prescribed in the Industrial strategy, Prosperity for All 
Strategy and meeting Industry 4.0 requirements.  The Covid-19 pandemic has clearly identified how 
we can work differently in delivering skills training and lessons learnt should be built on and 
enhanced to ensure that we can provide the best offer of training and upskilling for all across the 
region. 

2.9 Scope for Investment 

The investment by the Governments to enable the Skills and Talent programme and the projects 
that will developed through the programme will be the opportunity to transform the delivery of skills 
in the SBCR through the development of a partnership that will introduce a step change for the future 
workforce in the region.  The management of change and the commitment by stakeholders in the 
way that skills training is delivered in the region will be a key measure of success for the programme.  
This will be achieved by enhancing the strong relationship that the RLSP has with training providers 
in the region to bring forth the new skills and new ways of delivering skills training to meet the 
changing needs of businesses across the region. 

 

Figure 1 – the route for investment to transform the skills landscape 

Table 6 below highlights how the Skills and Talent programme through City Deal funding will support 
the key areas through partnership working with existing projects and organisations.  For the 
programme to succeed there has to be a strong complimentary employability and skills programme 
delivered in parallel to develop a more integrated approach to prioritising the skills landscape for the 
region. 

Tudalen58



28 | P a g e  
 

Swansea Bay City Region Commitment 
 

UK and Welsh Government Commitment 

Investing in Skills infrastructure 

• Develop City Deal wide intelligence 
into skills gaps. 

• Publish a report into new skills 
training to meet industry and project 
needs linked to the City Deal. 

 

Provision of funding to support the 
development of the skills gaps report. 

Support for learners 

• Encourage participation with all 
learners from schools, FE and HE to 
raise the profile of opportunities in 
the city deal. 

• Encourage participation and 
involvement of young people within 
the skills gap analysis to understand 
their needs and any barriers.  

 

Welsh Government through Careers Wales 
and Working Wales to support the 
development of links with schools.  Work on 
this activity has already started with a pilot 
project in Carmarthenshire with a view to 
reviewing the activity to roll out to other 
county areas. 

NEETs 

• Ensure that training is developed for 
all and that the training is available to 
support people into or back into the 
workplace. 

 
Working relationship with Welsh 
Government Departments to ensure that 
the opportunities are shared. 
Developing opportunities through the 
Kickstart programme that will encourage 
people to follow an apprenticeship 
programme. 

Apprenticeships 

• Build upon the investment in 
apprenticeship by the Welsh 
Government and address the 
additional needs stated by 
employers and industry. 

• Work with projects to encourage the 
development of apprenticeship 
opportunities within the projects. 

• Identify new opportunities for higher 
apprenticeships. 

 

 
Welsh Government to support the 
development of Apprenticeship frameworks 
where they do not exist. 

Table 6 Regional and National Commitment  

The mapping of the City Deal skills gaps and analysis of the training requirements will consider the 
business needs; gender and equality imbalances of people taking up the courses; and the needs 
and availability of the existing and future workforce through re-training and increasing awareness of 
opportunities.  As previously described work has been undertaken with project leads and 
stakeholders over the 18 months to clearly identify where the known skills gaps are, and work has 
also begun on what new skills are required that are not currently delivered or developed on the 
framework. The aim of the Skills and Talent programme is to work within 5 year time line periods 
which would account for the changing skills demands and enable the necessary skills to be 
developed as quickly as possible to meet the project needs.  There will be a requirement to upskill 
the existing workforce in many areas including upskilling the teachers/lecturers who deliver the 
training and this work will be a priority within the first 3 years of the programme.  At the same time 
the necessary frameworks for FE/HE and apprenticeships in the relevant areas will be developed 
and pilot projects will be implemented to deliver the training/upskilling. 

The work with primary and secondary schools in the region to highlight opportunities available 
through the City Deal projects and develop clear pathways to help young people make the right 
choices in schools. This is progressing well with secondary schools submitting ideas of programmes 

Tudalen59



29 | P a g e  
 

and curriculum developments aligned to the City Deal. The Skills and Talent programme will co-
ordinate this with assistance from the 14-19 co-ordinators for the four encompassing counties. In 
addition, the RLSP have developed both a beginner’s and an advanced learning programme for the 
City Deal which will be delivered as part of the Welsh Baccalaureate that can be used across all 
schools in the region. 

The Skills and Talent programme team will work with ERQ the Regional Education Consortia and 
Local Education Authorities to support schools to drive forward the skills need for the region over 
the next 10 years particularly the new curriculum bringing together the project and industry needs 
and expertise to support schools in the new emerging areas. 

To support the work already undertaken Appendix E details the mapping work of the existing 
provision of training courses delivered through Further and Higher Education and Apprenticeships 
in the region, there are over 2000 options being delivered within the five themes of the City Deal . 
Table 7 below highlight some of the potential key skills requirements already identified for each of 
the project business cases, this document is continually being added to as skills are identified.  The 
list below highlights some of the key skills identified. 

Sector Skills 

Digital Basic IT skills 
Cyber 
Artificial Intelligence 
Digital Forensics 
Machine Learning 
Robotics 
Cloud technology 
Creative skills in the use of technology 

Construction 
 

SMART Housing 
Solar, heat pumps, Smart controls, mechanical and 
electrical systems 
Electrical Vehicles 
Retrofit 

Energy Engineering – specialised for offshore wind, tidal energy, 
marine energy 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Digital technology in health care 
Digital assimilation 
Connectivity with community support workers 
Digital consultation from hospitals and GP surgeries. 

Smart 
manufacturing 

New ways of manufacturing utilising robotics and new 
Digital technologies. 

Table 7 Key Skills identified to date 

 

2.10 Main Benefits Criteria 

The impact table 8 below shows the wider benefits which can be achieved from the City Deal.  To 
maximise these opportunities the RLSP will, during the lifetime of the project: 

➢ Align priorities and skill supply at all levels to the City Deal and this work will continue throughout 
the City Deal lifespan.   

➢ Support the region in taking increased responsibility for meeting UK and Welsh Governments’ 
skills targets, challenging the HE, FE and training providers to continue designing their curricula, 
work placements, adult education and access courses around the opportunities of the City Deal.  
This will result in a flow of STEM educated young people taking up apprenticeships and graduate 
employment opportunities. 

➢ Empower residents across the region to fully access and benefit from the opportunities of the 
Deal through working with local authorities, schools, businesses and any relevant groups.  

➢ Maximise local benefit where local businesses are most involved – procure local services where 
possible. 

Tudalen60



30 | P a g e  
 

➢ Generating a higher skilled workforce for the future. 
➢ Developing opportunities for all to follow a career path and gain the necessary qualifications to 

create a better quality of life for all. 
 
 

Tudalen61



31 | P a g e  
 

Table 8 Main Benefits Criteria. 

 
 
 

 

Investment Objective Main Benefits Criteria 

Objective 1:  
To directly deliver at 
least 2,200 additional 
skills and support the 
development of 
around 14,000 
individuals with higher 
skills Level 2 -8) within 

10 years.. 

Qualitative 
Higher skilled individuals for the jobs created through the City Deal projects. 
Quantifiable 
Increased number of higher skilled individuals from the baseline of 2019 statistics. 
Cash releasing 
Net income 
Non-cash releasing 
Contributes to increase in employment opportunities for local people. 

Objective 2: 
To create 3,000 new 
apprenticeship 
opportunities to 
include level 3 through 
to Degree 
apprenticeships. 

Qualitative 
Opportunities for all to achieve a qualification and skills for a career pathway in a 
vocational occupation. 
Quantifiable 
Number of apprenticeships offered through the construction phase of the projects, higher 
apprenticeships in the specific sectors. 
Cash releasing 
Net income 
Non-cash releasing 
Contributes to increase employment and training/upskilling opportunities for local 
people. 

Objective 3: 
To create at least 2 
Centres of Best 
Practice within 
specific sector(s) to 
develop the region as 
being the best area for 
skills development. 

Qualitative 
Developing a Centre that specialises in the development of fit for purpose skills within a 
particular sector(s). 
Quantifiable 
The number of Centres created in the region to deliver specific sector skills. 
Cash releasing 
Net income 
Non-cash releasing 
The development of the right skills regionally to meet the needs of the City Deal projects 
will retain the skilled individuals to work within the City Deal projects. 

Objective 4: 
To create a clear 
pathway from school 
education through FE 
and HE in the key 
areas of digital, 
energy, smart 
manufacturing and 
life-science and 
wellbeing, through 
engagement and 
development work 
with schools 
increasing the number 
of pupils following 
STEM subjects in 
FE/HE. 

Qualitative 
Inspiring the next generation to take the correct path in their career will be the focus of 
the engagement with schools.  Developing the pathway for children from primary school 
through to secondary school through the introduction of new vocational training 
opportunities specialist workshops etc. 
Quantifiable 
Increased number of children following STEM subjects and/or vocational courses. 
Cash releasing 
Net-income 
Non-cash releasing 
Engagement with children at a young age and incorporating the regional needs within 
the new school curriculum of all schools will develop the future workforce for the region. 

Objective 5: 
To deliver 20 

new/updated course 

frameworks that meet 

industry training 

needs 

 

Qualitative 
Developing new and updating existing frameworks to meet the needs of the projects and 
employers across the region. 
Quantifiable 
The number of new frameworks developed, or existing frameworks updated  
Cash releasing 
Net income. 
Non-cash releasing 
Additional benefit for employers with frameworks that meet their business needs. 

Tudalen62



32 | P a g e  
 

2.12 Risks and counter measures 

Risk management is an integral feature of the Skills and Talent programme and the programme 
register Appendix F covers all aspects of the business case – Strategic, Economic, Commercial, 
Financial and Management.  The RLSP Board are ultimately responsible for managing all aspects 
of the programme and the project and risk plans will be reviewed on an ongoing basis by the 
Programme Board with any new risks escalated to the RLSP Board where actions will be 
implemented. 

The strategic risks associated with the project are shown in table 9 below together with mitigation 
measures: 

 

Strategic Risk  Mitigation Measure 

Development  

City Deal Funding not 

secured – without this 

funding the programme 

will not be implemented. 

The project funding has been identified and the project will work with 

the Swansea Bay City Deal programme office to ensure that the 

grant funding is available in a timely manner. 

Lack of data to develop 

robust Economic Case 

for the programme that 

will meet the 

requirements of the HM 

Treasury Green Book 

Working with all of the project leads and all stakeholders to gather 

robust evidence to support the Economic Case utilising information 

already gathered by the RLSP regarding gaps in provision together 

with Industry evidence of need. 

Programme Timescale 

slippage 

Slippage of the project would impact on the delivery of training to 

meet the needs of the City Deal projects.  It is intended to regularly 

monitor progress to limit any slippage in the timescale. 

Business Case  

Length of time for 

approval of the 

business case 

Engage with stakeholders to ensure approval of the business case is 

processed in the shortest time possible. 

Lack of resources 

/Insufficient capacity to 

Project manage the 

programme and to 

deliver the stated 

activities and results  

An identified team has been included within the Business case to 

manage the programme and to develop hew areas of working with 

schools. 

Financial  

Organisational and 

financial risks 

associated with taking 

on this project 

The nature of the organisations involved in the Partnership is such 

that relatively high levels of knowledge, skills and experience in 

financial management and probity can be clearly demonstrated.   

 

The programme does 

not secure sufficient 

• The RLSP Board provides strong leadership with all partners 

in place. 

Tudalen63



33 | P a g e  
 

partner/stakeholder buy 

in. 
• Strong working relationship already exists with education 

sector. 

• Key private sector cluster groups involvement in the 

development of the projects 

• Progress report to every Board meeting. 

Delivery  

Failure to increase the 

number of skilled 

individuals. 

The intention is to increase the number of skilled people across the 

region and particularly higher skilled and the programme has been 

designed to ensure that the correct skills are developed to meet the 

needs of the projects and employers across the region.  The Skills 

Solution group will work to identify the gaps and develop the projects 

to deliver the solutions. 

Lead times in the 

development of a new 

skills offer in the region. 

Identifying the key skills and ensuring that Welsh Government agree 

to include the courses within future provision within FE and 

apprenticeship. 

 

Failure to engage with 

training providers to 

deliver the necessary 

skills development 

The training providers are all engaged with the programme and sit on 

the Provider group and all will have the opportunity to work with the 

programme to deliver the identified skills across the region.  If FE or 

HE institutions do not engage with the delivery recommendations 

alternative options would be considered to procure services from 

other delivery partners. 

Early engagement with all key stakeholders with agreed delivery 

programme timetable. 

Table 9 – Strategic Risk and Mitigation 

2.13 Constraints 

In developing the programme including the investment and proposed activities, consideration has 
been given to a number of constraints specifically that all activities would need to either be self-
financing or be included within the Welsh Government portfolio of courses for further Education in 
the future. The impact of Covid-19 has introduced constraints and the impact will remain for some 
time regarding the way training is delivered and new job opportunities that will exist post Covid-19 
that may not have been considered as career paths by individuals previously. 

The project will be subject to the following constraints: 

• Time delay in the approval of the programme business case. 

• UK and Welsh Government Policy in relation to training and education. 

• Support from the FE and HE sector to implement the changes within their delivery 
mechanism.   

• Securing funding from the private sector. 

• Ensuring that the capacity is present to meet the aims and objectives of the Programme.  
• Covid-19 restrictions on the delivery of training and education. 

2.14 Dependencies 

The future success of the Skills and Talent programme will depend on the close alignment of all 

the City Deal projects and integration with all the existing delivery models and the development of 

a viable and sustainable pipeline of individuals with the right skills to support the City Deal projects 

and the opportunities that are being made available therein. 

Tudalen64



34 | P a g e  
 

In order to succeed in the approach there has to be a close alignment with all the local and 

national stakeholders to: 

✓ Continuously review and align skills needs and integrate within the regional Skills Plans. 

✓ Review skills needs as a result of Covid-19 pandemic. 

✓ Work with skills partners and employers through workshops; meetings and surveys to 

understand changing demands. 

✓ Work with the RLSP on the Labour Market Information (LMI) to monitor any changes 

across the region. 

✓ Work with the existing and new City Deal projects to monitor any new skills needs. 

The unique nature of the projects is a key driver of the City Deal and this allows for each to work 

independently with the success of one not completely dependent on the success of another. Key 

to the success of the City Deal programme and the increase in economic activity, productivity and 

GVA of the region is an improved skills base across all levels and employment sectors.  Improving 

the skills base is crucial in creating a region that is able to; compete with other areas of the UK and 

attract talent, whilst also retaining the talent that already exists in the colleges; universities; 

workplaces and in the schools where the employees of the future need to be nurtured and 

informed of current and future employment opportunities in the region. 

It is therefore evident that the projects will be supported and further strengthened by one another. 

With this flexibility the projects will be in a favourable position to identify opportunities for 

collaboration therefore creating synergies as opportunities arise, this will promote the free 

movement of people, the growth of businesses and the attraction of inward investment.  

The development of a City Deal for Swansea Bay comes at an important time, as employment and 
skills support are undergoing change with competing demands for different skills and greater 
flexibility in training called for. The Covid-19 pandemic is considered to be one of the most significant 
global events in recent history and its’ impact on the labour market and skills will be demonstrated 
in the Business Case.    

The City Deal gives the region a once in a lifetime opportunity to shape the training offered and 
delivered across the region to ensure that there are opportunities for all to increase their attainment 
levels and the ability to get a well-paid job in the region. The development of clear pathways from 
key stage 1 to key stage 4 and opportunities to retrain while in work will be the key to the success 
of the programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen65



35 | P a g e  
 

3.0 Economic Case 

3.1 Overview 

This section of the Business Case assesses the overall economic costs and benefits of the 
programme in line with the HM Treasury’s Green Book.  The section sets out the of those options, 
the critical success factors and the identification of the long and short list and the appraisal of the 
short list through economic assessment. 

The Skills and Talent Programme is a unique programme within the suite of the City Deal projects 
that will deliver a skills training solution offering the best value for money and maximum opportunity 
for the widest range of individuals across the region. A skilled workforce was identified by the projects 
as being a significant success factor and dependency for delivering the aims of the SBCD portfolio. 
The programme will deliver a tailored, sectoral model of engagement involving partnerships with 
employers, industry bodies, schools, colleges, universities and training providers working together 
to transform the skills system.  

3.2 Evidence of demand for the Programme 

This section provides information and evidence which supports the strategic case for the Skills and 
Talent Programme.   

The successful delivery of the SBCD ambitions and regional economic advancement is dependent 

on having the right people with the right skills at the right time. Building on existing strengths and 

established Regional Learning and Skills Partnership, the programme will focus skills development 

across all levels (level 2 – 8) and to drive change across the educational landscape of the SBCR. 

To support and achieve the ambitions of the Swansea Bay City deal having the ‘right people with 

the right skills at the right time’ is essential to the success of the region. The programme will look to 

build upon the existing established structures of the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership 

(RLSP) to focus the development of skills across all levels and to drive change across the 

educational landscape of the City Region.  

The region needs to capitalise on previous and current opportunities that have potential to change 

the economic prosperity of the people and businesses in the SBCR. The region suffers with areas 

of high unemployment, low skills and high rates of economic inactivity. There is a risk that unless 

intervention is immediate and co-ordinated the region risks being ‘left behind’ and to miss the 

opportunities that are presented. The economy and workforce of the region has been impacted 

even further with the Covid-19 pandemic Furlough rates have been significant and there is an 

increased risk of redundancies and increased unemployment following the end of Government 

intervention. The Skills and Talent programme aims to address some of the immediate needs to 

upskill people into new industries, many of the opportunities have been created as a result of the 

pandemic. 

The SBCR continues to perform poorly in productivity and continues to lag behind the UK average 
in GVA terms. Nominal smoothed GVA per filled job in the SBCR was 79.5 as of 2018, compared 
with an indexed value of 100 for the UK.32  Although there has been a positive uplift in relation to 
economic activity and employment within the city region there is little to suggest that this new 
employment is having any significant effect on the productivity and overall competitiveness of the 
region with a risk of trapping individuals into a cycle of low skill, low pay employment. 

Human capital much like financial capital flows to areas where returns are greatest and currently the 
region suffers from a loss of some if its higher skilled individuals to other locations both within Wales, 
across the UK and Internationally. This can be evidenced by reports undertaken by WISERD and 
the lower numbers of higher skilled (NVQ level 4+) residents compared to key economic areas 
across the UK.  An example of where this has happened in our region is when the Murco refinery 

 
32https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/economicoutputandproductivity/productivitymeasures/datasets/subregionalpro
ductivitylabourproductivitygvaperhourworkedandgvaperfilledjobindicesbycityregion  

Tudalen66

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/economicoutputandproductivity/productivitymeasures/datasets/subregionalproductivitylabourproductivitygvaperhourworkedandgvaperfilledjobindicesbycityregion
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/economicoutputandproductivity/productivitymeasures/datasets/subregionalproductivitylabourproductivitygvaperhourworkedandgvaperfilledjobindicesbycityregion


36 | P a g e  
 

closed in Pembrokeshire and the Engineers moved away to other regions and Pembrokeshire lost 
those skills.  When new investors were then attracted to Pembrokeshire there was a difficulty in 
recruiting people with the right skills to support that investment, this continues to be a problem in the 
region with many skilled individuals moving away from the region to higher paid opportunities 
elsewhere in the UK. 

The continued failure to improve the relative economic performance is a strong indicator that the 
current structure of the city region economy is no longer fit for purpose and in need of intervention. 
The Skills and Talent programme must increase the sills level of individuals in the emerging sectors 
and address these areas at an early stage to develop the talent pipeline and to support employers 
to attract the ‘right people with the right skills at the right time’ to minimise the potential risk of 
displacement and ensure sustainability and employment for citizens of the city region.  Table 10 
below describes how to create that High skilled workforce that is required in the region in order to 
meet the City Deal projects. 

 

Table 10 Source: Low skill traps in sectors and geographies: underlying factors and means of escape, 
Anne Green, Institute for Employment Research, University of Warwick 

To respond to this challenge, the Skills and Talent Programme approach is to deliver additional skills 

provision in support of the 8 City Deal Projects, undertake wider skills engagement work, develop 

sector-specific Centres of Excellence and create a pathway for higher skills training. The 8 City Deal 

Projects are focussed on 5 themes Digital, Energy, Construction, Life-sciences and Smart 

Manufacturing. In order to assess the scale of demand and requirement for additional skill provisions 

in these sectors, the Programme sponsors, the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership has 

considered existing skills information in the region. Whilst existing data does not currently specify 

the regional skills deficit individually for these sectors, ONS data of skills levels attained as at 2019 

(source: Nomis March 2021) clearly demonstrates the overall scale of the deficit. Applying the 

percentage differentials used in the data, and when adjusted for population size, the region has a 

skills gap of over 49,000 skills across all levels and sectors when compared with the GB average. 

This is even more pronounced at higher skills levels with a 20,386 shortfall at NVQ Level 4+ and 

14,214 at NVQ Level 3+, totalling 34,600 higher skills’ deficit. 

Tudalen67



37 | P a g e  
 

Out of total regional employment numbers of 273,000, the 4 City Deal sectors currently account for 

c.52% of regional employment (Economic Acceleration 50,250; Energy 26,700; Life-sciences 49,000 

and Smart Manufacturing 16,500 – Source: EMSI 2020). On a strict pro-rata basis, this would 

indicate there is a c. 25,000 skills deficit across these sectors. However, this number needs to be 

adjusted recognising that vocational skills are primarily chosen at the higher skills levels. The RLSP 

has overall concluded that a sensible stretch target is that the region should aim to create an 

additional c.17,000 skills/apprenticeships (52% of the higher skills levels total deficit of 34,600 skills) 

as a middle to long term planning objective to close the current regional skills deficit within the 5 Key 

Themes. 

Equally however, it has to be recognised that just providing new courses at the higher skills levels 

is unlikely to be effective over the 5-year delivery and 10 year monitoring period as each individual 

can only progress one level at a time and the process from Level 2 to 6 takes several years as a 

minimum. Recognising this inevitable time lag, the Programme needs to support new technical 

courses across skills levels, promote the initiation of an increased STEM ‘skills pipeline’ from school 

level and also enable technical upskilling across the existing workforce through Centres of 

Excellence facilities. 

For Programme planning and costing purposes therefore, the RLSP has developed the following 

breakdown of the required 17,000 skills/apprenticeships across skill levels, 

Course Places by Skill 

Level 

Level 2 2,800 

Level 3 2,800 

Level 4 4,200 

Level 5 2,800 

Level 6-8 1,400 

Total 14,000 

Apprenticeships (level 3 – 6)    3,000 

To assess the additional skills requirements for the 8 City Deal Projects alone, the RLSP has 

undertaken a series of discussions and skills workshops with each of the projects. However, the 

projects overall have not yet reached a sufficient level of development to refine their skills 

requirements into detailed numbers, and due to their innovative nature, by definition, for some the 

scope and capability of future skills needs is very difficult to fully foresee. Whilst therefore it is evident 

from the Programme Business Cases that significant new skills development places and courses 

will need to be created within the 5 Key Themes to enable the projects to deliver their projected 

outcomes, numbers shown are only indicative at this time.  

The projected total new job creation across all the City Deal projects is in excess of 9,000. However 

clearly not all 9,000 will require new skills training and a key criterion of this Skills and Talent 

Programme is that it will only contribute to the development of new skills courses and not duplicate 

existing provision. Based on the current City Deal Projects’ information, the RLSP’s current estimate 

is there will be a requirement for at least 2,200 jobs/skills which are not currently supported by 

existing courses in the region, broken down into skills levels as follows,  

  

  

  

Tudalen68



38 | P a g e  
 

  

Course Places by Skill 

Level 

Level 2 455 

Level 3 455 

Level 4 683 

Level 5 455 

Level 6-8 228 
 

 

Total                                                                 2,276 
 

 Apprenticeships (level 3 – 6)                 3,000 

3.3 Investment Objectives. 

The following Investment Objectives for the programme were discussed and agreed: 

Tudalen69



39 | P a g e  
 

 

Table 11 Investment Objectives. 

 

 

Investment Objective Main Benefits Criteria 

Objective 1:  
To directly deliver at 
least 2,200 additional 
skills and support the 
development of 
around 14,000 
individuals with higher 
skills Level 2 -8) within 

10 years.. 

Qualitative 
Higher skilled individuals for the jobs created through the City Deal projects. 
Quantifiable 
Increased number of higher skilled individuals from the baseline of 2019 statistics. 
Cash releasing 
Net income 
Non-cash releasing 
Contributes to increase in employment opportunities for local people. 

Objective 2: 
To create 3,000 new 
apprenticeship 
opportunities to 
include level 3 through 
to Degree 
apprenticeships. 

Qualitative 
Opportunities for all to achieve a qualification and skills for a career pathway in a 
vocational occupation. 
Quantifiable 
Number of apprenticeships offered through the construction phase of the projects, higher 
apprenticeships in the specific sectors. 
Cash releasing 
Net income 
Non-cash releasing 
Contributes to increase employment and training/upskilling opportunities for local 
people. 

Objective 3: 
To create at least 2 
Centres of Best 
Practice within 
specific sector(s) to 
develop the region as 
being the best area for 
skills development. 

Qualitative 
Developing a Centre that specialises in the development of fit for purpose skills within a 
particular sector(s). 
Quantifiable 
The number of Centres created in the region to deliver specific sector skills. 
Cash releasing 
Net income 
Non-cash releasing 
The development of the right skills regionally to meet the needs of the City Deal projects 
will retain the skilled individuals to work within the City Deal projects. 

Objective 4: 
To create a clear 
pathway from school 
education through FE 
and HE in the key 
areas of digital, 
energy, smart 
manufacturing and 
life-science and 
wellbeing, through 
engagement and 
development work 
with schools 
increasing the number 
of pupils following 
STEM subjects in 
FE/HE. 

Qualitative 
Inspiring the next generation to take the correct path in their career will be the focus of 
the engagement with schools.  Developing the pathway for children from primary school 
through to secondary school through the introduction of new vocational training 
opportunities specialist workshops etc. 
Quantifiable 
Increased number of children following STEM subjects and/or vocational courses. 
Cash releasing 
Net-income 
Non-cash releasing 
Engagement with children at a young age and incorporating the regional needs within 
the new school curriculum of all schools will develop the future workforce for the region. 

Objective 5: 
To deliver 20 

new/updated course 

frameworks that meet 

industry training 

needs 

 

Qualitative 
Developing new and updating existing frameworks to meet the needs of the projects and 
employers across the region. 
Quantifiable 
The number of new frameworks developed, or existing frameworks updated  
Cash releasing 
Net income. 
Non-cash releasing 
Additional benefit for employers with frameworks that meet their business needs. 

Tudalen70



40 | P a g e  
 

3.4 Critical Success Factors 

The critical success factors of the programme will be measured across the next 10 years and will be 
achieved by bringing together the stakeholders to deliver the skilled workforce, without which the 
individual projects would not necessarily succeed.  The aim is to increase productivity and earnings 
and reduce the gap between lowest and highest earners and the number of people without any or 
below level 2 qualifications. 

These were as follows 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 12 Critical Success Factors 

The process of identifying the critical success factors was undertaken through initial workshops with 
a number of key stakeholders followed by a number of key meetings to discuss the aims and needs 
of the programme and agreement of the critical success factors.  The following Critical success 
factors were agreed and were ratified at a Workshop of all the training providers and project leads 
held on the 23rd September 2020.   

3.5 Long-listed options 

The following long list options were identified for the scope of the programme and agreed by the 

Senior Programme Team: 

1. Do Nothing – City Deal skills needs supported only by existing programmes/providers  
 

2. Do Minimum – create a dedicated Skills Programme team to enhance employers and 
schools’ engagement with City Deal Projects at an estimated cost of £1m 

 
3. City Deal Skills Fund – create Skills Fund from City Deal resources available to City Deal 

projects only at an estimated cost of £8m 
 

Critical Success Factors 

Strategic Fit • Strategically aligned to the Swansea Bay City Deal 
• Strategically aligned to the Welsh Government Education and 

Skills strategy and Wellbeing and Future Generations Act. 
• Delivers the future skills requirements for the region and the skills 

needs of the 8 projects that make up the City Deal. 
• Increasing the number of people with higher level qualifications  
• Retraining people in the region to give the opportunities to all. 
• Developing resilient learners with a life-long attitude to learning. 

Value for 
Money 

• Reduce the duplication that could occur if all 8 City Deal projects 
managed their own skills programme by bringing together the 
skills requirements across the region. 

• The programme offers Value for money and avoids duplication. 
• Achieve a viable cost benefit ration compared to other options 

Supplier 
capacity 
and 
capability 

• Training providers from across the region are keen to work 
together to achieve the aims of the programme. 

• Reduce costs by delivering skills in a way that meet the needs of 
all employers. 

Affordability • Demonstrate the affordability of the Programme within the 
defined funding arrangements from the City Deal, Public and 
Private Sector 

Achievability • Delivery of option is achievable within the timescale, available 
funding and capacity. 

Tudalen71



41 | P a g e  
 

4. Supported City Deal Skills Fund - create a dedicated Skills Programme team to enhance 
employers and schools’ engagement and manage awards from the City Deal Skills Fund to 
City Deal Projects only at an estimated cost of £10m 

  

5. Targeted Skills Delivery – create RLSP project team and leverage public/private funding to 
address all City Deal Projects’ skills gaps at an estimated cost of £30m 

 

6. City Deal Ambitious - deliver a full suite of skills training to meet regional needs of all four 
themes of the City Deal at an estimated cost of £153m 

 

7. Do Maximum – deliver a full suite of skills training to redress the entire regional skills gap at 
an estimated cost of £518m. 

 

The long list options chosen are regarded as a reasonable and expansive list of options that could 
theoretically achieve the Programme’s objectives.  These options were considered by  the Senior 
Project Team on the 12th April 2021. The long and short list of options were approved by the RLSP 
Board on the 14th April, 2021 
 

1. Do Nothing will be carried forward as the status quo reference option 

 

2. Do Minimum was rejected as it would not address the known skills deficit thereby 

endangering delivery of City Deal job creation targets. 

 

3. City Deal Skills Fund was seen as valuable in providing extra funding for necessary 

new/additional skills training. However, it would not address Investment Objectives 3-5 and 

was therefore rejected 

 

4. Supported City Deal Skills Fund was seen as potentially able to address all 5 Investment 

Objectives and will be carried forward   

 

5. Targeted Skills Delivery was seen as able to address all Investment Objectives and 

potentially to lever in significant public and private sector match funding, further increasing 

the impact of the Programme. This option was therefore carried forward 

 

6. City Deal Ambitious was seen as desirable and able to provide greater regional impact, 

potentially achieving outputs even beyond those contained in the Investment Objectives. This 

option was therefore carried forward. 

 

Do Maximum was seen as highly desirable in that if successful it could address the entire known 
regional skills gap. However, the financial resources required would be unaffordable and the outputs 
would be well beyond the scope of the City Deal Programme. This option was therefore rejected. 

3.6  Short List Options 

 The following 4 Options were therefore selected to go forward into the shortlist appraisal, 

 Option 1 – Do Nothing 

Option 2 – Supported City Deal Skills Fund 

Option 3 – Targeted Skills Delivery 

Option 4 – City Deal Ambitious 

Tudalen72



42 | P a g e  
 

 

3.7 Short List Options Appraisal 

A Senior Team Options workshop was held, the attendees were asked to consider the relative 

merits and disadvantages of each option against both the investment objectives and critical 

success factors. Attendees assessed the options on the themes of scope, service solution, service 

delivery, implementation and funding as well as provide general comments around the practical 

and strategic aspects.  

Scope 

The scope of each Option is described below, 

Option 1 – Do Nothing 

To continue to deliver training through existing methods, with no additional funding. The FE, HE and 

training providers would offer the existing frameworks with no update or development of new 

opportunities.  The RLSP would continue to gather data and do a minimal amount of work with 

schools. 

Option 2 – Supported City Deal Skills Fund 

A Skills Programme team would be recruited to enhance the employer and project engagement to 

identify the skills gaps and work with schools to share the opportunities that would be created 

through the City Deal projects.  The eight Projects of the City Deal would deliver their own training 

solutions independently, bidding into the City Deal Skills Fund as required 

Option 3 – Targeted Skills Delivery 

The RLSP would explore the skills needs of all 8 projects and identify the gaps. A dedicated Skills 

Programme team would be appointed who would work with the City Deal Project leads, the wider 

employers and the training leads to develop an action plan to deliver the appropriate solutions to the 

skills gaps identified and using City Deal Programme funds to leverage public and private sector 

match funding. The solutions would be delivered as Skills Programme projects which would be 

developed by the Skills Programme team with key partners. The Programme team would work with 

schools and all education and training providers to highlight the skills needs and co-ordinate the 

future opportunities from the City Deal projects. 

Option 4 – City Deal Ambitious 

This option would allow for the delivery of a full suite of skills training to meet the needs of all industry 

sectors within the five themes of the City Deal – Construction, Energy, Digital, Smart Manufacturing 

and Life Science. The RLSP would explore the skills needs of all these sectors and identify the gaps. 

An enhanced dedicated Skills Programme team would be appointed who would work with public 

bodies, wider employers and the training leads to develop an action plan to deliver the appropriate 

solutions to the skills gaps identified and using City Deal Programme funds to leverage public and 

private sector match funding. The Skills Programme team would work intensively with all schools, 

colleges and universities to raise the awareness of and develop new skills programmes to address 

the sector gaps. 

Analysis 

• Option 1 –     The Do-Nothing Option would not contribute to the achievement of any of the 
Investment Objectives.  

• Option 2 –   Within the scope of Option 2, there would be organisational support for the development 
of apprenticeships and school pathways but the Programme would lack cohesion and fail to deliver a 
strategic solution.  

• Option 3 –    Successful delivery of the Targeted Skills Delivery Option would fully deliver meet 4 of 
the 5 Investment Objectives and achieve all Critical Success Factors. 

Tudalen73



43 | P a g e  
 

• Option 4 –    The City Deal Ambitious Option would also meet 4 of the 5 Investment Objectives but 
struggle for affordability and raise serious doubts regarding achievability and capacity due to the 
scale of deliverables. 

Results 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 

Scope  Do Nothing Supported City 

Deal Skills Fund 
Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

City Deal Ambitious 

Investment 

objectives 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

Critical 

Success 

Factors 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

Service Solution 

The service solution for each option is shown below: 

Option 1  

No change to the existing skills and training provision via the colleges, universities and training 

providers across the region.  Engagement with schools would continue as is via the RLSP but no 

specific projects would be developed, or City Deal funding made available. 

Option 2  

Engage a dedicated Skills Programme team at an estimated cost of £1M to engage with 

employers and project engagement to identify the skills gaps and work with schools to share the 

opportunities that would be created through the City Deal projects at an estimated cost of £500k. 

Develop a Co-ordinated Action Plan to create 2 Centres for Excellence across the City Deal 

themes supported by match funding of £500k. Create an £8M City Deal Skills Fund with suitable 

award criteria and invite applications for training funding to support the requirements of the 8 City 

Deal projects.  

Option 3 

Identify the skills needs and the new qualifications that require to be developed and piloted 

throughout the region to support the eight City Deal Projects in the 5 key themes of Digital, Energy, 

Construction, Life science & wellbeing and manufacturing. Engage a dedicated Skills Programme 

team to engage with employers and project engagement to identify the skills gaps at an estimated 

cost of £1M. Work with schools to share the opportunities that would be created through the City 

Deal projects and support the development by schools of higher skills pathways, with funding of 

£500k. Develop an action plan to deliver the appropriate solutions to the skills gaps identified and 

using City Deal Programme funds (£10m) to leverage public and private sector match 

funding/contribution5 to create a £28M total value Skills Fund for City Deal Projects. The solutions 

would be delivered as Skills Programme projects which would be developed by the Skills 

Programme team working with the City Deal Projects and stakeholders and with key partners. 

Develop a Co-ordinated Action Plan to create at least 2 Centres for Excellence across the City 

Deal themes supported by funding of £500k.  

Option 4  

Identify the skills needs and the new qualifications that require to be developed and piloted 

throughout the region to address the key City Deal themes – Energy, Digital, construction, Smart 

Manufacturing and Life Science. Engage a dedicated Skills Programme team to engage with 

employers and project engagement to identify the skills gaps and work with schools to share the 

Tudalen74



44 | P a g e  
 

opportunities that would be created throughout the region in the target sectors. Develop an action 

plan to deliver the appropriate solutions to the skills gaps identified and using City Deal 

Programme funds to leverage public and private sector match funding to create a £153M total 

value Skills Fund for the region. The solutions would be delivered as Skills Programme projects 

which would be developed by the Skills Programme team working with both the City Deal Projects 

and other regional projects within the Key Themes. Develop a Co-ordinated Action Plan to create 

at least 2 Centres for Excellence across the City Deal themes.  

Analysis 

• Option 1 –   This would bring no change to the status quo and maintain the current risk to 
          the City Deal Project outcomes if the required new/additional skills are not   
          provided. 

• Option 2 –    This Option would create investment in the development of future skills courses and 
support schools in creating appropriate pathways to the new skills and jobs being 
provided by the City Deal. However, the Programme, relying entirely on the scale and 
type of support bids from the individual City Deal projects would lack cohesion and the 
ability to ensure a sustainable response to the current skills deficit.  

• Option 3 –   The Targeted Skills Delivery Option would meet the need for a co-ordinated 
Programme of skills support across the other City Deal Projects to deliver the skills 
requirements of the City Deal projects in a managed and cost-effective way. It would 
also ensure the sustainability of this delivery by investing in the development of future 
skills courses and supporting schools in creating appropriate pathways to the new 
skills and jobs being provided by the City Deal. Support for a Centre of Excellence in 
any of the 5 key themes would also address the critical need for facilities to support 
upskilling of the existing workforce across the region.  

• Option 4 –   This Option would address the full sector skills deficit in the 5 key 

       themes across the region, within a dedicated Programme. However, it 
                                       would require a scale of financial and human resource which is currently 
                                       unavailable and face serious practical difficulties in delivery, making it a high  
                                       risk solution.  
Results 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 

Scope  Do Nothing Supported City 

Deal Skills Fund 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

City Deal Ambitious 

Investment 

objectives 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

Critical 

Success 

Factors 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

 

Service Delivery 

The service delivery solution for each option is shown below: 

Option 1  

Training delivered by individual Colleges, universities, training providers and schools as existing. 

RLSP continues to identify skills needs. 

Option 2  

City Deal Projects bid individually into the City Deal Skills Fund and source their training 

requirements from existing providers. Skills Programme team manage funding awards and engage 

with employers and schools to raise awareness of City Deal opportunities. 

Tudalen75



45 | P a g e  
 

Option 3  

Single delivery model reducing duplication of effort and costs of delivering the training solutions for 

the City Deal projects. Co-ordinated programme delivered by the Skills Programme team working 

with the City Deal Projects directly and with key partners. Skills Programme team manage funding 

awards, engage with employers and schools to raise awareness of City Deal opportunities and 

develop at least 2 Centres of Excellence. 

Option 4  

Single delivery model reducing duplication of effort and costs of delivering the training solutions for 

the City Deal Key Themes. Co-ordinated programme delivered by the Skills Programme team 

working with the City Deal Projects and regional employers and bodies representing the Key 

Themes. Skills Programme team manage funding awards, engage with employers and schools to 

raise awareness of City Deal opportunities and develop at least 2 Centres of Excellence. 

Analysis 

• Option 1 – This Option would bring no additional service delivery capacity to that which is already 
existing. Any new skills requirements would rely entirely on additional investment in new course 
development from existing providers from existing resources which are already fully committed 
to existing courses.  
 

• Option 2 – This Option would put in place a fully resourced and dedicated team to engage with 
stakeholders and schools and with the capability to assess City Deal Projects’ individual 
applications for skills support. However, the opportunity would be lost to co-ordinate an 
integrated programme of skills delivery and leverage the additional financial and human 
resources of regional educational institutions. 

 

• Option 3 – Whilst requiring greater co-ordination and the ability to secure the commitment of 
regional educational stakeholders, the Targeted Skills Delivery Option would put in place co-
ordinated resource to deliver the skills requirements of the City Deal projects in a managed and 
cost-effective way. 

 

• Option 4 – This Option would as with Option 3, deliver a co-ordinated and managed resource and 
potentially addressing the entire regional skills deficit within the 4 Key Themes of the City Deal. 
The scale of this Option however would be likely to demand additional regional capacity and 
resources beyond what is reasonably feasible to deliver within the Programme period.   

  Results 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 

Scope  Do Nothing Supported City 

Deal Skills Fund 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

City Deal Ambitious 

Investment 

objectives 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

Critical 

Success 

Factors 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

Implementation 

The implementation solution for each option is shown below: 

Option 1  

No change to existing delivery 

Tudalen76



46 | P a g e  
 

Option 2  

Dependent on individual City Deal Project timetables and when/if applications are made to the 

Skills Fund  

Option 3  

Identify the skills needs across the 8 City Deal Projects and deliver through a co-ordinated Skills 
Fund Programme. Immediate start with delivery over 5 years and monitoring over 10 years. 

Option 4 

Identify the skills needs across the five Key Themes and deliver the training needs for the priority 

sectors identified. Immediate start with delivery over 5 years and monitoring over 10 years. 

Analysis 

• Option 1 – This Option would rely on the maintaining of existing service delivery thereby creating 
no delay in implementation. 
 

• Option 2 – The Supported City Deal Skills Fund could commence implementation once the 
dedicated Project team could be recruited and put into operation (est. 6 months). 
Implementation of the £8M Projects Fund would rely entirely on the timing of applications being 
received from the individual Projects and the willingness of educational providers being prepared 
to deliver new courses on an ad hoc basis. 

 

• Option 3 – This Option could commence implementation once the dedicated Project team could 
be recruited and put into operation (est. 6 months). Discussions with the Educational Provider 
group confirm there is sufficient capacity and commitment across the regional educational 
providers to deliver the £24M programme of projects within the required 5 year delivery 
timetable of the Programme. 

 

• Option 4 – The City Deal Ambitious Option could commence implementation once the dedicated 
Project team could be recruited and put into operation (est. 6 months). However, the scale of 
new skills delivery proposed under this Option would be likely to incur significant time delays due 
to the major increase above current regional capacity required to deliver the Programme, 
potentially extending implementation over a much longer time period.  

 

Results 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 

Scope  Do Nothing Supported City 

Deal Skills Fund 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

City Deal Ambitious 

Investment 

objectives 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

Critical 

Success 

Factors 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

Funding 

The implementation solution for each option is shown below: 

Option 1  

No additional funding requirement 

Tudalen77



47 | P a g e  
 

Option 2  

£10M (£1M project team, £1M schools/infrastructure £8m projects fund) dedicated funding 

provided by the City Deal. 

Option 3  

 £10M (£1M project team, £1M schools/infrastructure, £8M projects) dedicated funding provided by 

the City Deal. £16M of other public match funding /in kind contribution, provided by education 

providers/local authorities and £4M of private sector match funding (apprenticeships)  

Option 4 

£153M of City Deal and other public funding, provided by education providers/local authorities and 

private sector match funding (apprenticeships)  

Analysis 

• Option 1 – This Option would maintain existing delivery levels within current third party budgets. 

• Option 2 – The Supported City Deal Skills Fund Option can be delivered entirely from provisionally 
allocated resources from within the City Deal internal budget. 

• Option 3 – This Option would rely on additional match funding being provided by regional 
educational providers in the form of new/additional course provision. The Regional Learning and 
Skills Partnership has already obtained support in principle from the appropriate regional 
organisations who have formed a dedicated Training Provider Group to meet this requirement.  

• Option 4 – Whilst having the potential to deliver much greater regional outcomes, the financial 
sums required to deliver the City Deal Ambitious Option are significantly beyond what the City 
Deal or Provider Group could commit to within existing, or anticipated future, resources. 

 
Results 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 

Scope  Do Nothing Supported City 

Deal Skills Fund 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

City Deal Ambitious 

Investment 

objectives 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

Critical 

Success 

Factors 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 

                    

 

Short List Options Summary 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 
 

Scope     

Service Solution     

Delivery     

Implementation     

Funding     

 

 

Tudalen78



48 | P a g e  
 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 
 

Objective 1     

Objective 2     

Objective 3      

Objective 4     

Objective 5      

 

Option 1 would purely maintain existing regional provision and fail to meet any of the Investment 

Objectives of the Programme.  

Option 2 carries the lowest risk in terms of implementation as it can be operated and funded 

entirely from allocated City Deal resources. However, it could only achieve around a third of the 

additional skills required by Investment Objective 1 and would be likely to result in uncoordinated 

and ad hoc delivery of training needs.  

Option 3 was found to have the capability to meet Programme objectives from identified City Deal 

and Partner contributions and provide the increased delivery capacity within the Programme 

timescales. It also can deliver a co-ordinated Programme to maximise cost effectiveness and 

ensure City Deal Projects’ additional skills requirements are managed to align with timing needs.  

Option 4 could meet and significantly exceed all Programme objectives, delivering a major skill’s 

boost for the region. However, the financial and other capacity requirements are beyond what the 

City Deal and its identified Partners could provide and no additional sources of public and/or 

private funding can be identified. The scale of this Option would also raise very severe challenges 

in developing the additional human/organisational capacity required within the required 

Programme timescale. 

Option 3 was therefore chosen as the preferred option as it satisfied all Critical Skills Factors and 

all of the Investment Objectives with the exception of Investment Objective 3 where it received an 

amber rating. 

 

3.8 ECONOMIC APPRAISAL 

3.8.1 Introduction 

This section provides a detailed overview of the costs and benefits associated with each of the 

selected short-listed options.  The detailed information and calculations supporting the conclusions 

reached are attached at Appendix G – Skills and Talent Programme Cost Benefit Analysis. The 

calculations are at this stage of the Business Case process, based on external educational 

statistical data, as it is not possible to calculate specific City Deal Project requirements, costs and 

benefits. Costs are based on usual education costs and benefits are based on national statistics of 

additional income derived from each higher skill level. 

 

3.8.3 Estimating Benefits 

The Skills and Talent Programme has an enabling role in the SBCD in developing the appropriate 

skills supply pipeline to populate the additional jobs necessary for the City Deal projects to achieve 

their objectives from within the region as far as is possible. Consequently, any quantitative and 

qualitative benefits to be derived from the Skills and Talent Programme are effectively already 

‘double-counted’ within these Projects’ declared outcome targets. 

Tudalen79



49 | P a g e  
 

The approach to the Skills and Talent Programme Business Case therefore is not to evaluate the 

Programme by the benefits delivered directly by the activity but to assess the cost effectiveness of 

the Programme in delivering the required skills (relative to existing skills delivery benchmarks) and 

as the means to compare different delivery options. The benefits to individuals from achieving 

incremental skills qualifications/levels in terms of additional annual remuneration is well 

documented from national statistics and other data. The estimated effects on regional income can 

therefore be calculated on an annual basis and the cost effectiveness of each option deduced. 

To calculate benefits for the Skills and Talent Programme Options reference has been made to 

national statistics on additional income to be derived by individuals as each higher skill level is 

achieved. 

 

 

Table 13 - Summary of Additional Income by Skill Level 

 

These translate into additional incomes as follows, 

NVQ Skill Level Achieved   Additional Annual Income (per person)  

Level 2      £4,160 

Level 3      £1,040 

Level 4      £1,560 

Level 5      £1,560 

Level 6-8     £5,720 

With regard to assessing net benefits for the City Deal region, allowances for leakage, 

displacement, multiplier effects and deadweight are already included within the project Business 

Cases for each of the other City Deal Projects, 

• Leakage – anticipated leakage beyond the City Deal target area is already included within each 

City Deal Project Business Case and can therefore be ignored for the Skills and Talent 

Programme   

• Displacement – as the Skills and Talent Programme will only deliver new skills/courses  

which do not currently exist, displacement is expected to be zero 

Tudalen80



50 | P a g e  
 

• Multiplier effects – any multiplier effects from economic activity associated with additional local 

income and local supplier purchases have been ignored as all benefits are already included within 

each City Deal Project Business Case 

• Deadweight – as, by definition, the Skills and Talent Programme will only deliver new 

skills/courses for Projects which would not materialise without the City Deal, deadweight is 

assumed to be zero. 

 

To calculate the benefits for each Option, the respective breakdown of skills to be offered by level 

set out in Section 3.2 above has been used. The calculations have assumed skills delivery being 

split evenly over the 5-year delivery period and that additional annual income, for each respective 

additional skills level achieved by an individual learner, is first earned 12 months after completion 

of the respective course.  The annual income growth will be measured over 15 years. For 

example, a full-time Level 3 learner on a 1-year course, and who commenced study in Year 3 of 

the Programme, would first earn additional income in Year 5 of the Programme. Likewise, a part-

time Level 6 learner undertaking a 6 year course, and who commenced study in Year 5 of the 

Programme would not earn additional income until Year 12 of the Programme. 

3.8.3 Summary of Benefits 

 Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal Ambitious 

Operational phase impacts 

Additional Income 
Generated p.a. at 
the end of the 
Programme period  

- £1.82M £5.46M £32.12M 

No. of Additional 
Skills Delivered 

- 760 2,276 14,000 

Table 14 – Summary of Additional Annual Income and Skills Delivered 

3.8.4 Estimating Costs 

Methodology 

Costs have been calculated using current course fees for skills being delivered in the region within 

related skills disciplines. The calculations have taken into account the number of skills expected to 

be delivered at each skill level in accordance with the table in Section 3.2 above, broken down into 

the projected proportion of full time and part time learners. 

Optimism Bias 

An allowance for optimism bias of 10% has also been made for each short-listed option to account 

for those risks not reflected.  The extent of optimism bias has been derived through consideration 

of the level of remaining risk and potential for increase. As all costs are based on current, standard 

public sector course costs, the potential for cost increase (excluding for inflation) is very low. Whilst 

the Programme will require the development of new courses, these costs are expected to be 

absorbed by the educational provider and recovered through course fees.  

As with economic benefits, the economic costs for all short-listed options have been appraised 

over a 15-year period (in line with the funding model for the SBCD), after allowing for Optimism 

Tudalen81



51 | P a g e  
 

Bias of 10% and discounted at a rate of 3.5% in line with the HM Treasury Green Book.  All 

discounted costs have been presented in 2021 prices, with general inflation excluded. 

 

Description, Sources and Assumptions 

The gross costs and funding under each of the short-listed options are described in Table 14 below,   

 

Source of funding Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted 

Skills Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal Ambitious 

City Deal - £10,000,000 £10,000,000 £57,552,000 

Other Public Sector - - £16,000,000 £92,083,200 

Private Sector - - £4,000,000 £4,000,000 

Total gross cost - £10,000,000 £30,000,000 £153,635,200 

Optimism bias (OB) 
@10% 

- £1,000,000 £3,000,000 £15,363,520 

Total gross cost plus 
OB 

- £11,000,000 £33,000,000 £168,998,720 

Table 15 - Summary of Gross Costs and Funding Sources 

 

Net Present Cost Findings (All Public Sector Costs, but excludes private sector 

costs/investment) 

 Undiscounted Value 

(£) 

Net Present Value 

 (£) 

Option 1 – Do Nothing  

Additional Income Generated - - 

Less City Deal funding                      -                      - 

Less  Other Public Sector     

Funding 

                     -                      - 

Total  -  - 

Option 2 – Supported City Deal Skills Fund 

Additional Income Generated £16,537,040 £11,932,301 

Less  City Deal Funding £10,000,000 £9,812,949 

Less  Other Public Sector     

Funding 

- - 

Total £5,537,040 £2,119,352 

Tudalen82



52 | P a g e  
 

Option 3 – Targeted Skills Delivery 

Additional Income Generated £49,603,320 £35,788,186 

Less City Deal funding £10,000,000 £9,812,949 

Less  Other Public Sector     

Funding 

£16,000,000 £15,700,965 

Total £23,603,320 £10,274,272 

Option 4 – City Deal Ambitious 

Additional Income Generated £292,948,032 £211,535,059 

Less City Deal funding   £57,552,000   £56,482,633 

Less  Other Public Sector     

Funding 

 £92,083,200             £90,372,214 

Total £143,312,832   £64,680,212 

Table 16 – Net Present Cost Findings 

Option Ranking 

The Short-listed Options have been ranked in terms of their respective costs and benefits (All Public 

Sector Costs).  The results are summarised in Table 17. It can be seen that whilst Option 4 ranks 

the highest in terms of costs, it ranks the highest in terms of additional income benefits and overall 

Net Present Value (costs net all benefits), followed by Option 3. 

 

Options Ranking Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal 

Ambitious 

Net Present Cost 1 2 3 4 

Additional Income 4 3 2 1 

Net Present Value 4 3 2 1 

Overall Ranking 4 3 2 1 

Table17 – Short-list Options Costs and Benefits Ranking 

Value for Money Assessment 

City Deal Funding only 

 Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal Ambitious 

City Deal funding (after allowing for optimism bias) 

Undiscounted City 
Deal funding 

- £10,000,000 £10,000,000    £57,552,000 

Tudalen83



53 | P a g e  
 

Discounted City 
Deal funding 

- £9,812,949    £9,812,949     £56,475,484 

Additional Income benefits (discounted) 

  £11,932,301 £35,788,186 £211,535,059 

Cost effectiveness 

Cost per net 
additional skill 

- £12,912 £4,460      £4,034 

Benefit/Cost Ratio -         1.216           3.647      3.745 

Table 18 – Value for Money Assessment, City Deal Costs only 

All Public Sector Costs 

 Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal Ambitious 

All Public Sector funding (after allowing for optimism bias) 

Undiscounted 
Public Sector 
funding 

- £10,000,000 £26,000,000    £149,635,200 

Discounted Public 
Sector  funding 

- £9,812,949    £25,516,897     £146,854,847 

Additional Income benefits (discounted) 

  £11,932,301 £35,788,186 £211,535,059 

Cost effectiveness 

Cost per net 
additional skill 

- £12,912 £4,460      £4,034 

Benefit/Cost Ratio -         1.216           1.403      1.440 

Table 19 – Value for Money Assessment, All Public Sector Costs 

Option Appraisal Conclusions 

Whilst Option 4 can potentially achieve the highest additional income benefits, this is primarily a 

reflection of the much greater quantum of skills delivery and the additional costs required. Despite 

the much greater scale, and attendant risks of delivering such a large Programme, it achieves only 

a relatively small increase in the Benefit/Cost ratio and reduction in average costs for delivery of 

each additional skill. Consequently Option 3 was chosen as the Preferred Option going forward. 

3.9  QUALITATIVE BENEFITS APPRAISAL 

Methodology 

In line with HM Treasury Green Book supplementary guidance on Business Cases, the qualitative 

benefits under each option have been weighted and scored.  This was undertaken by:  

Tudalen84



54 | P a g e  
 

• identifying the benefits criteria relating to each of the investment objectives. 

• weighting the relative importance (in %s) of each benefit criterion in relation to each 
investment objective. 

• scoring each of the short-listed options against the benefit criteria on a scale of 0 to 9; and 

• deriving a weighted benefit score for each option. 
 

Qualitative Benefits Criteria 

The weights that were applied to each investment objective / benefits criterion are shown in Table 

20 below.  

 

Investment Objectives Qualitative Benefits Weight 

Total 

100% 

Objective 1:  

To directly deliver at 

least 2,200 additional 

skills and support the 

development of around 

14,000 individuals with 

higher level skills (level 

2-8) within 10 years. 

• Higher skilled individuals for the jobs created 

through the City Deal projects. 

• Increased number of individuals progressing 

into a career offering higher earnings. 

• Increased number of people gaining a 

permanent role, moving from temporary or zero 

hour contracts. 

 

30% 

Objective 2: 

To create 3,000 new 

apprenticeship 

opportunities to include 

level 3 through to 

Degree apprenticeships. 

• Opportunities for all to achieve a qualification 

and skills for a career pathway in a vocational 

occupation. 

• Increased number taking up opportunities 

through the apprenticeship route to further their 

career in specialist areas developed through 

the 8 City Deal projects. 

• Increased number of individuals entering the 

Degree apprenticeship programme. 

 

 

25% 

Objective 3: 

To create at least 2 

Centres of Best of 

Excellence within 

specific sector(s) to 

develop the region as 

being the best area for 

skills development. 

• Developing a Centre that specialises in the 

development of fit for purpose skills within a 

particular sector(s) 

• Increase investment in the region for specialist 

sectors as a result of a specific Centre of 

Excellence for skills. 

• Increased awareness of the job opportunities 

in region as a result of the Centre of 

Excellence through the 8 City Deal projects 

and other associated investment. 

 

 

15% 

Objective 4: 

To create a clear 

pathway from school 

education through FE 

and HE in the key areas 

• The engagement with schools will develop the 

pathway for children from primary school 

through to secondary school through the 

introduction of new vocational training 

opportunities specialist workshops etc. 

20% 

Tudalen85



55 | P a g e  
 

of digital, energy, smart 

manufacturing and life-

science and wellbeing, 

through engagement 

and development work 

with schools increasing 

the number of pupils 

following the STEM 

subjects in FE and HE. 

• Integrate the City Deal projects within the 

curriculum of every school in the region, to 

generate awareness of the opportunities and 

the new skills that will be needed for the jobs 

created. 

• Increased work experience for pupils and 

students through the 8 City Deal projects to 

raise awareness of the skills needs. 

• Increased number of students studying STEM 

subjects in FE or HE. 

 

 

Objective 5: 

Deliver 20 new/updated 

course frameworks to 

ensure they meet the 

training needs of the 

future. 

• Developing new and updating existing 

frameworks to meet the needs of the projects 

and employers across the region. 

• Reduce duplication and focus training in key 

areas to increase opportunities. 

• Ensure that frameworks are developed to meet 

the longer term (10-15 year) skills needs. 

 

 

10% 

 

 

 

 

Table 20 – Qualitative Benefits Weighting 

 

Qualitative Benefits Scoring 

Benefits scores were allocated to each option according to its contribution to the investment 

objectives.  The scores were based on a scale from 0-9, with the scores to be interpreted as 

follows: 

• 7 – 9:  a significant positive impact; 

• 4 – 6:  a positive impact; 

• 1 – 3:  a marginal positive impact; and 

• 0 :  a neutral / no change position. 
 

The scores for each option were discussed and agreed by workshop participants to confirm that 

the scores were fair and reasonable. 

3.10  ANALYSIS OF KEY RESULTS 

The results of the benefits appraisal are shown in Table 21 below, 

Benefit Criteria and 

Weight 
Option 1: Do 

Nothing 

Option 2: 

Supported 

City Deal 

Skills Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted 

Skills 

Delivery 

Option 4: 

City Deal 

Ambitious 

Raw (R) weighted (W) 

scores 

R W R W R W R W 

Objective 1:  

To directly deliver at least 

2,200 additional skills and 

support the development 

of around 14,000 

0 0 4 1.2 7 2.1 9 2.7 

Tudalen86



56 | P a g e  
 

individuals with higher 

skills (level 2 – 8) within 

10 years. 

Objective 2: 

To create 3,000 new 

apprenticeship 

opportunities to include 

level 3 through to Degree 

apprenticeships. 

0 0 7 1.8 7 1.8 7 1.8 

Objective 3: 

To create at least 2 

Centres of Best Practice 

within specific sector(s) 

to develop the region as 

being the best area for 

skills development. 

0 0 6 0.9 6 0.9 6 0.9 

Objective 4: 

To create a clear pathway 

from school education 

through FE and HE in the 

key areas of digital, 

energy, smart 

manufacturing and life-

science and wellbeing, 

through engagement and 

development work with 

schools. Increasing the 

number of pupils 

following STEM subjects 

in FE and HE. 

0 0 5 1.0 7 1.4 7 1.4 

Objective 5: 

Invest in the delivery of 

20 new/updated course 

frameworks to ensure 

they meet the training 

needs of the future. 

0 0 3 0.3 6 0.6 8 0.8 

Total 0 0 25 5.2 33 6.8 37 7.6 

Percentage Scores (Max. 

90%) 

 -  52%  68%  76% 

Rank 4             3 2 1 

Table 21 – Qualitative Benefits Appraisal Key Results 

 

The key considerations that influenced the scores achieved by the various options were as follows: 

Option 1 – This Option would bring no change to the existing scale and scope of skills delivery 

thereby delivering no additional benefits to the regional economy. 

Option 2 – The Supported City Deal Skills Fund would only deliver a proportion (c.30%) of the 

new skills training required. It would provide assistance and support to the development of 

Tudalen87



57 | P a g e  
 

apprenticeships, Centres of Excellence and Schools engagement but in a responsive rather than 

programmed manner. It would not have the capacity to support investment in new course 

frameworks which would be left to individual organisations without critical mass. 

Option 3 – Targeted Skills Delivery would have a positive, or significantly positive, impact on all 5 

Investment Objectives and enable a co-ordinated and sustainable approach to the timing and 

delivery of Programme outputs.  

Option 4 – This Option would have a positive, or significantly positive, impact on all 5 Investment 

Objectives and deliver major additions in terms of regional skills provision and sustainable 

Programmes resulting in the highest percentage benefits score of all the Options and is therefore 

ranked 1st.  

 

3.11 RISK APPRAISAL - UNQUANTIFIABLES 

A risk analysis has been undertaken that encompasses an assessment of the main risks 

associated with the project.  The analysis has been informed by the guidance contained within the 

HM Treasury’s Green Book.  A workshop was held on the 21st April 2021 to evaluate the risks 

associated with each option.  A summary of the key risk areas is set out below, identifying the risks 

that may affect the successful delivery of the Programme and the overall severity of each risk, 

based upon a judgement of the probability and potential impact. 

Methodology 

Within the risk table below a score has been given to the probability of each risk arising – ranging 

from very high (a maximum score of 5) to very low (a score of 1).  The impact of each risk has also 

been assessed, using the same scoring range as has been used for probability (i.e. a range of 1-

5).  The overall risk score is calculated by multiplying the probability score by the impact score 

(giving a maximum score of 25, representing an extreme risk).  The scores can be banded low, 

medium or high to provide an indication of the overall rating of each risk. 

Risk Scores 

The workshop assigned the risk scores shown in Table 22 below on the basis of participants’ 

judgements and assessments of previous projects.   

Summary of 

Risk Appraisal 

Results 

(Pr. = 

probability) 

Strategic 

Risk No. 

Impact Option 1: 

Do Nothing 

Option 2: 

Supported 

City Deal 

Skills Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted 

Skills 

Delivery 

Option 4: 

City Deal 

Ambitious 

   Pr. Tot. Pr. Tot. Pr. Tot. Pr. Tot. 

City Deal 

Funding not 

secured – 

without this 

funding the 

programme will 

not be 

implemented. 

1 5 - - 2 10 2 10 5 25 

Project partners 

operating their 

2 4 - - 5 20 3 12 3 12 

Tudalen88



58 | P a g e  
 

own skills 

projects 

Insufficient 

capacity and 

capability to 

Project manage 

the programme 

and to deliver 

the stated 

activities and 

results  

3 4     - -    4   16 2 8    4    16 

Organisational 

and financial 

risks associated 

with taking on 

this project 

4        3 - - 3 9 3 9 5 15 

The programme 

does not secure 

sufficient 

partner/stakehol

der buy in. 

5 5 - - 5    25 3 15 5 25 

Slippage to the 

project 

timescales 

6 2 - - 4 8 3 6 4 8 

Failure to 

increase the 

number of 

skilled 

individuals. 

7 5 - - 4 20 3 15 3 15 

Lead times in 

the 

development of 

a new skills 

offer in the 

region. 

8 2 - - 5 10 3 6 5 10 

Failure to 

engage with 

training 

providers to 

deliver the 

necessary skills 

development 

9 4 - - 4 16 2 8 4 16 

Total (Maximum Possible Score 161)  -  134  89  142 

Rank  4  2  1     3 

Table 22 – Risks Assessment 

 

Tudalen89



59 | P a g e  
 

3.2  THE PREFERRED OPTION 

The results of the investment appraisal are summarised in Table 23 below.  

 

Evaluation Results Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted Skills 

Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal 

Ambitious 

Economic appraisals 4 3 2 1 

Benefits appraisal 4 3 2 1 

Risk appraisal 4 2 1 3 

Overall Ranking 4 3 1 2 

Table 23 – Short-list Options Evaluation Results 

 

On the basis of this analysis, the preferred option is Option 3 – Targeted Skills Delivery.  Whilst 

Option 4 – City Deal Ambitious scored 1st in the Economic and Benefits Appraisals, this is purely a 

reflection of the much higher costs and scale of the skills delivery projected. The level of funding 

for a Programme of this scale not currently available and there would be very significant delivery 

risks due to the enormous increase in regional capacity and capability that would be required. 

Option 3 can be delivered within identified costs at a low risk exposure and can deliver the prime 

objective of ensuring sufficient new and additional skills can be provided to meet the needs of the 

other City Deal Projects. This has therefore been selected as the Preferred Option going forward.       

 

3.3 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 

The methods used were: 

 

a) ‘switching values’ 

b) scenario planning/ analysis (‘what if ‘) by altering the values of the ‘uncertain’ costs and 

benefits to observe the effect on the overall ranking of options. 

 

Results of Switching Values 

Table 24 below shows the values (in %’s) at which the preferred option would change in the overall 

ranking of options.  As all external Programme benefits are, by definition, included within the other 

City Deal Projects’ Business Cases, the switching values analysis looks only at the impact on each 

Option of changes in public sector cost and additional income benefits to individuals in achieving 

increased skills levels. Under the current Programme approach, new skills would be delivered over 

the first 5 years and aggregate additional income would accumulate year on year to reach 

maximum benefit at the end of the SBCD Programme benefits period in 15 years. To estimate total 

Programme benefits and to calculate the Net Present Value of additional income benefits for 

comparison purposes, benefits have been assumed to occur within 1 year after each learner 

completes the additional skills level course as set out in Section 3.8 above. 

 

Tudalen90



60 | P a g e  
 

Change in Costs (%) Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported 

City Deal 

Skills Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted 

Skills Delivery 

(Preferred 

Option) 

Option 4: City 

Deal 

Ambitious 

Total costs - - - -75.63% 

Additional Learner 
Income  benefits 

- +300% - - 

NPV/C - +15.38% -13.33% - 

Table 24 – Results of Switching Values 

Key Observations 

The assessment of switching values shows that the benefits under the alternative options would 

have to increase considerably, compared to the preferred option, in order to change the overall 

ranking of options. The magnitude of change required is such that Option 3 can be identified as the 

preferred option with a high degree of confidence.  

Results of Scenario Planning 

Tables 25 below summarises the results associated with variances made to increasing costs, the 

time taken to deliver the Programme benefits and reducing overall benefits, as follows. 

• 20% increase in costs   

• 1-year delay in benefits 

• 40% reduction in benefits 

 

Net Present Value (15-
year appraisal) 

Option 1: Do 

Nothing 
Option 2: 

Supported 

City Deal 

Skills Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted 

Skills Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal 

Ambitious 

Base - £2,119,352 £6,348,876 £60,754,534 

Increasing costs by 20% - £156,763 £461,015 £30,598,430 

1-year delay in benefits - £996,275 £2,977,715 £40,906,125 

Reducing benefits by 
40% 

- -£2,653,568 -£7,966,398 -£23,859,489 

Table 25 – Results of Scenario Planning 

 

 

Summary Table of Economic Appraisals 

The results of the economic appraisals above are summarised in Table 26 as follows. As 

explained above, the only benefits captured are additional learner wage benefits as all other 

benefits and unquantifiable factors are contained within the specific Business Cases of the other 8 

City Deal Projects the Skills and Talent Programme will support. 

Tudalen91



61 | P a g e  
 

Summary of Economic 

Appraisal 

Option 1: Do 

Nothing 

Option 2: 

Supported City 

Deal Skills 

Fund 

Option 3: 

Targeted 

Skills Delivery 

Option 4: City 

Deal Ambitious 

Net Present Value 

(after allowing for 

private sector 

investment) 

- £2,119,352 £6,348,476 £60,754,534 

Public Sector Cost - £9,812,949    £25,516,897   £146,854,847 

Appropriate BCR -          1.216               1.403                1.440 

Significant un-

monetizable 

costs/benefits 

-            N/A                 N/A                    N/A 

Significant 

unquantifiable factors 

-             N/A                 N/A                   N/A 

Risk costs (increased 

education delivery 

costs) - residual 

optimism bias 

(undiscounted) 

-   £1,000,000 

  

    £3,000,000     £15,363,520 

Switching Values 

(preferred option 

only) 

    -13.33%   

Time Horizon and 

Reason 

15 Year Programme Period in accordance with City Deal requirements 

Table26 – Economic Appraisal Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen92



62 | P a g e  
 

4.0 Commercial Case 

4.1 Introduction 
The purpose of the commercial case is to set out the procurement arrangements for the Skills and 
Talent programme.  

 

4.2 Procurement strategy and route 

4.2.1 Programme Investment 

This programme does not contain a high value capital-cost based construction project, instead it 

will deliver several lower cost revenue interventions at project level to achieve the programme 

investment objectives and outcomes. 

The Skills and Talent programme will manage this through delivery of a programme fund 
disseminated to pilot projects following approval by the Programme Board. It is anticipated that pilot 
projects will be led and procured by a third-party stakeholder organisation.  

Table 28 shows the process for delivering the programme - developing proposals for pilot projects 
from the stakeholder groups and to approval by the Programme Board.  

Stage 1 of the process will deliver a skills barometer for the region and will identify any skills gaps 
and potential solutions that will support the successful delivery of the City Deal projects. This 
research will be undertaken by a range of stakeholders and partners but may require the 
procurement of specialist advisers/consultants. If required, the procurement will be managed by the 
lead delivery organisation. 

4.2.2 Lead Delivery Organisation 

The Skills and Talent programme is led by Carmarthenshire County Council on behalf of the four 

regional Local Authorities, two universities and two health boards that make up the Swansea Bay 

City Deal primary stakeholders. Carmarthenshire County Council will ensure that procurements fully 

comply with:  

• Welsh National Rules on the Eligibility of Expenditure – public contracts regulations 2015 

• Welsh Procurement Policy Statement 2019 

• State Aid Rules 

• Procurement Legislation 

• Community Benefits Principles  

• Any other Carmarthenshire County Council, UK and Welsh Assembly Government rules 

and regulations which apply to procurement 

• Procurements will also align to the procurement principles of the City Deal (See 4.2.5) 

 

4.2.3 Procurement Route 

All quotations above the value of £25,000 will be advertised on the Sell2wales website 

(www.sell2wales.gov.uk).  

Pilot project procurements undertaken by the project stakeholders will be in accordance with 

Welsh Government procurement regulations and the lead organisations’ procurement policies. 

Third party procurements and will also be subject to the terms and conditions expected by 

Carmarthenshire County Council and Welsh Government as funding providers and will align to the 

procurement principles of the City Deal. 

 

4.2.4 Collaborative purchasing 

The Programme office team / Skills Solution Group will liaise with pilot project lead delivery 

organisations to assess whether a collaborative approach with other stakeholders might be more 

beneficial to secure economies of scale and enhanced social value. 

 

 

 

Tudalen93



63 | P a g e  
 

4.2.5 Swansea Bay City Deal Procurement Principles 

The SBCD Procurement Principles have been established for project teams that are developing 

and delivering projects as part of the SBCD Portfolio.  

The Principles (Appendix H) set out how the SBCD expects project teams to take a fresh look at 
the way works, goods and services are specified and procured so that the maximum economic, 
social and environmental benefit to the region can be achieved from the process. The Principles 
look beyond the initial construction phase and apply to the operational service of the assets or 
frameworks when created. 

The five SBCD Procurement Principles are: 
Be Innovative 
Have an open, fair and legally compliant procurement process 
Maximise Community Benefits from each contract 
Use Ethical Employment Practices 

      Promote the City Deal 
 

4.3 Procurement plan and proposed implementation timescales 
The Skills and Talent Programme has a phased approach to delivery. Appendix I details the 

programme implementation plan and timeline following the identification of the key skills required. 

Should the programme require specialist advisers/consultants as described above, this is planned 

to take place between Q3 2021 and Q1 2022 

4.4 Risk Allocation 
Risks can be assigned to three main categories (which are not mutually exclusive) – business, 

service and external risks. 

• Business risks remain with the public sector and cannot be transferred. These include the 

loss of opportunity and poor Value for Money that occurs when schemes under-deliver or 

fail completely. 

• Service-related risks may be shared between the public and private sectors e.g. design, 

demand, and operational risks 

• External risks arise from the wider environment, not the intervention being appraised e.g. 

catastrophe risks and regulatory risks outside of the programmes’ control. 

 

Given the service/revenue nature of any procurements likely to be undertaken by the lead delivery 

organisation it is unlikely that any risk will lie solely with the private sector.  

 

Risk Category Public Private Shared 

1. Design risk   ✓  

2. Development risk   ✓  

3. Transition and implementation risk ✓   

4. Availability and performance risk   ✓  

5. Operating risk   ✓  

6. Variability of revenue risks ✓   

7. Termination risks ✓   

8. Technology and obsolescence risks   ✓  

9. Control risks ✓   

10. Residual value risks   ✓  

11. Financing risks ✓   

12. Legislative risks   ✓  

13. Lead times in the development of a new skills offer    ✓  

14. Failure to engage with training providers to deliver the skills    ✓  

Table 27 Risk allocation 

The programme risks will be managed by the RLSP Board within the existing governance structure 

as detailed in the Management case. 

Tudalen94



64 | P a g e  
 

Table 28 Skills and Talent Programme Delivery Process 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 

Step 1 – Programme Office Team 
Identify skills needs of the City Deal Projects 

Step 2 – Programme Office team 
Link with RLSP team on LMI data to 

evidence Welsh and UK Skills needs against 
City Deal Projects 

Step 3 - Programme Board 
Consider skills gaps and identify solutions 

Frameworks 
 

Projects 
 

Career Pathway 
 

Centre of Excellence 
 

Step 4 - Programme Office 
To work with stakeholders to identify specific 

projects to deliver the skills needs. 
and receive applications for assessment 

Step 5 – Skills Solutions Group 
Consider the outline projects and assess 

against agreed criteria 

Step 4 - Programme Office 
To work with schools and Careers Wales to 

develop and awareness campaign of the 
opportunities within the City Deal projects 

and the skills requirements and develop the 
necessary support tools for schools across 

the region. 
 

Step 5 - Programme Office 
Work with schools to identify specific projects 

that require funding to meet the skills 
Career pathway and assist with the funding 

applications. 
 

Step 4 - Programme Office 
The skills programme team will identify 

opportunities to develop specific centres of 
excellence for specific sector skills 

Step 5 – Stakeholder Engagement  
Engage with stakeholders on the best 

options and suitability of the proposals. 
Identify cost and private sector input and 

funding. 
 

Step 4 – Skills Solutions Group 
Based on the evidence develop outline 

frameworks for the new skills required with 
initial costs 

Step 5 – Skills Solutions Group 
Consider the outline budget and prepare 

recommendations to the Programme Board 
 

Step 6 - Project Proposal 
Submission of the proposal to Board for 

approval  
 

Step 7 
Programme Team to work with projects on 

key milestones and tender process 

Step 8 
Begin delivery of the pilot project  

Publish a skills Barometer report 
for the region 

T
udalen95



65 | P a g e  
 

4.5 Service Requirements and Outputs 

 

The initial skills gaps analysis will be undertaken by the programme team and the Skills Solution Group to understand what new/updated skills and 

apprenticeship frameworks are required to inform development of the pilot projects which will be delivered in conjunction with stakeholders. An action 

plan will be developed outlining the gaps and proposals and recommendations.  The assistance of consultants / specialist advisers to help with the 

research may be required and if so, will be procured as described in section 4.2. 

4.5.1 Service Requirements    

The summary of potential service requirements and outputs is described in table 28 below. 

 

Requirement 
➢ 

Timescales 

 
Scope of the 
procurement 
 

Required 
outputs 

Business 
areas 
affected by 
the 
procurement 

Business 
environment 
and related 
activities 

 

Business 
objectives 
relevant to 
the 
procurement 

 

Required 
service 
streams 

Stakeholders 
and customers 
for the outputs 

 

Options for 
variation in 
the existing 
and future 
scope for 
services 

Potential 
developments 
and further 
phases that 
may be 
required 

Outputs   

Research - 
skills needs 
and gaps 
across the 
region 

Phase 1 - 
Q3 2021 – 
Q1 2022 

Procure 
suitably 
qualified 
consultants / 
specialist 
advisers with 
experience 
of skills 
sector 

Consultants 
with 
experience 
of skills 
sector  
 
Development 
of Action 
plan 
 
Develop and 
publish a 
Regional 
Skills 
Barometer 

RLSP 
partners 
 
CCC 
Procurement 
Dept –  
 
Programme 
team (when 
established) 

Formation of 
Skills 
Solutions 
Group 

Develop 
regional 
skills needs 
and gaps 
analysis 
 
Create skills 
barometer 
 
Inform other 
stages of 
programme 
delivery 

RLSP 
partners 
 
Training 
Providers  
 
CCC 
Procurement 
Dept 

RLSP partners 
Regional 
colleges, 
universities, 
and training 
providers 
 
SBCD primary 
stakeholders 
 
SBCD Projects 
& Programmes 
 
Industry 
representatives 
 
Governments 

Ongoing / 
tbc, feeds 
into next 
stages of 
programme 
development 

Feeds into 
next stages of 
programme 
development 
and delivery 

 

Table 29 SBCD Skills Programme Services and required outputs

T
udalen96



66 | P a g e  
 

4.6 Payment mechanisms and key contractual arrangements 

Payments and key contractual arrangements for procurements directly undertaken by the 

Lead Delivery Organisation will be made in accordance with Carmarthenshire County 

Councils’ existing terms and conditions and any terms and conditions applied by the Welsh 

Government as funding partner. 

Third party procurements at pilot project level will be governed by the terms and conditions 

of the lead delivery partner and will be subject to the terms and conditions expected by 

Carmarthenshire County Council and Welsh Government as funding providers. 

Payments are usually made on the delivery of outputs and may be linked to the delivery of 

key service outputs, as contractually agreed. Payments may be staggered against the 

delivery of key outputs within the overall implementation plan for the programme.  

Contractual arrangements relating to intellectual property rights will be agreed between the 

relevant parties as the pilot projects develop. 

4.7 Accountancy Treatment 

The RLSP will not create any physical property assets through the Skills and Talent 

programme.  The City Deal funding will be used to fund the programme management 

arrangements and to provide financial incentives for the pilot projects.  Any assets funded 

through the projects will be logged on a skills and talent asset register and submitted with 

the monitoring reports. 

4.8 Personnel Implications 

A programme team will be established to service the programme as outlined in the 

Management Case. This process does not include the transfer of any staff or TUPE issues. 

All staff recruited on the programme will be employees of Carmarthenshire County Council. 

As such they will be covered by the Council’s human resources policies and codes of 

practice that are in place for the well-being and management of staff. These policies are 

available to all staff via the Council’s intranet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen97



67 | P a g e  
 

5.0 Financial Case 

5.1 Introduction to the Financial Case 

This section focuses on the financial elements of the business case and the financial 
implications of the preferred option.  

The funding of this Programme will be operated through Carmarthenshire County Council as 
the accountable financial body and managed on a day-to-day basis through the Regional 
Learning and Skills Partnership Board.   

This Programme is a desk-based research project to identify the skills gaps and work with the 
project leads; training providers and Welsh Government to provide the most appropriate 
training in the region to support the development of talented individuals to take up the roles. 

Following the initial research there will be a requirement to develop specific projects that will 

include courses to meet the Industry needs; update course content where required and re-

accredit those courses.  The projects will also include pilot initiatives to upskill the workforce 

in specific areas, the work with schools will also be supported through this Programme to 

provide more detailed information about the opportunities that will be developed through the 

City Deal and the courses available to them within the region 

5.2 Financial Risk Management and Assurance 

5.2.1 Financial Risks 

The portfolio financial risks are monitored and managed as part of the City Deal’s overall risk 

management arrangements. The City Deal Programmes and Projects maintain, manage and 

monitor their own risks in line with guidance from the Green Book and the City Region’s 

Accountable Body and SBCD Programme Management Office. The project operates a risk 

register and issues log, specifically including any financial risks identified. These risks will be 

monitored and updated with mitigating control actions through the project board as a standing 

item and then regularly presented to the Programme Board and Joint Committee, through the 

Portfolio Management Office.  

5.2.2 Financial Issues, Dependencies and Interdependencies 

The programme board will develop and maintain a log of any financial issues, dependencies 

and interdependencies at both programme and project level. This log will be considered 

alongside the financial risk register outlined above. The Accountable Body will work through 

the Section 151 Officer Working Group to determine any actions necessary to address 

identified issues and will present recommendations for required action to the Programme 

Board, Economic Strategy Board and Joint Committee for approval. Regular updates on 

financial issues, dependencies and interdependencies will also be provided to the Programme 

Board and Joint Committee via the Portfolio Management Office as appropriate.  

5.2.3 Assurance - Internal Audit 

The review of the effectiveness of the system of Internal Control and Governance 

arrangements is informed by the work of the Internal Auditors, from which the Programme 

Lead Authority and Programme board gain assurance. Internal Audit is required to 

undertake their work in accordance with the standards as set out in the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) established in 2013, which are the agreed professional 

standards for Internal Audit in Local Government.  

Tudalen98



68 | P a g e  
 

As required by these Standards, the Head of Internal Audit as appropriate to the 

Programme Lead Authority will undertake an independent review and report findings to the 

Portfolio Lead Authority and Programme Board. The format of the Annual Report complies 

with the requirements of the Code of Practice. The Strategic and Annual Audit Plans are 

approved annually by the Project lead authority and Project board. In addition, the Internal 

Audit Unit undertakes fraud investigation and pro-active fraud detection work. 

5.2.4 Assurance - External Regulators 

The Audit Wales as External Auditor to the Project Lead Authority reviews and comments on 

the financial aspects of Corporate Governance which include the legality of financial 

transactions, financial standing, systems of Internal Financial Control and standards of 

financial conduct and fraud and corruption. 

5.3 Investment Summary 

The SBCD partnership, through the Internet of Economic Acceleration publication and 

subsequent discussions with the Welsh and UK Governments, has developed a clear strategy 

which has been underpinned by identified interventions to deliver widespread and sustainable 

economic growth across the region. The Skills and Talent Programme is a pivotal part of this 

intervention to support and increase the availability of educational and training opportunity to 

enhance, upskill and support develop across the region.  

The current investment breakdown presented in Table 30. below is based on forecasted  

 

Table 30. Skills and Talent Investment Breakdown 

These figures are the current financial investment forecast which the Skills and Talent 

Programme is currently projecting over its 6-year term and are set within a the original SBCD 

Heads of Terms. Funding elements are subject to change as the programme evolves. On the 

successful approval of the programme business case the Accountable body will release 

Government funding to Programme up to the value of the agreed Programme allocation. 

It is the aim of the SBCD that all Programmes will be delivered in a seven-year period in order 

to maximise the full benefits realisation of the operational schemes during the lifetime of SBCD 

funding, which is to be released to the SBCR from both the UK and Welsh Governments over 

a 15-year period. 

The Skills and Talent Programme has been allocated £10m by the SBCD Programme.  This 

is an initial estimate and may evolve over the course of the Programme as development 

provision and market conditions change. Further funding may be sought from the City Deal or 

other sources in due course, depending on the cost and success of early activities. 

The overall investment composition comprises of three following investment components: 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

(£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m) (£m)

Capital -£               -£              -£              -£                    -£                    -£                    -£                    

Revenue 24,800£         2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£        7,500,000£        7,055,200£        30,000,000£     

Total 24,800£         2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£        7,500,000£        7,055,200£        30,000,000£     

Funding 

Swansea Bay City Deal Grant 24,800£         1,170,000£ 1,500,000£ 2,500,000£        2,500,000£        2,305,200£        10,000,000£     

Public Sector -£               1,250,000£ 3,000,000£ 4,000,000£        4,000,000£        3,750,000£        16,000,000£     

Private Sector -£               500,000£     500,000£     1,000,000£        1,000,000£        1,000,000£        4,000,000£        

Total 24,800£         2,920,000£ 5,000,000£ 7,500,000£        7,500,000£        7,055,200£        30,000,000£     

Expenditure 
Total

Tudalen99



69 | P a g e  
 

• The City Deal investment component consists of the government grants awarded by 

UK and Welsh government totalling £10m. City Deal Grant is awarded to Programmes 

of the fifteen-year term up to a maximum of the allocated value.  

• Public sector investment consists of investment/contributions from local authorities 

and other public funded and public service organisations. Public Sector investment will 

also consist of funding from FE, HE and schools as cash or in-kind match funding for 

projects. Local Authorities may agree that borrowing for a Regional Programme should 

be made by all the Authorities equally or in proportions agreed or that borrowing should 

be carried out by one Authority on behalf of others if they so agree.  The decisions as 

to whether borrowing on behalf of the Programme shall be carried out by one Authority 

on behalf of the others and the proportions shall be determined by the Authorities as a 

matter reserved to the Authorities.  

• Private sector investment includes regional investment from local and national private 

sector partners as well as local higher education providers.   

5.4 Income and Expenditure Summary 

The UK and Welsh Government capital grant contribution to the Skills and Talent Programme 

is awarded over a fifteen-year period and currently forecasted at £10m. Funding will only be 

released from the portfolio on the successful approval of business cases by both the UK and 

Welsh Governments, up to a maximum of the agreed grant allocation. 

An inherent temporary funding gap is recognised with the funding being released to the 

Programme over a fifteen-year period. Carmarthenshire County Council as the Programme 

Lead Authority is responsible for managing the operational cashflows in respect of the 

Programme, with all Authorities contributing to its delivery proportionately. Therefore, 

subsequently accountable for managing inherent risks and the funding gap recognised.  

The Programme expenditure profile is presented in Table 31 and Table 32 below with further 

financial appraisal on the expenditure forecasts at Programme level detailed in Figure 2.  

              

Figure 2. Forecasted Income and Expenditure Summary 

Tudalen100



70 | P a g e  
 

 
 

5.4.1 Programme Income and Expenditure Forecast 
 

 

 

Table 31  Income and Expenditure Forecast

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Capital/Revenue

 Capital Expenditure -                  -                -                -                       -                       -                       -                       

 Revenue Expenditure -                  -                24,800          2,920,000          5,000,000          7,500,000          7,500,000          7,055,200          

 Total                       -                       -              24,800            2,920,000            5,000,000            7,500,000            7,500,000            7,055,200 

Funding

 City Deal Expenditure -                  -                -                1,194,800          1,500,000          1,786,528          746,888              746,888              

 Public Sector Expenditure -                  -                -                1,250,000          3,000,000          4,000,000          4,000,000          3,750,000          

 Private Sector Expenditure -                  -                -                500,000              500,000              1,000,000          1,000,000          1,000,000          

 Total                       -                       -                       -              2,944,800            5,000,000            6,786,528            5,746,888            5,496,888 

Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 Year 14 Year 15 Total

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33

Capital/Revenue

 Capital Expenditure -                  -                -                -                       -                       -                       -                                                  -   

 Revenue Expenditure -                  -                -                -                       -                       -                       -                                30,000,000 

 Total                       -                       -                       -                              -                              -                              -                              -            30,000,000 

Funding

 City Deal Expenditure 746,888         746,888       539,419       497,925              497,925              497,925              497,926                       10,000,000 

 Public Sector Expenditure -                  -                -                -                       -                       -                       -                                16,000,000 

 Private Sector Expenditure -                  -                -                -                       -                       -                       -                                  4,000,000 

 Total           746,888          746,888          539,419                497,925                497,925                497,925                497,926          30,000,000 

Expenditure

Expenditure

T
udalen101



71 
 

5.5 Investment Breakdown 

5.5.1 City Deal Grant Funding Profile 

The amount of £10m has been allocated regionally for the Skills and Talent Programme. 

These allocations are indicative and can be varied if needed, in-line with the governance 

arrangements set out in the Management Case. Greater clarity on costs and their spread over 

the duration of the Programme is expected to become available once the Programme 

management team is in place and the sub-Programmes are scoped out in more detail.  

Appendix J details the income and expenditure for 2021 – 2026.  The below operational 

expenditure is budgeted over the programme delivery life cycle in respect of a management 

team and relevant supporting costs.  

 

 

5.5.2 Public and Private Sector Funding Profile 

Table 32 – Public and Private sector funding profile 

Skills and Talent

Five Year Operational Budget

Programme Year Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7

Operational Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Description 2020/21 20201/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total

Programme Management Team 243,553                         221,451                      227,638                      258,992                      265,518                     1,217,151                  

Operational Expenditure (Marketing and Consultancy Fees) 25,000                           50,500                        51,010                        26,530                        27,061                        180,101                      

Total Operational Expenditure 268,553                         271,951                      278,648                      285,522                      292,579                     1,397,252                  

Public Sector Funding Statement

Theme

Public 

Contribution 

(£m) Detail

Schools 3,000,000

Student numbers and delivery models are being developed. Pilot Projects based on 

employment  demand led skills will be developed and project match funding/in-kind 

contributions  will be required from schools.

Further Education 5,000,000

Pilot projects based on employment  demand led skills will be developed and 

delivered by FE and match funding/in kind contributions will be required to support 

the projects.

Higher 

education/Universities
7,000,000

Pilot projects based on employment  demand led skills will be developed and 

delivered by HE and match funding/in kind contributions will be required to support 

the projects.

Employability 

Directive
1,000,000

Demand led training through employment agencies to upskill unemployed to support 

integration back into the workplace, pilot projects will be developed to deliver 

upskilling opportunities. Match finding or in-kind contributions will be sought for the 

projects.

Total 16,000,000£      

Private Sector Funding Statement

Theme

Private 

Contribution 

(£m) Detail

Apprenticeships 4,000,000           

Early discussions with providers are in the process of taking place. Private sector 

investment will constitute of an estimated 3000 demand led apprentices within 

industry which will also include the utilisation of City Deal Programmes and projects as 

part of delivery models.

Total 4,000,000           

Tudalen102



72 
 

5.5.3 City Deal Funding 

The release of funds from the Accountable Body will follow one of two funding routes. This is 

determined on a Programme basis, dependant on whether funding is being released to a 

regional Programme or a Local Authority Programme. The flow of funding is shown in Figure 

3 below: 

 

 

Figure 3. City Deal Funding Flow 

 
 

5.5.4 Borrowing  

The Joint Committee is responsible for overseeing the proportion of each Council’s 

responsibility for borrowing to provide funding for regional Programmes.  The capital borrowing 

(in respect of the Government funded element) for the City Deal Programmes will be re-paid 

by identified Government funds (UK & Welsh Government) over the 15-year period.  

The exact level of borrowing and the structure and terms of the borrowing is yet to be 

confirmed at this point in time, however it will be calculated based on the amount required per 

relevant local authority and will be in line with the individual local authority’s internal 

requirements.  This is being determined by the four Section 151 Officers of the four regional 

Tudalen103



73 
 

local authorities.  All borrowing will be agreed based on the principles of the Prudential Code 

and Treasury Management Policy and Strategy for each local authority. When further details 

of the investments required for each Programme are known, a full business case appraisal for 

each individual Programme will be completed and submitted to the relevant local authority for 

approval before submission to the Joint Committee. These full business cases will include the 

detailed funding proposals and requirements of the local authority.   

 
5.5.5 Government Grant ‘Top Slice’  

Annually, up to 1.5% of the Portfolio Investment Fund, specifically the government grants 

awarded, will be earmarked to support the Joint Committee and central administration 

functions required to support the delivery of the Portfolio. This is referred to as 'Top Slice' of 

Government Grants. 

5.5.6 Interest on Investments  

It is recognised that throughout the lifecycle of the City Deal portfolio, cash balances will arise 

through cashflow movements as and when Programmes become live and actual expenditure 

is incurred. Cash balances held by the Joint Committee will be invested through 

Carmarthenshire County Council as the Accountable Body. Income generated from cash 

investments will be ring-fenced and redistributed direct to Programmes based on the allocation 

outlined within the original Heads of Terms. 

 

5.6 Monitoring and Evaluation 

The City Deal portfolio finances will be monitored through the Programme Board and Joint 

Committee, with the Economic Strategy Board also making recommendations on possible 

additional funding opportunities or alternative portfolio expenditure. Regular reports will also 

be presented by the Accountable Body to the regional Local Authority Directors of Finance 

and Regional Section 151 Officer working group. This working group will, in collaboration with 

the Welsh Government and the SBCD PMO, agree the financial monitoring process which will 

be: 

o In line with overall reporting processes for the City Deal  

o Based on best practice principles and guidance on Programme monitoring 

contained within the Green Book 

The monitoring process will allow for the control of Programme cost variations and visibility of 

variations at a portfolio level.  

The monitoring requirements of the Portfolio will require the Programme Authority Lead to 

submit a claim for Programme funding to the Accountable Body at a frequency to be 

determined by the Accountable Body. The claim shall include a progress report on the 

Programme.  The progress report shall include an assessment of risks associated with the 

Programme and details of progress against the agreed outputs.  After the parties have agreed 

in accordance with clause 6.7 of the funding agreement that the Programme has achieved 

practical completion, the Programme authority lead shall not be required to submit claims for 

Programme funding. Thereafter, the Programme authority lead shall complete annual 

monitoring returns in a form to be specified by the Accountable Body prior to the Accountable 

Body releasing any Programme funding to which the Programme authority lead is entitled. 

The annual monitoring forms will include an obligation to report on the progress in achieving 

the agreed outputs. The Accountable Body reserves the right to impose additional monitoring 

Tudalen104



74 
 

requirements at a frequency and for such period as it considers reasonable in all the 

circumstances. 

In addition to the above monitoring requirement the Accountable Body will require quarterly 

financial updates on Programme spend to support the cashflow management of the portfolio. 

These will detail the actual spend to the period, with forecast outturn over the 15-year duration 

of the portfolio. 

Programme lead authorities are also obligated to support the Accountable Body with any 

progress update reporting as required by the Welsh and UK Governments.  

5.7 Accounting Treatment of Programme Transactions 

5.7.1 Accounting for Income and Expenditure 

All income and expenditure in relation to Programmes outlined within the heads of terms are 

accounted for within the financial statements of the host Programme Lead Authority in respect 

of regional Programmes. 

5.7.2 Revenue Requirement 

The Welsh Government has acknowledged that revenue funding will be required to support 

the delivery of Programmes within the City Deal portfolio. The revenue requirements by 

Programmes of the City Deal are to be managed locally by the Programme Lead Authorities. 

The Welsh Government recognises that the four local authorities will need to manage their 

capital funding to enable revenue expenditure to be supported. To achieve this through the 

use of the Local Authorities’ capital receipts, Local Authorities will reference to the latest 

direction from Welsh Government Ministers on the use of capital receipts. This was issued 

under section 15(1) (a) of the Local Government Act 2003, along with accompanying 

guidance. Specific revenue funding will be detailed within Programme business cases and 

funded through partner investment.  

5.7.3 Balance Sheet Accounting 

Assets generated though the life of the Programme will be accounted of and held in the 

balance sheet of the Local authority in which constituent area the asset is completed. Local 

authorities will account for asses in line with the relevant legislation and accounting standards.  

5.7.4 Value Added Tax 

Value Added Tax (VAT) is included where appropriate within the forecasts and estimates 

demonstrated. For objectives delivered by local authorities, VAT is excluded from forecasts 

and estimates under the application of Section 33 of the VAT act 1994. This Act refunds to 

(mainly) local government bodies the VAT attributable to their non-business activities and 

exempt business activities, providing it is considered an insignificant proportion of the total tax 

they have incurred. Programmes or components of Programmes that are delivered by parties, 

other than that of local authorities, are subjected to VAT in the manner as regulated by the 

industry or sector in which they operate, except where regulatory standards dictate a specific 

treatment or application. Programme business cases will identify and detail the application of 

VAT and include within forecasts and estimates as appropriate. 

5.8 Added Value    

The Skills and Talent Programme is a transformational project breaking new ground in 

drawing together employers and training providers to develop the new key skills required to 

Tudalen105



75 
 

meet the changing demands of industry as well as developing the skills of the young people 

of the region to be the future workforce.   

5.9 Sustainability 

The development of new training courses identified through the Intervention will enable the 
provision to be incorporated within the mainstream HE and FE provision thereafter as part of 
the permanent offer within the region. 

5.10 Constraints  

 
The project is subject to the following constraints:  
 

• State Aid rules on State Aid as they apply  
 

5.11 Dependencies 

The project is subject to following dependencies that will be carefully monitored and 
managed throughout the lifespan of the scheme: 

• Continued core-funding from Welsh Government for the RLSP. 

• Revenue support for the Project from the Local Authorities 

• Match funding from the private sector. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen106



76 
 

6.0 Management Case  

6.1 Introduction 

The Skills and Talent management case provides key stakeholders with confidence that the 

capability and capacity to govern and deliver the programme are in place and suitable in order 

to meet the benefits realisation proposed throughout the business case, ensuring that they 

and other governance and delivery structures receive information in a timely and transparent 

manner to help them make informed decisions.  

This has been achieved by establishing and operating capacity and capability to implement 

and manage robust governance and approvals through people, structures, strategies and 

processes based around Portfolio, Programme and Project Management (P3M) practices and 

principles. Having these arrangements in place to consider how the programme will manage 

delivery of the business case, organisation, quality, plans, risk, change and progress will 

overcome challenges by reducing complexity whilst ensuring appropriate governance is 

utilised, in doing so will require regular revisits to the strategic, economic, commercial and 

financial cases, and analysis of the Programme throughout delivery. 

The Skills and Talent Programme is strategically owned by the Swansea Bay City Region and 

the Projects and Programmes within the SBCD and operationally managed by the RLSP 

Board and the Skills and Talent Programme Office. This approach will provide flexibility in the 

methodologies that the diverse set of programmes and projects will utilise to manage their 

development and delivery whilst ensuring the ability of the Skills and Talent Programme to 

maximise their own benefits realisations whilst meeting the needs of the wider Portfolio.  

All governance committees have been established and are fully operational. Robust 

governance and approvals of the Skills and Talent Programme are through its people, 

structures, strategies and processes as detailed in the following Management Case. 

The Skills and Talent programme will undergo a Gateway 0 external review on the 23 -25 June 
2021.  The Skills and Talent programme will be reviewed periodically by the CDPO it’s regional 
partners and external stage gate reviews to assess and monitor the success and governance 
of the project and ensure that the ambitions of the Skills and Talent programme are being met 
and that value for money and training needs are being addressed to meet the requirements of 
the individual projects that make up the City Deal and the wider economic success of the 
region. 

The Skills and Talent programme management office have conducted regular reviews 
throughout the preparation of the business case which has helped shape the business case 
and the benefits proposed throughout.  These recommendations have been endorsed by the 
Regional Learning and Skills Partnership Board and will be implemented as part of the 
programme.  A summary of the engagement can be found in Appendix K. 

 

6.2 Governance and delivery structures 

6.2.1. Swansea Bay City Deal Governance Structure 

The SBCD established a legal governance document - the Joint Committee Agreement (JCA) 

- in May 2018. Leading to the establishment of the SBCD Joint Committee, this document 

outlines the principles, rights and obligations of City Deal arrangements. Under the terms of 

the JCA, the four regional local authorities have pledged to work in partnership to discharge 

their obligations to one another, and to the Welsh Government and the UK Government, to 

promote and facilitate projects funded under the SBCD. The management processes and 

Tudalen107



77 
 

procedures outlined in the JCA include financial cash flow, project approval, risk management 

and progress updates. 

The overarching SBCD governance and delivery structure, as outlined below in Figure 4, is 

operational with established Terms of Reference for the various boards and committees, 

membership/post holders, and plans and processes in place to govern and deliver the SBCD 

portfolio. 

 

Figure 4 – Swansea Bay City Deal Governance Structure 

Governance 
entity 

Purpose  Owner/ 
Lead 

Meets Reports to 

Joint 
Committee 

Executive board with overall 
responsibility for scrutiny and business 
case approvals. It holds the Programme 
(Portfolio) Board and PoMO to account. 
Comprises of the four Local Authority 
Leaders of Carmarthenshire, Neath Port 
Talbot, Pembrokeshire and Swansea. 

Cllr Rob 
Stewart 

Monthly WG/UKG 

Programme 
(Portfolio) 
Board 

Oversees the operations of the SBCD. 
Responsible for reviewing business 
case developments and portfolio 
progress. Consists of the head of paid 
service of each of the eight primary 
partners for the SBCD, and is chaired by 
the SBCD Senior Responsible Owner. 

Wendy 
Walters 

Monthly  Joint 
Committee  

Senior 
Responsible 
Owner 

Appointed by the Joint Committee, the 
SRO is also the chairperson of the 
Programme (Portfolio) Board to 
champion the SBCD and drive its 
successful implementation by 
overseeing portfolio delivery and 
ensuring that appropriate governance 
arrangements are in place. The SRO 
holds the Portfolio Director to account. 

Wendy 
Walters 

- Joint 
Committee 

Portfolio 
Director 

Responsible for delivering the Portfolio 
Business Case and Project 
Development Roadmap. 

Jonathan 
Burnes 

- Joint 
Committee 
and SRO 

Tudalen108



78 
 

Programme / 
Project 
managers 

Experienced individuals who manage 
the development of the programme / 
project Business Cases and implement 
the Assurance and Approval plan and 
project plan. Also works with the 
Portfolio Director and PoMO to apply the 
Portfolio Development Roadmap. 
Depending on the size and complexity of 
the programme / project the Programme 
/ Project Manager will run the 
Programme / Project Team and manage 
external advisers. 

PM for 
each City 
Deal 
project 

Monthly Project / 
Programme 
Boards / 
SRO and 
SBCD 
Portfolio 
Director 

Portfolio 
Management 
Office 

Responsible for the day-to-day 
management of matters relating to the 
Joint Committee and the SBCD. 

SRO 
Wendy 
Walters 

Weekly 
team 
meetings 

Joint 
Committee/
SRO 

Economic 
Strategy Board 

Private sector advisory body which acts 
as the voice of business. Provides 
strategic direction for the City Deal 
through advice to the Joint Committee 
on matters relating to the City Region. 
The Chair is accountable to the Joint 
Committee. 

Chris Foxall 
(whilst Ed 
Tomp is on 
sabbatical) 

Monthly Joint 
Committee 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 

Provides advice, challenge and support 
to the Joint Committee for the SBCD 
Portfolio and associated cross-cutting 
regional projects/programmes. The full 
terms and reference for the Joint 
Scrutiny Committee are set out in the 
Joint Committee Agreement.   

Cllr Rob 
James 

Bi-
monthly 

Joint 
Committee 

Accountable 
Body 

Carmarthenshire County Council is the 
Accountable Body responsible for 
discharging City Deal obligations for the 
four Local Authorities including financial 
and staffing matters.  The Accountable 
body is the primary interface for the City 
Deal with the Welsh and UK 
Governments. 

CEO 
Wendy 
Walters 
 
Leader Cllr 
Emlyn Dole 

- Joint 
Committee 

Table 33 Swansea Bay City Deal Governance 

 

6.2.2 Skills and Talent Programme Governance Structure 

The Skills and Talent programme is one of the 9 projects/programmes that make up the 

Swansea Bay City Deal and is bound by the overarching governance of the City Deal 

Programme model.  The programme will operate in accordance with the Heads of Terms 

agreed by Welsh and UK Governments and the four local Authorities.  The Heads of Terms 

outlines in detail the City Deal’s governance. The Project will conduct its business in 

accordance with the City Deal’s parameters set out by the SBCR Joint Committee, 

Economic Strategy Board and Programme Board. The Skills and Talent governance and 

delivery structure detailed in figure 5 below sits below the SBCD structure represented in 

figure 4.   Carmarthenshire County Council is the lead body for the Skills and Talent 

programme and the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership (RLSP) will be responsible for 

the delivery of the programme.  

Tudalen109



79 
 

 

Figure 5 Skills and Talent Programme Governance Structure 

 

The Regional Learning and Skills Partnership Board for South West and Mid Wales has been 
in existence since 2010 led by a private sector Board incorporating representatives of further 
and higher education, training providers and education together with key stakeholders in 
employability and training in the region.  The partnership is transformational bringing business 
leaders, education and regeneration partners together to help provide a better future for 
learners and potential learners and people wishing to re-train across the region. The RLSP 
Board provides an oversight and ‘on the ground’ leadership in relation to the skills 
requirements and demands of industry.  

The RLSP will head the governance structure for the project and through the Skills & Talent 
PM will ensure the project is managed effectively, to approved timescales and in line with the 
governance structure of partner organisations. The RLSP will assist all regional and portfolio 
stakeholders with effective decision-making pertaining to the strategic direction and, where 
appropriate, the operational delivery of the scheme in order to successful deliver the benefits 
outlined within this business case.   

To achieve the requirements of the governance arrangements the Board recommended and 
unanimously agreed in a special meeting on the 25th February 2021 that the Terms of 
Reference and membership should be updated to meet the governance requirements to 
deliver the Skills and Talent programme incorporating additional representation from both 
public and private sector including observers from the Portfolio office. The updated Terms of 
Reference for the Board can be found in Appendix L. Membership of the group is detailed in 
Appendix C. The Skills Solution group will have responsibility of working with the Programme 
management team to identify the skills gaps and develop solutions in the form of projects to 
deliver the skills requirements to meet the needs of the projects.  Appendix M details the terms 
of reference and membership of the Skills solution group which includes representation of all 
projects that make up the SBCD. 

The RLSP Board will provide leadership and drive forward the vision of the Skills and Talent 
programme as set out in the Business Case.  The remit of the Programme Board will be 

Tudalen110



80 
 

delivered under the regional governance framework as set out within the City Deal portfolio 
business case. The Programme Board will have responsibilities which will include but not 
exclusive to:  

• Securing funding and approval for the programme 

• Updating the business case when required in accordance with the requirements 
and expectations of the Welsh and UK Governments and submitting this via the 
agreed governance requirements of the SBCD. 

• Project level approval of all major plans and seeking approval through the 
agreed governance arrangements. 

• Provide resource required to enable the programme delivery 

• Approval of all deviations from agreed tolerances in line with agreed change 
management arrangements. 

• Arbitration on any conflicts that cannot be resolved at Project level and 
escalation through the appropriate channels as required. 

• Reviewing and reporting the programme benefits (outcomes and impacts) and 
whether they are still achievable. 

• Management of major risks and issues at programme level and coordination and 
escalation of risks and issues that are likely to have an impact on other areas of 
the Portfolio. 

• Initial approval and sign off of key project documentation and coordination of 
approval of key documentation from wider stakeholders as required. 

• Approving and funding key changes 

• Guaranteeing equity and catering for the needs of all partners and stakeholders.  

• Ensuring longevity of initiatives and programmes created as a result of the Skills 
and Talent programme. 

 
The Board is supported by nine Industry cluster groups and the membership of each cluster 
group provide valuable insight into the needs of the industry.  Figure 6 below details the 
board’s current breadth of influence across all key employment sectors.  Appendix D details 
the membership of the Cluster groups. 

 

 

Figure 6 Regional Learning and Skills Partnership Board Stakeholder Engagement 

 

The Programme Team will work with the Skills Solutions group, the Provider group, the 
Industry Cluster groups and the employability group on the delivery of the programme that 
will include the following areas of work: 
 

Tudalen111



81 
 

• Liaise with the Swansea Bay City Deal projects on skills requirements and ensure 

that the programme delivers the skills training required to ensure the success of the 

projects. 

• Work with stakeholders to develop projects to meet the training needs of the region 

and support the development of projects to deliver the skills gap identified. 

• Monitor the performance of the projects against the key programme investment 

objectives to ensure that the programme remains on track to deliver on the proposed 

outputs. 

• Provide support to the RLSP Board to resolve key issues and manage the risks and 

opportunities within the programme. 

• Work with the Regional School Improvement Consortium to prepare a career path 

plan to support project proposals from schools to deliver on the aims of the 

programme in raising the aspiration through highlighting opportunities that will be 

generated through the City Deal projects and other business investments attracted to 

the region. 

• identify opportunities and implement Centres of Excellence in the region that will 

deliver on key programme outcomes 

 

6.2.3   Skills and Talent Programme Delivery Team 

 

The day-to-day operation of the programme will be delivered by the Skills and Talent 
programme management team who will have responsibility for the delivery programme 
working to and alongside the Regional Learning and Skills Programme Board.  The 
Programme Implementation Plan (Appendix I) details the timescale of the programme across 
all five key areas of delivery. 
 
The Programme team will be responsible for: 

- Providing the Portfolio Management office, and ultimately Portfolio Board, Joint 
Committee, UK and Welsh Governments with all necessary reports and 
documentation as outlined within the Programme and Portfolio IAAP documentation 
(Attached as Appendix N) 

- Developing, implementing, maintaining and monitoring a comprehensive 
performance management system and evaluation framework that will operate and 
meet the requirements of both the strategic portfolio and programme level 
governance. 

- Being responsible for the management of the programme including gateway reviews, 
performance and financial management of the delivery programme, undertaking due 
diligence as required 

- Overseeing delivery and ensuring integration between the respective City Deal 

projects. 

- Maintaining appropriate communication, recording and reporting functions with the 

wider stakeholder group through the Portfolio Management office. 

 

The Skills and Talent Programme Management team is led by an experienced and qualified 
Regional Partnership Manager who reports to the Economic Development Manager within 
Carmarthenshire County Council as the Lead Authority for the delivery of the Skills and Talent 
Programme.  Figure 7 below shows the structure of the Programme Team. 

Tudalen112



82 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7 – Skills and Talent Programme Management Structure. 

• Regional Partnership Manager 
The post holder is responsible for the development and delivery of the programme; 
for reporting back to the RLSP, the portfolio office and various boards across the City 
Deal as required.  The post holder will ensure that all risks, benefits and value for 
money are monitored and reported on a regular basis and that the work of the 
programme is communicated to all stakeholders and meets the needs determined by 
the wider City Deal projects and programmes. 
 

• Programme Manager 
The post holder will work with the RLSP Programme Board, project partners and 
stakeholders to to identify and deliver the skills needs for the region and the portfolio.  
The skills needs will be deveoped into pilot skills projects to be funded through the 
programme to meet the needs of the 8 City Deal projects and other potential 
investment projects that are attracted to the region. 
  

• Skills Development Project Officer 
The post holder will be responsible for assisting partner organisations and 
stakeholders to identify the requirements of the City Deal projects and programmes 
and develop the projects and ensure that they deliver value for money; the outputs 
and outcomes required within the programme. 
 

• Career Pathway Project Officer 
The post holder will be responsible for working with schools to strengthen the link 
between education and training providers and businesses in the region to work 
together to implement a skills programme for the City Deal area that will develop a 
highly skilled and trained workforce for the future “Creating Ambition and Aspiration 
in All”.  The post holder will liase with the schools across the region to ensure that the 
projects developed enhance  the careen pathways into the  jobs created by the City 
Deal projects.   
 

• Quality and Perfomance Officer  
The post holder will undertake the day to day financial monitoring of the programme 
activities and will gather and record the programme and project outputs. 

The new roles will be recruited into the Programme Office as soon as possible to bring the 
necessary skills and experience  to successfully deliver the programme. 

In addition to these roles Carmarthenshire County Council will provide support services for 
financial leadership. 

Tudalen113



83 
 

 

6.3 Stakeholders 

The programme builds upon the momentum created through proven collaborative 

working.  The RLSP has a strong employer and stakeholder engagement programme that 

has grown to over the last 4 years to over 3000 businesses and all the training providers and 

public bodies listed below.  

• Further Education providers – Coleg Sir Gar (incorporating Coleg Ceredigion); Gower 

College; Pembrokeshire College; Neath and Port Talbot College and Colegau Cymru 

• Higher Education - Swansea University; University of Wales Trinity St David; 

Aberystwyth University and Open University.  

• Local Authorities - All four Local Authorities: Swansea City Council, Neath Port Talbot 

County Borough, Carmarthenshire County Council and Pembrokeshire County 

Council. There is also engagement with Ceredigion and Powys County Councils who 

have an interest in Skills Development in the region. 

• Welsh Government - The Departments of: Economy and Infrastructure; Health, 

Wellbeing and Sport; and Finance and Local Government, together with the First 

Minister’s Cabinet Office.  

• NHS - Both Swansea Bay University Health Board and Hywel Dda University Health 

Boards covering the entire region from an NHS perspective  

• Private Sector – Welsh Government designated Anchor and Regionally Important 

Companies; Large Companies; Small and Medium Size Enterprises in the 

region.  The chairs of each Sector Cluster groups represent the specific sectors 

within the City Deal themes 

• Third Sector organisations 

• Skills Solution group representing all HE, FE and training providers who will be 

instrumental in working with the programme team to deliver skills solutions 

 

The consultation and engagement with all of the organisations/individuals listed above on 

the proposals for the Skills and Talent programme has been continuous throughout the 

development of the business case, via face-to-face meetings; questionnaires on skills needs 

etc; presentations to forums and meetings and workshops.   

During the development of the business case for the Skills and Talent programme there has 

also been extensive engagement with over 300 schools across the region and the RLSP 

officers now regularly attend Head teacher group meetings and meet with schools to discuss 

the programme and opportunities for schools to work with the programme team including the 

development of a Welsh Language level 2 and 3 courses delivered in school for Engineering 

and Digital studies.   

The RLSP have also worked with the 14-19 school co-ordinators to develop specific 

modules for the support of the City Deal projects within the Welsh Baccalaureate and will 

utilise this network of co-ordinators to ensure the training developed and delivered, best 

meets the needs of the wider portfolio. 

6.4 Use of Special Advisors 

Specialist advisors may be necessary in the following areas: 

• Technical  

o Capture of requirements  

o Production of service definitions 

Tudalen114



84 
 

o Production of procurement documentation 

o Interaction with stakeholders and national and regional governments 

o Supplier dialogue 

• Legal 

o Draft contracts 

o State aid guidance and judgements 

o Procurement support in dialogue and contract finalisation 

Where advisors or consultants are engaged this will be completed in line with the procurement 

principles agreed for the SBCD and the Programme office will engage with the PoMO in order 

to ensure the appointment provides maximum benefit for the programme. 

In addition, the SBCR Economic Strategy Board (ESB) is made up of business sector 

representatives from sectors including energy, finance, life sciences, manufacturing, housing 

and economic acceleration. While also applying private sector rigour to the assessment of City 

Deal programme / project business cases, the ESB makes recommendations to the Joint 

Committee for consideration. New members were appointed as specialist advisers in 2020 to 

broaden the representation of further sectors including skills and micro businesses. All ESB 

member appointments used an open recruitment exercise process and all members are 

unpaid for their SBCD contributions.  

The Skills and Talent programme has already engaged with a number of Specialist Advisors 
in the preparation of the Business Case these include: 

• DS Swallow on the Economic Case 

• Joe Flanagan Advisor to Welsh Government  

• Belfast and Edinburgh City Deal management office. 

 

6.5 Monitoring and Evaluation for Performance and Benefits 

The Programme Monitoring and Evaluation processes will replicate those set out in the SBCD 

Monitoring and Evaluation Plan. The Programme SRO will ensure that the Programme team 

makes appropriate arrangements to collate, monitor and communicate project milestones, 

deliverables and benefits realisation. The M&E Plan aligns to the revised HM Treasury Green 

and Magenta books and the UK Government’s Project Delivery Guidance.  

The M&E plan will be applied at programme / project level where a two-way cascade of outputs 

and outcomes will be required to understand performance and impact of the SBCD portfolio. 

The tools and templates used to monitor and evaluate activity are summarised in the table 

below, along with their frequency: 

Document Frequency 

1. Highlight report Monthly 

2. Monitoring report Quarterly 

3. Annual report Annually 

4. Benefits realisation plan / 
register reported 

Continually updated and reported quarterly  

5. Milestone evaluations  Year 5 and 10 

 

Tudalen115



85 
 

The M&E requires the delivery of two primary components. Firstly, Progress and Performance, 

which is a periodic assessment of programme / project implementation and performance 

activities; and secondly, Programme Benefits Realisation/Evaluation, which is the evaluation 

of their results in terms of relevance, effectiveness, and impact. The Monitoring and Evaluation 

undertaken by the programme board will provide the SBCD governance structures, namely 

the Portfolio Management Office, Joint Committee, Programme (Portfolio) Board, Economic 

Strategy Board and Joint Scrutiny Committee, with information on the progress and impact 

made towards achieving the programmes milestones, outputs and outcomes. This information 

will be shared with the Welsh and UK Governments through periodic updates and reviews, 

while also being made available to the public on an annual basis. Regular updates on the 

following will be provided in line with the overarching Portfolio M & E requirements: 

• portfolio communications,  

• RAG rating and summary status,  

• key achievements,  

• key planned activities,  

• key risks and issues,  

• output deliverables,  

• IAAP,  

• Covid-19 Impact Assessment,  

• financial monitoring.   

The benefits management will assess and review the outcomes that result in change that were 

achieved as part of the activities undertaken by the Skills and Talent Programme. The 

milestones to review benefits will be agreed at programme level to ensure that benefits are 

realistically and meaningfully measured however benefit progress will be reported at least 

quarterly to the PoMO. These will be aligned to the IAAP and external stage gate review 

process. Further work will take place in Q2 2021/22 to further develop the plan and associated 

strategy, map, profile, and reports as required.  

6.6 Benefits Realisation 

The measurement of benefits within the delivery of the Skills and Talent programme is 

problematic as there are so many moving parts that change and, benefits could be assigned 

to. The key SMART objectives will be fully laid out under the Prince 2 methodology so that the 

delivery can be clearly identified in terms of benefits that will be derived and delivered from 

the programme. 

An overarching benefits measure should be the number of skills increases across the region, 

linked with the ongoing ability of the individuals benefiting from the Skills and Talent 

programme and percentage of these who are able to successfully obtain employment in the 

intended areas of industry as a direct result of the programme.  

All Skills and Talent Programmes are enabling in its nature, if there is no demand or beneficial 

use that can be made, then it would have no value. As such many of the outputs and benefits 

identified are predicated on the future opportunities to the regional workforce maximising the 

opportunities provided by the skills and talent programme in order to produce relevant training 

in order to meet the current skills gaps and provide suitably qualified individuals to take up the 

employment opportunities available as a result of the wider portfolio.  

In order to measure a benefit against the intended outputs of the programme, ideally a base-

line position would need to be identified, so that improvement or degradation can be seen. 

Whilst the setting of a base-line would be open to interpretation there is data readily available 

Tudalen116



86 
 

in order to determine the level of skills and talent within the region. It is therefore proposed 

that metrics will be devised in order to assess the impact of the Skills and Talent programme 

and the population of South West Wales. The Benefits Register for the programme is attached 

as Appendix O. 

The lasting legacy of the programme will be the establishment of a range of new skills 

courses across a range of sectors. The collaborative working established as part of this 

Programme will ensure that all sectors will be involved in the development of “fit for purpose” 

skills training for the region in order to achieve the City Deal aim of developing a highly 

skilled workforce for the region. This joint working will provide lasting improvements 

including: 

• Improved efficiency through integration of services and elimination of duplication 
which will benefit the learner and the potential learner by freeing up resources. 

• Flexible and responsive approach to the needs of the local labour market by bringing 
learning and skills together with regeneration opportunities in the region. This will 
benefit the learner by delivering relevant learning opportunities with greater potential 
for employment.  

• Availability of informative, up to date information to help in strategic planning; 
ensuring the most appropriate learning opportunities and progression routes are 
available for learners in the region, which will benefit the learner by providing 
pathways.  

• The Programme ultimately aims to inform the restructuring of provision of publicly 
funded training and education in the region. 

• Flexible and responsive approach to the needs of the local labour market by bringing 
learning and skills together with regeneration opportunities in the region, which will 
benefit the learner by delivering relevant learning opportunities with greater potential 
for employment.  

 

The measurement is not meant to be comprehensive but focus instead on the most likely 

indicators that would give a positive measure of the benefits realised through undertaking the 

Skills and Talent Programme. The measurement itself will need to be carried out through a 

sample based primary research programme, which will allow additional benefits to surface. 

The measurement of benefits from the programme will be over a long period of time as there 

are a number of areas e.g. schools where the impact will not be seen until the child in 

primary school in 2021 will be leaving school in 12 years.  However, there will be some more 

immediate measurements where upskilling can take place to support specific projects from 

within existing workforce or people in colleges and universities that will become aware of 

opportunities within the City Deal projects during their study years. 

6.7 Risk Management Strategy 

Risk is defined as the uncertainty of outcome, whether positive opportunity or negative 

threat, of actions and events. The risk must be assessed in respect of the combination of the 

likelihood of something happening, and the impact which arises if it does actually happen. 

Risks that have occurred, or will do so imminently, are no longer risks, but are known as 

issues. They are no longer risks because the uncertainty about whether they will occur has 

been removed. 

A Programme Risk Management Strategy will be developed in Q2 2021/22 and will be aligned 

to HMT Green Book supplementary guidance: The Orange Book, the strategy defines the risk 

appetite and tolerance of the SBCD, as well as principles of the strategy, along with a 

Tudalen117



87 
 

documented process for identifying, assessing, addressing and measuring risk and issues. 

The risk management strategy is led from the top of the SBCD and is embedded in standard 

practices and processes of the SBCD governance arrangements.  

The purpose of the Risk Management Strategy is to provide a systematic and effective method 

by which risks can be consistently managed throughout the SBCD Portfolio. This will: 

• Inform stakeholders how risks will be identified, assessed, addressed and managed 

• Provide a common strategy and understanding of portfolio management that will 

enhance the capability, willingness and understanding of appropriate governance and 

assurance, thereby increasing the likelihood of successful delivery of the SBCD 

aligned to the regional ambitions 

• Detail the key roles and responsibilities of groups and individuals associated with the 

SBCD with respect to programme management 

• Signpost to additional resource, support and training 

• Provide standard definitions and language to underpin the risk management process 

• Implement an approach that follows best practice 

The Programme risk management approach is based on P3M (Portfolio, Programme and 

Project) and HM Treasury Orange Book best practices. 

 

Figure 9 HM Treasury Orange Book Best Practice model 

 

The Programme currently has a risk register (Appendix F) and regularly reports on prioritised 

risks through the PoMO in order to inform the Portfolio Stakeholders of pertinent risks. The 

risk register is sub-divided into the themes of development, implementation, operational and 

financial. Each risk provides details of the description, owner, consequence and a review 

update, accompanied by a scoring based on probability and impact for each risk. The 

identification and assessment of risks in the risk register are aligned to the UK and Welsh 

Government Guidance, where risks fall into three main categories: 

 

Tudalen118



88 
 

Business 
Business related risks remain with the public sector and can never be 
transferred 

Service 
Service-related risks occur in the design, build, funding and operational 
phases of a portfolio and may be shared between the public and private 
sectors 

External 
External systemic risks affect all society and are unpredictable and random 
in nature 

Business-related risks that can affect the scope, time and cost at portfolio level are 

summarised as follows: 

• Displacement as a result of competing with other regions across Wales 

• Lack of funding from Welsh and UK Governments 

• Lack of inward investment from private sector 

• Lack of quality human capital within the region 

• Political conflict at Regional, UK and Welsh Government levels 

 

Service-related risks will be managed by each of the City Deal programmes and projects, 

who will maintain, manage and monitor their own risk registers in line with guidance from the 

Green Book and the PoMO governance arrangements. Any significant risks that may affect 

portfolio deliverables will be escalated to the PoMO and reported and managed via the 

regional governance structure. 

External Risks:  Although not within the control of the programme, external risks are 

significant to delivery and are therefore monitored accordingly.  Key business risks captured 

in a programme risk register are: 

• Length of time for the approval of the business case 

• Failure to increase the number of skilled individuals 

• Lead in times in the development of new skills offer in the region. 

 

The Programme Risk Register is considered by the PoMO for escalation to Programme 

(Portfolio) Board and Joint Committee on a quarterly basis. This document is also available 

for review by Joint Scrutiny Committee. 

The Programme Risk Register is an important tool and will form part of the Skills and Talent 

Risk Management Strategy and helps the Programme board and PoMO document risks, track 

risks and address them through preventative controls and corrective measures.  

The Programme board will also establish an issues log in order to facilitate the management 

of issues at the appropriate time. The Issues Log will be updated quarterly and reported on by 

exception through the Governance structure via the Quarterly Monitoring Report. 

6.8 Communication Plan 

All communications relating to the Skills and Talent programme will be managed through 
Carmarthenshire County Council media team working alongside the PR departments of the 
four Local Authorities and the SBCD Portfolio office. 

6.9 Contingency 
The City Deal’s Joint Committee Agreement outlines contingency arrangements for several 

scenarios. The scenarios identified include the withdrawal of a programme / project from the 

City Deal portfolio, the change of a project local authority lead, and the withdrawal of a partner 

Tudalen119



89 
 

from the City Deal portfolio. All these scenarios and contingency arrangements will be 

managed via the portfolio and programme / project risk registers and issue logs and reported 

accordingly. Risk management is not the same as contingency planning. Risk management is 

about identifying, assessing, avoiding, mitigating, transferring, sharing and accepting risk; 

while a contingency plan is about developing steps to take when an actual issue occurs. 

The RLSP Programme Board will establish contingency plans to develop steps to take when 

an issue occurs.  

When a Risk has undergone all mitigation and the situation becomes certain, the occurrence 

becomes an issue. The Programme Board will advise the PoMO as soon as reasonably 

practicable and adopts the following process to ensure the issue is managed appropriately. 

 

 

 

Figure 8 Moving a Risk to an Issue 

All four local authorities are subject to the JCA, which will be kept under review.  

The Programme office will work with the PoMO to ensure that contingency arrangements are 
considered and in place at a programme and project level to manage potential scenarios in 
the development, delivery and operational phases of the individual schemes. 
 

 

6.10 Post Funding/Continuation Strategy 

The City Deal funding will facilitate the identification of projects to identify the skills gaps and 
the development of new skills within the region.  The development of a new framework of skills 
to meet industry needs will be funded through pilot development from the City Deal and future 
delivery would be adopted through the Welsh Government Skills funding programme.  

It is anticipated that the RLSP will demonstrate ongoing commitment to the training schemes 
developed through the City Deal Skills and Talent programme by working with Welsh 
Government Skills and Training to include all new frameworks developed as part of the 
programme within mainstream delivery in FE colleges and work- based learning 
apprenticeships in future. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Prog. Board 

agree risk is an 

issue 

Escalate to PoMO 

/ Governance 

Boards  

Agree resolution 

with PoMO and 

add to issue log 

Continue working 

towards 

resolution  

Tudalen120



90 
 

 

Glossary of Terms 

RLSP  Regional Learning and Skills Partnership 

CDP  City Deal Portfolio 

FE  Further Education 

HE  Higher Education 

DCMS  Department of Culture Media and Sport 

SBCD  Swansea Bay City Deal  

CPD  Continuous Professional Development 

CDPO  City Deal Programme Office 

PM  Programme Management  

PoMO  Portfolio Management Office 

M & E  Monitoring and Evaluation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen121



91 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen122



1

Impact Assessment - First Stage

It is essential that all initiatives undergo a first stage impact assessment to identify relevance to equalities and the Welsh language 
as well as an evaluation of how the proposal has taken into account the sustainable development principle (the five ways of 
working); an incorrect assessment could ultimately be open to legal challenge.
The first stage is to carry out a short assessment to help determine the need to undertake a more in-depth analysis (the second 
stage).   

Relevance will depend not only on the number of people/service users affected, but also the significance of the effect on them.

When completing the first step you must have regard to the following: 

 Does the initiative relate to an area where important equality issues have been, or are likely to be, raised? (For example, 
funding for services to assist people who are victims of rape/sexual violence or individuals with particular care need; disabled 
people's access to public transport; the gender pay gap; racist or homophobic bullying in schools)

 Is there a significant potential for reducing inequalities, or improving outcomes? (For example, increasing recruitment 
opportunities for disabled people). 

 Does the initiative relate to instances where opportunities to use the Welsh language are likely to be affected or where the 
language is likely to be treated less favourably? (For example, increase the number of Welsh speakers moving from/to a 
certain area; closing specific Welsh language services or put those services at risk services;  

 Does the initiative relate to the improvement of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being? To what extent 
does the initiative prevent things getting worse? (For example, funding for services to assist in cultural well-being;  changes 
in polices that promote independence and/or assist carers)

1. Provide a description and summary of the initiative. 
Identify which service area and directorate has responsibility for the initiative.
 

2. Identify who will be affected by the initiative. 
If you answer Yes to service users, staff or wider community continue with the first stage of the assessment  
If you answer No to service users, staff or wider community or Yes to ‘Internal administrative process only’, go to Question 5 – 
sustainable development principle.  

3. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available to you think about what impact there could be on people who 
share protected characteristics; whether they are service users, staff or the wider community.

T
udalen123



2

Some things to consider include: 

 transport issues 
 accessibility 
 customer service
 cultural sensitivity
 financial implications  
 loss of jobs  

Definitions of impacts (either positive or negative): 

 High – likely to be highly affected by the initiative  
 Medium - likely to be affected in some way 
 Low - likely to be affected by the initiative in a small way
 Don’t know - the potential impact is unknown

You must provide reasons, and indicate what evidence you used, in coming to your decision. 

4. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available, think about what impact there could be on opportunities to 
use the Welsh language and in treating the language no less favourably than English. 
Definitions of impacts are the same as in Question 3.
The classification ‘Don’t Know’ should be categorised as ‘High Impact’ in both questions 3 & 4.

 
5. Consider how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle in accordance with the Section 7c of the Well-

being of Future Generations Act 2015.

Give details of the initiative in relation to the 5 ways of working:

 Long term - how the initiative supports the long term well-being of people 
 Integration -  how the initiative impacts upon our wellbeing objectives 
 Involvement -  how people have been involved in developing the initiative 
 Collaboration - how we have worked with other services/organisations to find shared sustainable solutions; 
 Prevention -  how the initiative will prevent problems occurring or getting worse 

T
udalen124



3

6. The most appropriate statement must be selected (and the relevant box ticked) based on the first stage of the assessment and an 
explanation of how you have arrived at this decision must be given. 

In addition a summary of the how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle must also be included. 

Where the first stage of the assessment indicates that a more in-depth analysis is required the second stage of the assessment will 
need to be completed and this will need to be started immediately. 

A first stage assessment must be included as a background paper for all Cabinet/Cabinet Board/ Scrutiny Committee Reports.

Where the first stage assessment is completed by an accountable manager it must be signed off by a Head of Service/Director. 

 

 
 

T
udalen125



4

Impact Assessment - First Stage 

1. Details of the initiative 

Initiative description and summary: Skills and Talent Programme
The Skills and Talent Programme is a unique programme within the suite of nine projects that make up 
the Swansea Bay City Deal portfolio that will over the next 5 years deliver a skills training solution, offering 
the best value sustainable skills infrastructure to develop the workforce of the future. The development of 
skills to meet the needs of the City Deal projects and wider employer needs will enhance opportunities for 
the residents of the county and increase the number of people with higher level skills in the region.

The overarching aim of the programme is to strengthen collaboration and increase investment that will 
significantly boost the quality and quantity of trained and skilled individuals through the intervention of the 
programme. The programme will aim to develop opportunities for upskilling individuals into new 
opportunities in the region alongside the introduction of new skills training to ensure that the skills needs 
are developed for the workforce of the future.

Service Area:   Regeneration
Directorate: Environment & Regeneration

2. Does the initiative affect:  
Yes No

Service users X
Staff X
Wider community X
Internal administrative process only X

3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their: 

T
udalen126



5

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
Know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How 
might it impact?

Age X Training would be available to all.
Disability X Training would be available to all.
Gender Reassignment X Training would be available to all.
Marriage/Civil Partnership X Training would be available to all.
Pregnancy/Maternity X Training would be available to all.
Race X Training would be available to all.
Religion/Belief X Training would be available to all.
Sex X Training would be available to all.
Sexual orientation X Training would be available to all.

4. Does the initiative impact on:

Yes No None/
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / 
How might it impact?

People’s opportunities 
to use the Welsh 
language 

X Welsh Language training would be encouraged and 
developed for as many of the pilot projects as possible.

Treating the Welsh 
language no less 
favourably than English 

X The programme aims to ensure that all opportunities are 
offered bilingually and would encourage the development of 
specific Welsh Courses where required or where there is 
clear evidence of demand.

T
udalen127



6

5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity:

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence) / 
How might it impact?

To maintain and 
enhance biodiversity x

. 
The programme would develop specific biodiversity training 
identified by any of the 8 City Deal projects.

To promote the 
resilience of 
ecosystems, i.e. 
supporting protection of 
the wider environment, 
such as air quality, flood 
alleviation, etc. 

x . The programme will not be developing any buildings.

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 ways of working):

Yes No Details

Long term - how the initiative 
supports the long term well-being of 
people 

X Skills and Talent development is a long-term investment in skills 
across all ages which will enable transformative actions at many 
levels. 

Integration -  how the initiative 
impacts upon our wellbeing 
objectives 

x Skills development is a critical enabler across many sectors and 
makes integration simpler and more effective.

Involvement -  how people have 
been involved in developing the 

x Part of the project is to deliver up-skilling, which is fundamental 
to opening opportunities for all and increasing the chance for all 

T
udalen128



7

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate):

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required X

Reasons for this conclusion   

initiative to get employment and have a better standard of living. The 
programme has engaged with all of the City Deal project leads; 
the training providers and employers across the region to 
understand the skills gaps and training requirements.  The 
programme has also worked with a range of schools across the 
region to share information about opportunities that will be 
generated through the City Deal projects.

Collaboration - how we have worked 
with other services/organisations to 
find shared sustainable solutions

x Skills and Talent opens significant new opportunities to involve 
people and organisations in working together and increase 
prosperity in the region.   The stakeholders in the programme 
include all of the training operators in the region and they have 
all been involved in the development of the programme.

Prevention -  how the initiative will 
prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse 

x Skills delivery represents an opportunity to improve services and 
provide a stable platform for future change.

T
udalen129



8

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required 

Reasons for this conclusion   

Name Position Signature Date

Completed 
by

Jane 
Lewis

Regional 
Partnership 
Manager

25/05/2021

Signed off 
by 

Nicola 
Pearce

Director of 
Environment & 
Regeneration

T
udalen130



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 

30th June 2020

Mr Andrew Thomas 
Director of Education, Leisure and Lifelong Learning 

Matter for:  Decision
Wards Affected: Pontardawe, Alltwen, Rhos, Trebanos.

Pontardawe Arts Centre Cinema Project.

1. Purpose of the Report 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the the allocation of an 
additional £600k for the development of a 70 seat new build external 
cinema and ancillary accommodation at Pontardawe Arts Centre. 

2. Executive Summary

Cabinet previously resolved on the 20th November 2019, the allocation of 
£500k towards the construction of a 70 seat Cinema at Pontardawe Arts 
Centre. This was based on the estimated cost provided by consultants 
engaged by the Arts Council for Wales to develop and design the 
proposal. 

The budget price provided by the appointed project lead for the scheme is 
now in excess of the original estimate and a further £600k investment is 
required from the Council for the project to progress.

3. Background 

In 2019 the Arts Council for Wales (ACW) in partnership with this Council 
appointed a consultancy “De Matos Ryan” to carry out a resilience study 
relating to Pontardawe Arts Centre. The emphasis of the study, was to 
identify potential income generation opportunities to reduce the Council’s 

Tudalen131

Eitem yr Agenda6



annual subsidy. The report proposed the construction of a new 70 seater 
cinema at a cost of circa £600k. 

A purpose-built cinema would enable Pontardawe Arts Centre to screen 
first week releases on a continual basis. Given that 30% of a film’s 
audience view the film within the first three days of release this is 
essential if audiences are to be maximised.

This cinema proposal was supported by a second consultant appointed 
by the Arts Counicl for Wales (Richard Newton) who reviewed the 
operation of the Pontardawe Arts Centre and prepared a business plan 
based on a 70 seat cinema, showing first release films.

Initially, it was anticipated the cinema project would cost £600k and the 
Arts Council for Wales would fund 50% and this Council would be 
required to make a capital contribution of circa £300k. 

At a meeting of Cabinet on the 20th November 2019, delegated authority 
was granted to the Head of Transformation and Head of Property and 
Regeneration to approve the appointment of a multi-disciplinary 
consultancy team to progress detailed designs and cost for the cinema 
and associated improvements

Cabinet also approved up to £500k funds being made available in the 
capital budget in 2020/21 to support the above scheme.

Childs Sulzmann were subsequently appointed as project lead for the 
development, and have now provided alternative designs and budget 
costs for the cinema and associated improvements, including ancillary 
accommodation and internal refurbished ground floor proposals. The 
budget estimated cost for the preferred option is £1,317,076, with a 
further sum of £100K being marked as contingency amounts to achieve 
cost certainty.

4. Financial Impact 

The Richard Newton Consulting business plan concluded the new cinema 
would have a positive impact on the arts centre's subsidy of 
approximately £70k to £110k per annum. To put this into prospective, the 
budgeted subsidy for the Arts Centre for 2020/21 was £180,444 and for 
2021/22 it’s £185,848. 

Tudalen132



In terms of the debt charges the additional capital cost of £600k will 
equate to an annual revenue cost of £45k for 15 years.  The additional 
£45k will be funded from within the existing debt charges budget.

6. Integrated Impact Assessment 

A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken and is appended 
as (Appendix 3) to assist the Council in discharging its legislative duties 
(under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh Language Standards (No.1) 
Regulations 2015, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

The first stage assessment has indicated that a more in-depth 
assessment is not required.  

7. Valleys Communities Impacts

There will be a positive impact if the development is progressed. The 
cinema will meet the councils wellbeing objectives 1,2, and 3 by 
enhancing the offer for families and citizens within the Swansea valley, 
with the provision of additional recreational facilities

8. Workforce Impacts

There are no workforce impacts associated with this report.

9. Legal Impacts

There are no legal impacts associated with this report

10. Risk Management

Without the Cinema development, the subsidy reduction for Pontardawe 
Arts Centre will be difficult to achieve.

11. Consultation

Whilst there is no requirement under the Constitution for external 
consultation on this item, there was an extensive public consultation 
exercise completed as part of the Richard Newton consultancy. The result 
of the consultation was resounding support for the new cinema.

Tudalen133



12. Recommendations 

It is recommended that, giving due regard to the Integrated Impact 
Assessment that an additional allocation £600k for the development of 
the 70 seater cinema, ancillary accommodation and internal refurbished 
ground floor proposals at Pontardawe Arts Centre be approved.

13. Reasons for Proposed Decision 

The proposal will enhance the current offer at Pontardawe Arts Centre, 
increasing income resulting in a reduced subsidy.

13. Implementation of Decision

The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period.  

14. Appendices

Appendix 1 Plan of Proposed Development. 

15. List Background Papers of 

None. 

Officer Contact

Paul Walker Operations Coordinator . p.walker@npt.gov.uk 

Tel: 07899923478

Tudalen134

mailto:p.walker@npt.gov.uk


/

Tramshed Tech

Pendryris Street

Cardiff, CF11 6BH

02920 108 729

T:

E:

W:

DRAWN

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT

DRAWING

NUMBER REV.

0117 930 0010

www.cs-architects.co.uk

mail@cs-architects.co.ukBristol BS1 4XE

Colston Street

9th Floor Colston Tower

C  COPYRIGHT

T:

E:

W: www.cs-architects.co.uk

mail@cs-architects.co.uk

BRISTOL

CARDIFF

5m0m 10m2m

NOV’20

@A1
1:100

CINEMA EXTENSION
PONTARDAWE ARTS CENTRE

AS

20/568/101

01 PLAN-GA-GROUND-EXISTING-OPTION 3A
SCALE:- 1:100 @ A1101

Option 4
Plan-GA-Ground-Proposed

bt
riser

 

PROJ
ECTOR

A
/
V
 E

Q
U
IP

M
E

N
T

DASHED

BELOW 
SHOWN 

DUCTWORK 

D
A

S
H

E
D

B
E

L
O

W
 S

H
O

W
N
 

D
U

C
T

W
O

R
K
 

c
ir
c
u
la
ti
o
n
 z

o
n
e

1
1
0
0

m
m
 (

w
) 

c
ir
c
u
la
ti
o
n
 z

o
n
e

1
1
0
0

m
m
 (

w
) 

SHELFING

service zone
1400mm (w) 

s
e
rv
ic

e
 z

o
n
e

1
4
0
0

m
m
 (w

) 

shown dashed
Alternative bar layout 

Storage Racking

S
to
ra

g
e
 R

a
c
k
in

g

Beer Barrels

Storage Racking

Food Display

Drinks Taps Drinks Taps

Back Bar + Spirit Display Back Bar + Spirit Display 

S
e
rv

e
ry
 H

a
tc

h

S
to
re

S
e
c
u
ri
ty
 

74

STAGE 2-CONCEPT DESIGN

AUDITORIUM

SEATING
NON-PERMANENT SEATING

NON-PERMANENT 

STAGE

WC
MALE

WC
FEMALE

LOBBY

FOYER

EXIT
FIRE EXIT

FIRE 

STORE

ROOM
DRESSING 

SH. STORE
WC

EXIT
FIRE 

EXIT
FIRE 

DOORS
STAGE 

EXIT
FIRE 

EXIT
FIRE 

EXIT
FIRE 

HOLLY STREET HOLLY STREET

STREET

HERBERT 

S
T
R
E
E
T

H
E
R

B
E
R
T
 

S
T
R
E
E
T

H
E
R

B
E
R
T
 

STREET
FULLER

LIBRARY
PONTERDAWE 

/

N

REV DATE DESCRIPTION

24/02/2021

ESCAPE
EXISTING 

S
E

R
V
IC

E
S

CONTAINER
RELOCATED

R
A

M
P

R
E

C
O

N
F
IG

U
R

E
D
 

EXIT
FIRE 

WC
ACC.

RE
MOVABLE

 SE
ATS

SCRE
ENSP

EAKER Z
ONE

METER

AREA OF NEW BUILD: 160 SQM - GIA

PROPOSED FIRE ESCAPE ROUTE

OPTION 4:

WC
FEMALE

WC
MALE

LOBBY
CINEMA 

LOBBY
ACOUSTIC

SITE OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

Arts Centre
estimated capacity of 

shown based on 
2.1m wide fire escape 

SITE OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

PHARMACY 
LLOYDS 

ROOM
PROJECTOR

LOBBY

C’BRD
CLEAN.

STORE
FURN.

GATE
NEW

60mins fire)
(Upgraded to 

PLANT ROOM 
EXISTING 

EXIT
FIRE 

PROJ
ECTO

R R
OOM

ROOM T
O C

INEMA B
ENEATH

 LOBBY A
ND 

SE
RVIC

ES
 TO
 CONNECT F

ROM P
LANT 

spaces.
spaces) or 72 if front seats removed to provide 6 wheelchair 
NO. CINEMA SEATS: 74 (inc. 2 no. dedicated wheelchair 

BANQUETTE SEAT

WITH CLIENT
MAIN THEATRE - TBA 

STUDIO THEATRE AND 
WALKWAY BETWEEN 
POTENTIAL COVERED 

E
S

C
A
P

E
G

A
T
E
 T

O
 P

R
O

V
ID

E
 

R
E

C
O

N
F
IG

U
R

E
D
 

TB
C)

(RE
QUIR

EMENTS
 

BIN
S 

Issued to client for comment

(TBA WITH CLIENT)
RECEPTION DESK 

POSSIBLY REMOVE 

LIFT

LOBBY
CIRCULATION

STORE

EXIT
FIRE 

WC
ADAPT.

MERCHANDISE
BREAKOUT/ 

STUDIO

CELLAR

RETAINED
DOORS 

EXISTING 

IN WALL
NEW OPENING 

IN WALL
NEW OPENING 

DOORS
SLIDING 

EXISTING

E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

M
A
IN
 

DELIVERIES

NEW DOOR

R
E

T
A
IN

E
D

D
O

O
R
S
 

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 

BANQUETTE SEAT

B
A

N
Q

U
E

T
T
E
 S

E
A

T

DOOR
NEW 

B
A

R
S

E
C

O
N

D
A

R
Y
 

SECURITY

RECEPTION + 

C
’B

R
D

C
L
E

A
N
.

TEMPORARY
POSSIBLY 

CAFE/BAR

BOX OFFICE
BAR/SERVERY/ 

FOR MERCHANDISE
BREAKOUT SPACE + SPACE 

PROVIDE ADDITIONAL 
EXISTING BAR REMOVED TO 

DOOR
NEW 

STORE

T
udalen135



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag



Tudalen137



Tudalen138



Tudalen139



Tudalen140



Tudalen141



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cabinet

30 June 2021

Joint Report of

Head of Human & Organisational Development 
S Rees

&
Head of Finance

H Jones

Matter for Decision

Wards Affected: All Wards

Audit Wales review of the Corporate Performance Management System 
(CPMS)

Purpose of Report
1. To receive information on the Councils response to the ‘opportunities for 

improvement’ identified by Audit Wales following the review of the 
Corporate Performance Management System (CPMS). An action plan is 
attached as appendix 1.

Executive Summary
2. The review examined whether Neath Port Talbot Council’s Corporate 

Performance Management System (CPMS) is strengthening its 
arrangements for business planning, performance and risk management. 
The review found the CPMS is helping to develop better links between 
corporate objectives and service business plans and improving the 
efficiency of performance reporting. However, this information could be 
used more effectively to support strategic direction and risk management 
arrangements still need strengthening.

Tudalen143

Eitem yr Agenda7



Background
3. During 2020 Audit Wales undertook a review of the Council’s Corporate 

Performance Management System (CPMS).   
4. Following their review, Audit Wales provided feedback to the Council and 

a summary conclusion of the review findings has been included within 
the Annual Audit Summary for Neath Port Talbot Council which has been 
published by Audit Wales on their website.

Review findings
5. The review findings included a number of areas of progress:  

 The CPMS keeps business planning, performance reporting and 
risk management in one place.

 The CPMS creates links from service plans to well-being objectives.
 The standard template for business planning helps to drive 

better consistency.
 The CPMS provides an effective system to input data and create 

reports ready for review. It is an improvement on the previous system 
which depended on departmental spreadsheets.

 Performance data in the system can be viewed by users across the 
Council, not just for their own service area.

 Data can be filtered either by service areas or by Well Being 
Objective which makes tracking progress and looking for best 
practice easier.
The CPMS has video guides available to help users.

6. The review also identified a number of ‘opportunities for improvement’ all 
of which have been accepted and included in an action plan attached as 
appendix 1, for implementation.

7. The review by Audit Wales sought to answer the question: Is the 
Council’s Corporate Performance Management System (CPMS) 
strengthening its arrangements for business planning, performance and 
risk management?

8. Audit Wales concluded that: The CPMS is helping to develop better links 
between corporate objectives and service business plans and improving 
the efficiency of performance reporting. However, this information could 
be used more effectively to support strategic direction and risk 
management arrangements still need strengthening.

Tudalen144

https://www.audit.wales/publication/neath-port-talbot-council-annual-audit-summary-2020


9. Actions for improvement relating to risk management have been included 
in the action plan. The actions relating to planning and performance will 
be developed as part of the Council’s fundamental review of the 
Council’s corporate performance management framework during 
2021/2022.

Financial Appraisal
10. The programme of audit and improvement assessment work undertaken      

by Audit Wales has been delivered within the budget allocated for audit 
and inspection work.

Integrated Impact Assessment
11. There is no requirement to undertake an Integrated Impact Assessment 

on this report. 

Valleys Communities Impact
12. No implications.

Workforce Impact
13. There are no workforce impacts. 

Legal Impact
14. The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 requires the Auditor 

General to undertake an annual improvement assessment and to publish 
an annual improvement report for each improvement authority in Wales.

Risk Management
15. Audit Wales findings are a key input into the Council’s corporate 

governance arrangements and the areas identified for improvement work 
inform the Annual Governance Statement and the associated 
improvement action plan. 

Consultation
16. There is no requirement for external consultation on this item. 

Tudalen145



Recommendations
17. For Cabinet to approve the work that is to be undertaken in relation to 

the opportunities for improvement contained within the action plan 
attached as Appendix 1.

Reason for Proposed Decision
18. To ensure that the Council has put in place arrangements to strengthen 

its business planning, performance management and risk management 
arrangements.

Appendices
19. Appendix 1 – Action plan – Review of the Corporate Performance 

Management System (CPMS)

List of Background Papers
20. None

Officer Contact
21. Mrs Sheenagh Rees, Head of Human & Organisational Development. 

Tel: 01639 763315 or e-mail: s.rees5@npt.gov.uk

22. Mr Huw Jones, Head of Finance. Tel: 01639 763575 or e-mail: 
h.jones@npt.gov.uk

Tudalen146

mailto:s.rees5@npt.gov.uk
mailto:h.jones@npt.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

Response Form
Council action planned in response to the ‘opportunities for improvement’ for CPMS 
and risk management arrangements issued by Audit Wales 

Council: Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council
Report title: Audit Wales review of the Corporate Performance Management System (CPMS)

Ref Opportunities for improvement Council action planned in response to the opportunities for 
improvement issued by Audit Wales

Target date 
for 
completion of 
actions

Responsible 
officer

Planning and Performance

1. There is no corporate look to decide if 
collectively, actions identified in the 
business plans are going to be sufficient 
to progress and deliver the Well Being 
Objectives.

2021/2022 Caryn Furlow-
Harris

2. The Council could consider using heads 
of service to peer review each other's 
business plans to introduce an element 
of external challenge in the process.

2021/2022 Caryn Furlow-
Harris

3. The reports generated by CPMS could 
be used more effectively to drive 
improvement at service and corporate 

The actions relating to planning and performance will be 
developed as part of the Council’s fundamental review of the 
Council’s corporate performance management framework 
during 2021/2022.

2021/2022 Caryn Furlow-
Harris 

T
udalen147



Ref Opportunities for improvement Council action planned in response to the opportunities for 
improvement issued by Audit Wales

Target date 
for 
completion of 
actions

Responsible 
officer

level and better used to challenge and 
support strategic direction.

4. The CPMS reports could be analysed 
and challenged more effectively on a 
strategic level (Scrutiny, Cabinet).

2021/2022 Caryn Furlow-
Harris

5. The efficiency/effectiveness of the 
reporting may be impacted by splitting 
the reports to each Cabinet Board rather 
than reporting them in one Board.

2021/2022 Caryn Furlow-
Harris

6. The CPMS outputs need to demonstrate 
they are both used and useful at 
improving outcomes to show it is 
strengthening arrangements.

2021/2022 Caryn Furlow-
Harris

7. The CPMS is a tool for capturing and 
reporting on plans, actions and data, it 
is what happens with that data that will 
determine its effectiveness. The CPMS 
only provides value for money if the 
outputs are used to drive continuous 
improvement.

The actions relating to planning and performance will be 
developed as part of the Council’s fundamental review of the 
Council’s corporate performance management framework 
during 2021/2022.

2021/2022 Caryn Furlow-
Harris

Risk Management 

1. The Council’s Risk Management Policy 
sets out the roles and responsibilities for 
risk management, but these are not 
being followed and there is a lack of 
oversight of how effectively the Risk 
Management Policy is being 
implemented.

 Review current arrangements and produce guidance 
detailing individual officer roles and responsibilities.

 Develop video guides
 Refresher training for officers who are not clear on how 

to use the system effectively

30th June 2021 Huw Jones

T
udalen148



Ref Opportunities for improvement Council action planned in response to the opportunities for 
improvement issued by Audit Wales

Target date 
for 
completion of 
actions

Responsible 
officer

 For updates, delegate responsibility to nominated 
officers in each directorate, but have an officer who has 
the overview to ensure everything is updated.

2. The risk policy states that, ‘At least once 
a quarter, each operational risk will be 
reviewed and updated’, this is not 
happening systematically.

 Provide update reports to a nominated officer in each 
directorate and ask they schedule a quarterly review at 
the relevant management team meetings

30th June 2021 Huw Jones

3. The quality of the risk registers is 
variable. Some risk controls lack detail.

 Review process and registers for quality and 
consistency.

 Following review, produce guidance for users 
 Plan timescale for any improvements/changes to be 

made.
  Monitor that changes are made.
 Annual review for quality and consistency (desktop 

exercise)?

30th June 2021 Huw Jones

4. The risk module of the CPMS has not 
been configured correctly to align with 
the Council’s risk policy e.g. risk appetite.

Review current arrangements, recommend new configuration 
and produce guidance. 

30th June 2021 Huw Jones

5. The risk policy, strategy, strategic and 
operational risks have all been through 
Cabinet in the last 18 months, but there 
is no evidence of discussion at the 
meetings, just that they are ‘noted

Work with Democratic Services to ensure that when reported to 
Cabinet adequate scrutiny is undertaken.

30th June 2021 Huw Jones

6. The Audit Committee is not fulfilling its 
duties in relation to risk management. 
The Council’s risk policy states that Audit 
Committee is required to:  

Governance and Audit Committee will receive an update in 
relation to the Council’s Risk Management Arrangements.

30th 
September 
2021

Huw Jones

T
udalen149



Ref Opportunities for improvement Council action planned in response to the opportunities for 
improvement issued by Audit Wales

Target date 
for 
completion of 
actions

Responsible 
officer

Review the risk management 
arrangements.
Make reports to the Executive on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of 
arrangements. 
(Risk management last went to Audit 
Committee on 19.9.18. There have been 
a further 9 meetings since that date and 
risk management has not been on the 
agenda for any of them).

T
udalen150



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 

30th June 2021

Report of the Director of Finance and Corporate Service 
Hywel Jenkins

Matter for Decision

Wards Affected: All Wards

Investments from Reserves 2021/22

Purpose of the Report:

To seek authority to approve additional investments in service 
activities funded from reserves

Background:

As members are aware the specific reserves position as at 31 March 
2021 improved by £8m for Schools and £12m for the remainder of the 
Council. This was due to the significant additional funding provided by 
the Welsh Government mainly at the end of the financial year. This 
provides the opportunity for council to review its investment options to 
assist residents, businesses and service users as we move through 
the next stages of Recover from the Covid pandemic.

Tudalen151

Eitem yr Agenda8



This report is prepared for members’ consideration following the 
Leader of Council’s recent presentation to Council and request that 
officers prepare a report for members to consider investment of a 
portion of these additional funds.  The following is the relevant section 
of his presentation at the recent Council meeting:

The resources provided at the year-end by Welsh Government, 
together with the prudent financial management we have exercised 
over many years will, as you will shortly see in the revenue outturn 
report, give us welcome financial resources to begin this work (to 
recover from the impacts of Covid).

I have asked officers to provide early advice on how we can earmark 
a portion of our reserves to target a number of priorities. These 
include actions to:

• Support people and businesses as the economy opens up;
• Encourage the great community action we have seen across 

the county borough;
• Encourage people to continue to be more active and play 

their part in protecting our environment;  
• Support our town centres; and to
• Support our schools in the vitally important work they are 

doing with learners and families.

Capital Programme 2021/22 and Grants Bids to UK Grant Funds  

As part of this report I wished to remind members of the significant 
£80m investment already approved by Council at its meeting of the 
9th March 2021 through the Capital Programme. 
The main outcomes from this investment include:

 The opening of a new Comprehensive School in Cimla to 
replace the current Cefn Saeson Comprehensive School.

Tudalen152



 Progressing the build of the new Primary school which will 
replace Abbey Primary.

 Progressing the build of the third phase of works at Ysgol 
Gymraeg Ystalyfera (WMN).

 Continue with the development of the activity investment 
proposal at Margam Park.

 Progress with the regeneration programme including 
Harbourside, Neath Town Centre redevelopment, Plaza, 
and the Technology Centre.

 Continued investment of £3m in Disabled Facilities Grants.
 Redevelopment works at Hillside Secure Unit.
 Investment in school buildings and ICT.
 The Council’s Waste Facility at Crymlyn Burrows will be 

remodelled as a Transfer Station with enhanced recycling 
capacity and facilities to accommodate the Council’s 
expanding recycling operation.

Members should also note that the programme includes general 
maintenance allocations for the following:

Service 2021/22
£’000

Education 1,100
Schools ICT – HWB Grant Sustainability 150
Leisure 150
Margam Castle Stonework Repairs 100
Highways and Engineering Maintenance 1,625
Additional Highways Improvements 275
Environment Street Scene Improvements 500
Flood Prevention Initiatives – Continuation of 
2020/21 projects

250

Neighbourhood Improvements 150
Pavilions 100
Regeneration 2,275
Match Funding – Former Plaza 150
Match Funding – Metal Box 250

Tudalen153



Service 2021/22
£’000

Disability Access 150
Health & Safety 850
Social Services 150
Disabled Facilities Grants 3,000
Civic Accommodation Modernisation 150
Decarbonisation Strategy (DARE) including 
Electric Vehicle Charging Stations

100

CCTV Replacement 150
Income Generation Proposals 50
Contingency 543
Total 12,218

In relation to the £500k investment in street scene improvements a 
report is due to be presented to the Streetscene and Engineering 
Cabinet Board on 2nd July 2021 setting out the following projects:

 2021/22
 (£)
Renewal of Coloured Surfacing & High Friction Surfacing 75,000
Fabian way - speed limit reduction 30,000
Bus shelter replacement 75,000
Speed message signs & Zebra Crossing/Belisha 
Renewals 42,000
Replacement Playground Equipment 75,000
Works to Mosshouse Reservoir 40,000
Rebuilding of 'second wall', Fish Pond Reservoir, Gnoll 25,000
Bi-fold doors from Café to new outdoor seating area at 
Gnoll 18,000
Parapet Repair & Refurbishment, Ystalyfera Aqueduct 45,000
Non-highway cycleway resurfacing and maintenance 75,000

Total 500,000

Tudalen154



NPT Bids to UK Governments Levelling up Fund

The Council has also submitted funding bids to the UK Governments 
Levelling Up Fund. The two bids, covering the Neath and Aberavon 
constituency areas, total over £10m and if successful will further 
improve local facilities and communities e.g. from the Commercial 
Property Grant Schemes - that will enable businesses, in 
communities across the County Borough, to acquire and improve 
local properties back into operational use. The bids include:

Neath - £4.541m
 Neath town centre piazza development providing community 

and green space (£1.541m). 
 Commercial Property Grant Funding internal and externals 

works to commercial properties across the county borough 
(£3m).

Aberavon - £5.485m
 Port Talbot Civic Square Re-purpose as a multi-purpose 

community space (£1.226m). 
 Port Talbot Riverside development Riverside development 

including green infrastructure and a children’s play area 
(£1.259m). 

 Commercial Property Grant Funding internal and externals 
works to commercial properties across the county borough 
(£3m).

Due to time constraints and the late announcement of the grant 
criteria it is envisaged that when further opportunities to bid for these 
UK wide grants are made available we will have identified and 
developed other projects for submission.

Tudalen155



NPTCBC bid to UK Community Renewal Fund £2.7m

The following table shows the bid submitted for this financial year to 
the UK Community Renewal Fund totalling £2.7m. It is expected that 
further grant rounds will be announced by the UK Government, 
probably later this year, and officers will be looking to develop a 
pipeline of projects that will be ready to submit when such 
opportunities arise. 

£
Swansea University - Green 
Infrastructure Map

438,103 To create a resilient green infrastructure network 
in the county borough

Swansea University - STEMS 
Skills

334,440 To upskill young people with high quality STEM 
employment skills

Neath Port Talbot CBC - 
Supporting Business Growth 
& Innovation

118,348 Trial new business support interventions to meet 
gaps in provision. Equip businesses with the 
skills they need to exploit new growth 
opportunities.

Neath Port Talbot CBC 
Jobstart

500,000 To support unemployed and economically 
inactive people unable to access existing 
provision, into sustainable employment.

Neath Port Talbot CBC Next 
Steps

499,552 To support young people with emotional 
wellbeing, re-engage into school, careers & 
training

Neath Port Talbot CVS Grant 
scheme

500,000 Grant support for third sector organisations 
focusing on skills, social enterprise support, 
decarbonisation activities.

Computeraid Digital Bridges 309,070 To enhance individual digital skills to support 
participation in the digital society

Total 2,699,513

Administration Fee 60,000

Grand Total 2,759,513

Tudalen156



Proposals for Investment

In addition to the investments mentioned above this report proposes 
that members consider approving the following spend from reserves 
(these will occur over the next few years): 

Community improvement investment

 Members Community Fund £640k – updated criteria for Cabinet 
approval on 30th June 2021 is being proposed that will enable 
all 64 members’ to support community improvements this year 
and for full spend by 31st March 2023.  

 Employ additional staff and develop proposals to augment the 
work of what Local Area Co-ordinators are doing to provide an 
enhanced response during the Covid recovery period.  Early 
intervention and prevention activities also support and 
encourage communities and third sector to become stronger. 
The funding from the Community Resilience Reserve initially of 
£300k over the next 2 years will be used to supplement the 
Neighbourhood Approach funding that is only certain for this 
current financial year. Further consideration of support from this 
reserve will be made at budget setting for financial years i.e. 
from 2022/23.

Investment to support businesses and employment

 Metal Box – The office space has already been let and there is 
demand for using the large commercial floor space from a 
number of companies. It is therefore proposed to invest the 
reserve of £356k to fund revenue costs and to supplement 
capital investment and borrowing of circa £1m (final cost to be 
confirmed) to divide the large commercial space into 3 units for 
operational use. This work will also generate an increase in 
rental income.

 Grants to small businesses of up to £20k each to help them 
succeed into 2022 and beyond (max of £260k)

Tudalen157



 Commercial Property Grants – promote now in advance of 
knowing outcome of UK Levelling Up Fund bid so that 
improvements can be achieved by 31 March 2022. (max of 
£250k)

Investment in streetscene and facilities 

 Aberavon seafront improvements to kiosk and toilet facilities. 
The Council has recently submitted a grant bid for funding of 
Changing Place Toilets to provide a dignified service to 
disabled people.

 To employee seasonal staff from end of January 2022 to 
improve the appearance, maintenance of shrubs in town 
centres, valleys and across communities of the County Borough 
- £135k. 

 Place scene improvements such as street furniture, street 
scene painting, roundabout initiatives, bus shelters, playground 
equipment, sign renewals. NB some of the Members Fund 
resources might also be spent on some of these areas. 

 Vehicle Renewals of £1.465m is being budgeted for in-year.
 The DARE Reserve totalling £2m will be used over the coming 

years to deliver the council’s decarbonisation, energy, vehicle, 
transport and electric charging points’ strategy. The reserve will 
be released to deliver top-up investment for projects due to the 
higher investment costs and to top-up grant bids requiring 
match funding.

Summary of Service Investments

£m
Capital Programme 80.170
Members Community Fund .640
Vehicle Renewals Programme 1.465
Metal Box Investment 1.000

Tudalen158



£m
DARE Investments – estimate from reserve (plus base 
budget and external grants over next 2 years)

.300

Corporate Contingency Fund allocation for seasonal 
staff, other streetscene & property grants

1.300

Community Resilience Fund – investment to augment 
the work of Local Area Co-ordinators

.300

Grand Total 85.175

Financial Impact:
The investment of an additional £5m funded from Reserves and 
borrowing will supplement the significant improvements set out in the 
Council’s Capital Programme and external funding bids over the next 
few years. 

Integrated Impact Assessment:
A first stage integrated impact assessment has been carried out and 
shows that a full assessment is not required for this report.

Valleys Communities Impacts: 
The investments set out in this report will be across the whole of the 
County Borough including valley communities. 

Workforce Impacts:
This proposal will provide additional capacity for community 
development work. Seasonal staff will also be employed earlier in the 
financial year.  

Legal Impacts:
There are no specific legal impacts generated from this report.  

Risk Management Impacts: 
These will be managed via employment arrangements and contract 
work. 

Tudalen159



Consultation:
There is no need for external consultation on this item.  

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Cabinet having considered the Integrated 
Impact Assessment approve the investments set out in this report.

Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
To provide additional capacity and support to businesses, service 
users and communities as we recover from the impacts of Covid.   

Implementation of Decision:
The decision will be implemented after the 3 day call in period.

Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Integrated Impact Assessment

List of Background Papers:
None

Officer Contact:
Hywel Jenkins, Director of Finance and Corporate Services
Email: h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk 

Tudalen160

mailto:h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk


Appendix 1
Impact Assessment - First Stage 

1. Details of the initiative 

Initiative description and summary:  

To seek authority to approve additional investments in service activities funded from reserves.This will be in addition 
to the already approved capital programme investments, revenue budgeted services and grant bids to the UK 
Levelling Up and UK Community Renewal Funds. There are 3 areas of investment proposed under the following 
theme areas: Community improvement investment; Investment to support businesses and employment and 
Investment in streetscene and facilities 

Service Area: All 

Directorate: All

2. Does the initiative affect:  
Yes No

Service users X

Staff X

Wider community X

Internal administrative process only X

T
udalen161



3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their: 

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
Know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including 
evidence)/How might it impact?

Age X
Disability X
Gender Reassignment X
Marriage/Civil Partnership X
Pregnancy/Maternity X
Race X
Religion/Belief X
Sex X
Sexual orientation X

The proposal is to provide additional 
investment to improve or enhance services 
to improve communities, facilities and 
employment opportunities.

4. Does the initiative impact on:

Yes No None/
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including 
evidence used) / How might it impact?

People’s opportunities 
to use the Welsh 
language 

X No impact on the people’s opportunity to use the 
Welsh language

Treating the Welsh 
language no less 
favourably than English 

X No impact on treating welsh language no less 
favourably than English.

T
udalen162



5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity:

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including 
evidence) / 
How might it impact?

To maintain and 
enhance biodiversity X The allocation of these funds for 2021/22, will not 

affect biodiversity.

To promote the 
resilience of 
ecosystems, i.e. 
supporting protection of 
the wider environment, 
such as air quality, flood 
alleviation, etc. 

X The allocation of these funds for 2021/22, will not 
affect ecosystems.

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 ways of working):

Yes No Details

Long term - how the initiative 
supports the long term well-being of 
people 

X The investment will assist in providing visible improvements 
throughout the borough

Integration -  how the initiative 
impacts upon our wellbeing 
objectives 

X Providing the investment will assist in the well-being objectives 
throughout the County Borough

Involvement -  how people have 
been involved in developing the 
initiative 

X These proposals have been prepared following internal 
discussions to identify investments that can improve outcomes 
for people across the County Borough.

T
udalen163



7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate):

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required X

Reasons for this conclusion. This investment from reserves will improve or maintain the quality of business facilities, 
communities and job opportunities in the County Borough in a positive way from some of the additional reserves 
created at 31 March 2021. 

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required 

Reasons for this conclusion   

Collaboration - how we have worked 
with other services/organisations to 
find shared sustainable solutions

X The proposals and their delivery involves collaboration between 
internal sections of the council.

Prevention -  how the initiative will 
prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse 

X The proposal recognises the importance of investing in 
communities, businesses and employment to improve/ maintain 
local opportunities and outcomes across the County Borough. 

Name Position Date
Completed by Huw Jones Head of Finance 22 June 2021

Signed off by Hywel Jenkins Director of Finance & 
Corporate Services 23 June 2021

T
udalen164



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cabinet

June 30th 2021

Report of the Chief Executive

Matter for Decision

Wards Affected: 
All Wards

Report Title: Recover, Reset, Renew

Purpose of the Report:

1. To update the Cabinet on the ongoing response to Covid-19.

2. To seek authority to commence a public engagement exercise 
and to engage with an external peer panel to inform the 
Council’s approach to recovery planning.

Background:
On 16th March 2020, the Council moved into emergency response 
mode as Covid-19 began to rapidly spread throughout the United 
Kingdom.

The Council has played a key role in supporting the local NHS and its 
local communities since.

Tudalen165

Eitem yr Agenda9



During the first wave of response, the Council made significant 
changes to its own service delivery but also implemented a range of 
new initiatives to support policies determined at the Welsh and UK 
government levels. The detail of this was reported to the Cabinet in 
July 2021 and is summarised briefly in the next section.

The second wave of response commenced in the early autumn. As 
we moved through the autumn, a new variant led to a more rapid 
transmission of Covid-19 across the UK with local case rates 
exceeding 1,000 per 100,000 population at the turn of the year and 
approximately one in three people testing positive for the disease. 
The new Test, Trace, Protect Service, although welcomed, set new 
challenges to maintain the continuity of services as a result of the 
requirement for people to self-isolate. The Council’s role in supporting 
the NHS intensified during this period whilst also continuing to 
provide essential support to local businesses and communities. More 
detail is given below.

At the time of writing, the restrictions imposed at the second national 
lockdown at Christmas 2020 have yet to be fully relaxed and Welsh 
Government have advised that Wales is in the early stages of a third 
wave. There is pressure to accelerate the full vaccination of the adult 
population. There is acceptance at Government level that the disease 
is now endemic and consequently all sections of society will need to 
permanently adapt to living with Covid-19.

Even though the Council will need to maintain its Covid-19 
emergency response in the immediate term, attention needs to also 
be given to recovery. This report sets out a framework to support 
recovery planning and recommends an extensive public engagement 
exercise to ensure the impact of the pandemic on our communities is 
understood; that people’s priorities now and into the future are 
captured; and that we reset and renew the Council’s priorities and 
relationships within that context.

Tudalen166



First Wave Response (March- August 2020)– Summary

The Chief Officer Group met as Gold Command throughout the 
period to lead the Council’s response under the leadership of the 
Chief Executive. The Gold Command Group initially met seven days 
a week over several months, ensuring decisions were taken and 
implemented at pace as part of a wider national effort to respond to 
the threat posed by Covid-19.

Mechanisms were put in place to ensure elected members were kept 
abreast of changes at the early stages of response given that there 
was no legal provision available to hold meetings through remote 
attendance. This included daily briefings with the political leadership 
and regular briefings to political group leaders and the wider 
membership of the Council. 

Officers and senior Members participated in a number of regional and 
national meetings to ensure the local response was effectively co-
ordinated with the response being mobilised by other agencies and 
the Governments.

The main features of the Council’s response during the first wave is 
summarised below and set out in more detail in the report to the 
Cabinet, July 2020:

 There was a sustained focus on the health and safety of the 
Council’s own workforce and our wider community. The Council 
worked to implement Welsh Government and UK Government 
policy at pace throughout the first wave and this necessitated 
rapid scaling up and scaling back of service delivery, taking on 
significant new responsibilities whilst also ensuring that robust 
risk assessments, Personal Protective Equipment PPE were 
deployed;

 A 7 day/week enhanced communications service was 
implemented to ensure that public health messages were 
aggressively promoted across all channels 

Tudalen167



owned/commissioned by the Council; and accurate and timely 
information was provided about changes to service delivery, 
including the establishment of new services to support 
vulnerable people;

 All but essential Council services were initially closed down 
to assist in reducing the spread of the disease. The was 
sustained pressure on care, education and front line services 
such as refuse and recycling throughout the period.  As 
restrictions were eased, other services were reintroduced with 
significant service adaptation. Regulatory services were 
refocused to ensure compliance with new Covid-19 restrictions 
and other regulatory business was disrupted as a consequence;

 Essential services were adapted and maintained. This 
involved a step change in workforce flexibility and innovation 
underpinned by enhanced use of data and digital technology. A 
significant number of the Council’s workforce were redeployed 
temporarily to new duties and there was intensive focus on the 
risk assessment of working environments and the acquisition of 
suitable Personal Protective Equipment (PPE);

 A range of new services were implemented at pace: The 
new NPT Safe and Well Service was set up to support people 
told to shield themselves from the virus; schools provided 
childcare hubs for vulnerable learners and the children of 
essential workers whilst also teaching learners across remote 
technologies; financial assistance to businesses and community 
groups was provided on a significant scale on behalf of 
Governments; the Council also facilitated the establishment of a 
testing station at Margam and undertook the project 
management of the construction of the Llandarcy Field Hospital, 
completing the build within four weeks; and

 The democratic process was enabled to operate with remote 
attendance, initially with a limited number of formal meetings. 

Tudalen168



Second Wave Response (August 2020-May 2021) – Summary
In summer 2020, case rates had fallen and Gold Command continued 
to meet but on a less frequent basis. Officers and senior Members 
maintained involvement in regional and national meetings, co-
ordinating the local response with the wider effort. By September 
2020 it became evident that a second wave was underway. Whilst the 
Welsh Government Firebreak had some beneficial impact, winter 
approached, case rates rose exponentially, exceeding 1,000 cases 
per 100,000 population by the turn of the year. The frequency of Gold 
Command meetings intensified as did regional and national meetings 
with Test, Trace, Protect and Social Care services placed under 
severe pressure. A summary of the main activities over the course of 
the second wave is set out below:

 In June 2020, councils across Wales were required to work 
within regional health board footprints to establish a Test, Trace 
and Protect Service as part of the national framework to protect 
the public health. This involved implementation of a national 
ICT infrastructure, the recruitment and training of a large 
number of contact tracing staff and the establishment of a 
significant warning and informing capability;

 The Council facilitated an expansion of testing facilities, making 
Milland Road available and a site at Baglan Energy Park, whilst 
also ensuring testing was rigorously undertaken across front 
line care and education services in line with Welsh Government 
guidance. The Council has also supported the deployment of 
mobile testing facilities to reduce the spread of Covid-19 in 
specific geographic areas.

 The Council’s Environmental Health Service worked alongside 
Public Health Wales staff to lead the new contact tracing 
service and to provide expert guidance to employers to limit the 
spread of the disease so that critical services could be 
maintained. A significant number of council staff were initially 
redeployed to resource the contact tracing service and 

Tudalen169



subsequently, a large number of staff were recruited to the 
service to resource its rapid expansion.

 Community Safety and regulatory staff from Environmental 
Health, Licensing and Trading Standards formed a Joint 
Enforcement Service to ensure compliance with Covid-19 
regulations across the area. This necessitated the recruitment 
of additional Covid-19 enforcement officers.

 Just before Christmas 2020, vaccines started to be licensed for 
use. The Council made the Orangery available at Margam Park 
for use as a mass vaccination centre and also refurbished a 
mobile library (the Immbulance) to ensure harder to reach 
people were able to receive their vaccines via an outreach 
service.

 The Council led the regional work to warn and inform the 
population throughout the second wave and continues to do so. 
As well as amplifying the general messages generated by the 
Governments, the regional warning and informing group has 
ensured tailored messages have been delivered to specific 
populations.

 The introduction of mass testing, whilst extremely important in 
the overall effort, caused considerable disruption to service 
delivery and this was most acutely felt in social care and in the 
county borough’s schools. 

 Although the national firebreak had a beneficial impact, by early 
December 2020, it was clear that local and regional measures 
to tackle the spread of the disease were not sufficient and case 
numbers were rising exponentially. Representation was made 
to Welsh Government to introduce additional measures. In the 
event, the Welsh Government brought forward the national 
lockdown and limited the amount of social contact possible over 
the festive period. By this time cases were exceeding 1,000 

Tudalen170



cases per 100,000 population and approximately a third of 
cases tested were positive.

 As in the first wave, the Council’s service operations were stood 
up or scaled back in line with national regulations. Where 
services have been operational, considerable adaptation has 
been necessary to keep the workforce and those using the 
services safe. Where services have been unable to operate, for 
example theatres, the workforce has been redeployed on a 
voluntary basis to support critical services including those new 
services created as part of the national effort.

 The Council continued to operate its NPT Safe and Well 
Service during wave two, receiving calls from those in need of 
support with daily tasks. There was no national food delivery 
scheme in the second wave as many local businesses had 
adapted service delivery by this point. The Council therefore 
has worked with the third sector, its own volunteers and 
community groups to match those in need with a suitable 
support worker;

 The Council also continued to heavily promote those local 
businesses who had been able to adapt their service operations 
and were able to take on-line/telephone orders and provide 
delivery services;

 Throughout the period financial support to local businesses has 
been administered on behalf of the Governments and the 
Council has ensured that parents with children who were 
eligible for free school meals have received payments direct to 
their bank accounts.

 The vast majority of office-based staff have worked from home 
continuously since March 2020. This would not have been 
possible were in not for the rapid deployment of new technology 
by the Council’s Digital Services Team and the adaptability of 
the Council’s workforce. The Digital Services Team has also 

Tudalen171



facilitated the provision of thousands of ICT devices to schools 
and learners to support remote teaching and learning.

Next Steps (May 2021 – October 2021)
It is clear that Covid-19 has become endemic and consequently we 
must turn our attention to how we will live with the virus. We have 
identified three phases for recovery:

 A re-opening phase – supporting the safe restarting of activity 
as restrictions are lifted, whilst continuing to respond to the 
immediate demands of the pandemic;

 A recovery phase – building confidence, supporting residents, 
businesses and employees as government removes support 
and restrictions;

 A reset/renewal phase – where activities and policies to 
support long term plans are put in place to deliver sustainable 
improvements in services and in social, economic and 
environmental outcomes.

We are presently focused on the re-opening and recovery phases 
responding to changes announced by the Welsh Government. We 
are adjusting the Council’s own service delivery whilst continuing to 
discharge new responsibilities that have been given to local 
government over the course of the pandemic. In particular:

 Test, Trace, Protect – the Welsh Government has already 
pledged to fund the Test, Trace, Protect Service until the end of 
March 2022. We will ensure that we continue to work with our 
partners on the Swansea Bay University Health Board footprint 
to ensure the availability of testing services; to carry out robust 
contact tracing and health intelligence activities; to provide 
proactive and reactive public health information; to carry out 
advisory and enforcement actions to secure high levels of 
compliance with Covid-19 regulations; and to mobilise a rapid 

Tudalen172



response as may be required in specific areas of the county 
borough in the event of further outbreaks of the disease;

 Vaccination – we will continue to support the Health Board 
through the provision of facilities that enables the mass 
vaccination of the population; we will also promote the benefits 
of vaccination to our workforce and our population;

 Health, Safety and Wellbeing – we will continue to prioritise 
the health, safety and wellbeing of our workforce and our 
service users. We will ensure there are comprehensive and up 
to date risk assessments in place to support our service 
operations and that we adjust our service operations in line with 
national regulations, stepping up or scaling back service 
delivery in line with national policy;

 Support to Business – we are continuing to administer the 
various financial assistance schemes available from the 
Governments whilst also providing other support and advice 
through our TTP and wider services;

 NPT Safe and Well – the number of referrals being received 
has fallen considerably and we are in the process of bringing 
together the assets created as part of the humanitarian effort 
with the existing local area co-ordination model. Work will 
continue through the summer to look identify what ongoing 
community based support we will need in place;

We have also began to think about the impact of the pandemic on our 
communities and how this might shape the Council’s priorities over 
the longer term. A strategic community impact assessment has been 
undertaken. This has identified important learning that can be used to 
shape the way the Council works moving forward, together with a 
number of strategic challenges and opportunities that need to inform 
the Council’s future priorities. This assessment is summarised at 
Appendix 2 and has been shared with the Member Panel and at a 
Member Seminar.

Tudalen173



Additionally, all services have completed lessons learned exercises 
and have used these, together with wider horizon scanning, to 
identify how service models may need to change.

It is crucial that we now engage with our workforce, citizens, partners, 
business and other stakeholders to test the analysis we have 
undertaken to date. A significant engagement exercise is planned to 
the end of September 2021 with the intention of using the feedback 
provided to challenge and refine the work done to date. The aim is to 
reset the Council’s vision, values and priorities in the autumn, based 
on this evidence, followed by a further period of formal consultation to 
be undertaken by early 2022. All of this will, in turn, be used in the 
budget setting process as we move through the remainder of this 
financial year. 

It is further proposed to engage with a peer review exercise through 
the Local Government Association in autumn 2021 to access 
independent and external challenge to the overall process. This will 
be provided at no additional cost to the Council as it is funded 
through the Welsh Local Government Association.

Financial Impacts: 
The Welsh Government continues to make specific funding available 
to address the additional costs associated with the ongoing Covid-19 
response. Officers will continue to recover costs and lost income in 
line with the funding schemes in place. Officers will also continue to 
highlight any additional costs/lost income not covered by existing 
schemes to ensure any net impact on the Council’s budgets is 
minimised.

A separate report has been provided recommending limited use of 
the Council’s reserves to support the immediate work to recover, 
reset and renew the Council’s services and functions. The Medium 
Term Financial Plan will reflect any changes made to the Council’s 

Tudalen174



priorities as we move through the budget setting process later this 
year.

Costs associated with the planning and engagement activities 
highlighted in this report can be met within existing budgets.

Integrated Impact Assessment:
There is no requirement for an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) at 
this stage of the process, however, as we move into the next phase 
of work we will begin to construct an IIA to support deliberations as to 
future priorities.

Valleys Communities Impacts: 
Consideration will be given to the spatial impact on our valleys 
communities as part of the planning and engagement exercise. 

Workforce Impacts:
It is intended that there will be significant engagement with the 
Council’s workforce as part of the wider engagement exercise.

Legal Impacts:
The work outlined in this report will be reflected in a new corporate 
plan. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2020 has 
introduced new features to corporate planning arrangements whilst 
the Council must continue to meet duties under the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. As is currently the case, the 
corporate plan will also reference how duties under Welsh Language, 
Equalities and other legislation have been discharged.

Risk Management Impacts: 
The work outlined in this report seeks to mitigate the risk that the 
impact of the pandemic on the county borough of Neath Port Talbot 
and associated challenges and opportunities are not accurately 
identified and reflected in our forward plans and budgets. 

Tudalen175



Consultation:
It is intended that there is inclusive engagement over a three month 
period to capture the impact of the pandemic on the different sections 
of our communities followed by a formal consultation later in the 
process.

The initial engagement plan is attached at Appendix 1 for 
consideration.

Recommendations: 

It is recommended that:

1. Members note the Council’s response to Covid-19 to date.

2. Members note work currently underway to support the ongoing 
Covid-19 response and the early work being undertaken to 
pave the way for longer term recovery.

3. Members endorse the framework outlined in this report to guide 
work to recover, reset and renew the Council’s services and 
functions and longer term priorities.

4. Members endorse the proposed engagement plan.

5. Members endorse the proposal to engage with the Local 
Government Association, testing our approach to recovery 
planning with an external, independent peer panel.

Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
To ensure there is structured approach to the ongoing Covid-19 
response and the early work to plot a pathway to recovery and that 
the approach provides for input from a wide range of stakeholders.

Tudalen176



Implementation of Decision:
The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period

Appendices: 

 Appendix 1 – Engagement Plan

 Appendix 2 – Summary of Community Impact Assessment

List of Background Papers:

 Moving Forward – Cabinet, July 2020

 Corporate Plan 2021-2023, Council , May 2021

 Revenue and Capital Budgets 2021 – Council, March 2021

Officer Contact:
Mrs Karen Jones, Chief Executive Tel:01639 763284 or e-
mail:chief.executive@npt.gov.uk

Tudalen177

tel:01639


Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly Copyright © Heavenly Group Ltd 2021

T
udalen179



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

NEATH PORT TALBOT
RECOVER RESET RENEW

INITIAL THOUGHTS AND CONSIDERATIONS

June  2021

Copyright © Heavenly Group Ltd 2021

T
udalen180



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

• Have we properly understood the impact of covid on our communities?
• What matters to people today and what matters for the future?
• How can we continue the spirit of collaboration that has developed through the pandemic?

What do you want to find out?
In the words of the CEO

This is about having a 
conversation to reset the 

council’s relationship with our 
communities.

This is a chance to pause to 
reflect and to listen.

We want people to shape 
things. To be involved at an 

early stage. 

T
udalen181



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

4

• Community is a central 
pillar of the NPT place 
brand.

Community behaviors:
• Share new ideas, lessons 

learned, insights, and practical 
suggestions.

• Innovate through brainstorming, 
building on each other’s ideas, 

• Collaborate through threaded 
discussions, conversations, and 
interactions.

• Learn from other members of the 
community;

• Contribute by volunteering and 
getting involved.

• Set example by setting 
standards, shaping behaviours..

The Importance of Community

T
udalen182



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

5

• Perceptions of local areas and feelings of belonging are driven by long-standing factors. For most, these remain 
unchanged by the pandemic which has instead typically reinforced existing views.

• The behaviours that have most universally changed as a result of the pandemic are those directly connected to 
Government restrictions. A strong desire to ‘get back to normal’ means that many do not want these behaviours 
to ‘stick’ in the future and the idea of the pandemic as an opportunity to do things differently is therefore not 
intuitive.

• Beyond this, behaviour change in the local area – in relation to leisure time, shopping, travel and civic 
participation – is highly varied, with many feeling life hasn’t changed much at all. Those who have seen more 
change are more open to sticking with them in the future, particularly where they are motivated to do so.

• Many feel engaging in civic participation is out of reach because a lack of knowledge or lack of trust 
that it will effect genuine change. There is interest in hearing more, particularly in relation to how 
citizens can a) have a say in consultations, and b) participate online to overcome some of the barriers 
to getting involved.

Has COVID-19 changed the way communities behave?
Local Government Association – Research by Britain Thinks

T
udalen183



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

6

True Community Involvement

Outreach

Consult 

Involve 

Collaborate 

Co-
Leadership

Minimal community involvement. One way communication

More community involvement. Response encouraged

Better community involvement. More participation. 

Genuine community involvement. Two-way communication. Partnerships formed 

Community shapes decisions. Community takes responsibilities.  

T
udalen184



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

7

• Keep communication simple
• Make it easy to respond
• Avoid “corporate speak”
• Use open questions
• Consider incentives 

Good Practice 
Learnings form other areas

The Good – Falkirk 
Council

What's important to you?
What can we continue to do 

differently?
What can we stop doing to 
allow us to focus support 
where it is needed most?

The Good – Bevan 
Foundation

What do you like about the 
valleys?

What would make the valleys 
better?

The Good – Falkirk 
Council

Community Conversions:
Facilitated Virtual Focus Groups

The Good – Bevan 
Foundation

Contributions on any topic 
are welcome, whether it’s the 

local culture, history, 
transport or environment, or 
jobs, housing, education or 

health.

T
udalen185



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

8

• There is an opportunity for Neath Port Talbot Council to signal a new way of working.
• The tone of the communication matters – people must feel it is “For them”.
• It’s important to keep messaging simple – it can’t be complicated, corporate or gimmicky.
• Think beyond traditional, formal consultation.
• Keep communication short? 
• Don’t assume we know what matters to people - let respondents set the agenda.
• Don’t overdo the connection to Covid? (Britain Thinks)
• Make people believe their views matter – that they will be listened to.
• Don’t over promise – resource reality and shared responsibilities. 
• Create a real sense of community. 

What does this mean for Neath Port Talbot?

T
udalen186



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

Campaign Objectives 

9

To signal positive change – be visible

To boost response (Targets?)

To stimulate response from traditionally hard to reach groups

To enhance the sense of community and collaboration

T
udalen187



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

10

Suggested Question Style
Open and straightforward

Tell us what you love about 
Neath Port Talbot (The 
questions can go down to the 
community level: Sandfields / 
Ystalyfera / Seven Sisters) 

Tell us what you’d like to 
change about Neath Port Talbot

Tell us about the most important 
things you need the Council to 
do in the next ……………?

Tell us what the Council should 
do different/stop doing? 

Do you have any ideas about 
how we can improve Neath Port 
Talbot together?

T
udalen188



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

11

For Schools and Young People 
• Create a picture of your ideal Neath Port Talbot in 10 years time.
• Send photos of your favorite part of Neath Port Talbot.
• Send photos of the parts of you community you’d like to change.
• Write a poem on Neath Port Talbot 

Incentivise Responses

Non-Traditional Consultation
Encouraging Creative Responses

T
udalen189



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

TOWARDS A CAMPAIGN IDEA
12

T
udalen190



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

LET’S TALK

T
udalen191



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

Let’s Talk 
Rationale

LESS FORMAL THAN 
CONVERSATION

LESS USED THAN “THE 
BIG CONVERSATION”

IT FEELS POSITIVE / 
ACTIVE

IT’S A CALL TO ACTION. IT CAN FLEX TO FOCUS 
ON SPECIFIC SUBJECTS 

OR PLACES

IT WORKS FOR ALL 
AUDIENCES: BUSINESS 

AND RESIDENTS

IT SUGGESTS A TWO-
WAY DISCUSSION

IT’S SIMPLE AND 
STRAIGHTFORWARD

T
udalen192



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

15

Assumptions: 
Response will increase if the subject matter feels more relevant.
Affiliation and subject interest is key to relevance. 

Let’s Talk Rationale
Flexibility

Let’s Talk Let’s Talk About Baglan

Let’s Talk About CimlaLet’s Talk About School

Let’s Talk About Your Business

Let’s Talk About The Future
Let’s Talk About What

Matters To You

T
udalen193



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

16

Let’s Talk
Thank you for helping friends, family and others in your community during the pandemic. 
It’s been a difficult time for everyone, and some of you have suffered more than others. 
Covid may have kept people apart, but the pandemic has shown that when we come together, we can make a 
difference. 
Now, Neath Port Talbot Council wants to tap into this community spirit, so that you can help us serve you better.
But this is not typical council consultation.
We are not asking you to respond to proposals or to specific questions. 
This is because we want you to set the agenda. We want you to talk to us about what matters to you.
What we do, we do for you. So, your views, your concerns, and your ideas are important to us.
You can help shape what the council does in the future. 
Our resources are not unlimited, so we can’t promise to do everything. 
But we can promise to listen, and to take your priorities into account in our planning. 
So, let’s talk and then together we can help our place, progress. 

General Narrative
Citizens

T
udalen194



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

17

Let’s Talk Business
Thank you to all the businesses that have kept Neath Port Talbot working during the pandemic.
Every business has had to deal with change. Some have thrived, some just survived and some regrettably have not.
Many of you have found new ways of working, explored new markets and created new partnerships.
Now, Neath Port Talbot Council wants to tap into this spirit of collaboration, so that you can help us serve you better.
But this is not typical council consultation.
We are not asking you to respond to proposals or to specific questions. 
This is because we want you to set the agenda. We want you to talk to us about what matters to you and your 
business.
What we do, we do for you. So, your views, your concerns, and your ideas are important to us.
You can help shape what the council does in the future. 
Our resources are not unlimited, so we can’t promise to do everything. 
But we can promise to listen, and to take your priorities into account in our planning. 
So, let’s talk business and then together we can help our place, progress. 

General Narrative
Businesses 

T
udalen195



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

18

Let’s Talk Partnership
Thank you to all our partners who have worked with the Council to help the people and businesses of Neath Port 
Talbot through the pandemic.
Together we have shown that through partnership we can continue to make a difference.
Now, Neath Port Talbot Council wants to tap into this spirit of collaboration, so that you can help us to work even 
more successfully in the future.
But this is not typical council consultation.
We are not asking you to respond to proposals or to specific questions. 
This is because we want you to set the agenda. We want you to talk to us about what matters to you and your 
organization.
Your views, your concerns, and your ideas are important to us.
You can help shape what the council does in the future. 
Our resources are not unlimited, so we can’t promise to do everything. 
But we can promise to listen, and to take your priorities into account in our planning. 
So, let’s talk partnership and then together we can help our place, progress. 

General Narrative
Partners 

T
udalen196



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

19

Let’s Talk
Variations on the same theme.

The NPTalk 2021

Let’s NPTalk

It’s Time to Talk

Let’s Talk 2021

T
udalen197



Copyright © 2021 Heavenly 

THANK YOU

T
udalen198



Appendix 1

Outline of Engagement Exercise

Context

The Council has begun work to plot a pathway to recovery. We know that we 
will need to live with Covid-19 for some time so it is important that we take 
time to understand what our residents, local businesses and partners are 
thinking.

National polls show that most people are satisfied with their council’s response 
to the pandemic and also trust it to put their interests first during recovery.

As we shift towards recovery and renewal, the future shape of our local area 
will come under increasing focus. Whilst our professional analysis of what we 
may need to prioritise is important, we should not make assumptions about 
what our residents, businesses and partners think. We therefore plan to gather 
as much feedback as possible over July, August and September 2021.

Our approach will involve the following:

 Heavenly have been engaged to create the collateral that will underpin 
the work. A slide set is attached which summarises the high level 
thinking. The approach complements the work that Heavenly have done 
with the council in creating the NPT place brand;

 A Community of Practice has been created, drawing together a wide 
range of staff from across the Council who, collectively work with all 
sections of our communities, with local businesses and with partners. 
The Community of Practice will have a key role in encouraging residents, 
businesses and partners to take part in the exercise – using both on-line 
and off-line methods and using a variety of formats to ensure access. 
The Community of Practice is supported by the Corporate 
Communications Manager;

 Opinion Research Swansea (ORS) will develop the questions, code 
responses and analyse the results as part of the contract we already 
have in place for our Citizens Panel;

Tudalen199



 A promotional plan will be delivered by the Corporate Communications 
Team to ensure people are aware of the exercise; its objectives and how 
they can take part. We will use a wide range of channels to do this;

The insight we generate from this work will be drawn together at the end of 
September/early October and used to reset and renew the Council’s vision, 
values and associated priorities. A formal consultation exercise will be initiated 
late autumn to test our interpretation of what people have told us before 
finalising the work in early 2022.

Tudalen200



Recover, Reset, Renew
Appendix 2 

Draft Impact Assesssment

T
udalen201



Corporate Recovery - context

• Covid-19 response mobilised 16th March 2020

• Two intensive waves where disease peaked  - consequential impacts on Council services and our wider 
community

• In recent weeks the rate of Covid-19 has reduced as has positivity rates BUT

• Covid-19 has not gone away - we will need to continue to respond and adapt as the spread of the 
disease changes and to support any public health protection measures in force

• The plan for response runs in parallel with the recovery plan – we will need to be able to scale up and 
scale back response quickly if needed. This may mean that recovery plans will need to be re-prioritised 
and adapted over time;

• There are three identified phases for recovery (LGA):

• A Re-opening Phase – supporting the safe restarting of activity as restrictions are lifted, whilst 
continuing to respond to the immediate demands of the pandemic;

• A Recovery Phase – building confidence, supporting residents, businesses and employees as 
government removes support and restrictions;

• A Renewal Phase – where activities and policies to support long term plans are put in place to 
deliver sustainable improvements in services and in social, economic and environmental outcomes

• Our recovery plan needs to be grounded in what makes sense for the county borough and local political 
priorities  - it needs to also complement or be integrated into plans developed at regional or wider area 
levels

T
udalen202



Corporate Recovery – context contd.

• Our recovery plan needs to be built on a sound understanding of what has changed as a result of the 
pandemic, our and others’ roles in supporting recovery, what we can control and influence

• We need to involve and engage our workforce, elected members, residents, partners and other 
stakeholders

• We need to be clear about what resources we can draw on and how we will prioritise objectives and actions 
to reflect shared local ambitions

• Existing plans, policies, budgets, partnerships and other arrangements will need to be considered as to 
whether they remain relevant as we work through recovery

Started during 
the pandemic

Stopped during 
the pandemic

Old normal

END
Actions no longer add 

value and can be stopped

LET GO
No longer required 

and should not return

RESTART
These actions are 

critical and need to 
start again

RE-IMAGINE
Requires alternative 

delivery

AMPLIFY
Actions are positive 
&& should be seen 

more in the new 
normal

CONTINUE
May need to continue 

in some form in the 
short term

Continue practicing

Old Practice

New practice

New Normal

T
udalen203



Recover, Reset, Renew

An emerging framework

T
udalen204



Recover - next 3/4 months

• Further stabilisation period

• Restrictions being lifted

• Services to be stood back up

• Health, Safety, Welfare

• Assessment – pent up demand; new demands/issues; fatigue etc

• Maintaining preparedness – 3rd wave?

• Planning for reset and renewal

T
udalen205



Corporate Recovery – Context contd.

• Mega trends that will shape recovery:

Megatrends Key Issues

Covid-19 induced recession • Speed of recovery depends on global pandemic response
• Potential long-term scarring effect on economic capability and social 

wellbeing

Covid-19 led inequalities • Covid-19’s disproportionate effect on the disadvantaged accentuates 
inequality

• Young people, women and people from BAME backgrounds 
disproportionately impacted in terms of education and employment

Covid-19 originating pressures 
on public finances

• Demand for greater spending on health and social care
• Costs of dealing with the consequences of Covid-19
• Uncertain  public spending outlook
• Impacts on income generation – council tax, fees and charges, etc – to 

fill the funding gap

Green recovery and 
decarbonisation

• Society has more appetite for clean, sustainable growth
• New policy and service responses needed to deliver on this agenda

Digitisation • Covid-19 has accelerated the growth of the digital economy, bringing 
changes to working patterns and skills requirements

• Adds to inequalities challenges but also brings new strategic risks 

T
udalen206



Reset and Renew

Some initial thinking

T
udalen207



Key Principles

• “One Council” approach

• Outcome-focused with services designed around the needs of 
the citizen/service user

• Leadership

• Empowered workforce and citizens

• Risk appetite

• Agile

• Prevention and early intervention

• Democratic leadership and oversight

T
udalen208



Cross-cutting themes

• Inequality/inequity

• Digital

• Zero Carbon/sustainability

• Affordability and value for money

• Collaboration

• Health protection and wellbeing

T
udalen209



Our economy – the big issues
• Impact of lost time in school

• Employability of young people 

• Employability of other adults of working age

• % of the population in higher paid and secure work

• Local businesses – mixed picture

• Local business support – foundational economy; circular economy; 
digital capability; inward investor account management

• Economic Development Strategy –
– Develop a local strategy that aligns with the region, Wales and the UK governments;

– Build capacity to develop a pipeline of projects/programmes, including the capacity 
to put high quality bids together; 

– Programme and project delivery;

– A local partnership which brings together key stakeholders

T
udalen210



Our communities – the big issues

• Public health
• Housing and homelessness
• Place shaping:

– town centres; 
– sense of place; 
– civic pride and active citizenship; 

• Community development:
– Community leadership
– Community capacity and community networks;
– Covid legacy issues – social isolation; mental health/wellbeing; physical 

wellbeing; domestic abuse; substance misuse; digital exclusion; poverty
– Focus on optimising well-being; alignment/integration of prevention and 

early intervention programmes; environmental opportunities – active 
living; decarbonisation; foundational economy eg Buy Local; cultural 
opportunities – arts, Welsh language etc

T
udalen211



Our Council – the big issues

• Workforce:
– Resilience, health and safety, wellbeing;
– Succession planning, recruitment and retention challenges;
– Skills;
– Leadership and culture;
– Working environment – the future of work?

• Services:
– New models to ensure sustainability with greater use of digital approaches

• Performance:
– Reaffirm priorities ad agree what ‘good’ and ‘excellent’ looks like post-Covid?
– Local Government and Elections Act 2021

• Governance:
– Financial resilience
– Income generation
– Corporate leadership
– Political leadership – New W Govt impacts and Local Govt elections
– Risk appetite

T
udalen212



A potential framework…

NPT

Corporate

Recovery

Community

Recovery

Economic 

Recovery

Recovery of 

Education 

T
udalen213



Timetable

Member  & workforce 
engagement

Lessons learned & 
horizon scanning

External engagement   
‘Let’sTalk’conversation

Reset priorities, values, 
relationships and 

resources

Final consultation agree 
long term renewal 

priorities and 
realignment of 

resources

NOW NOW JUN-SEPT OCT NOV-FEB

Peer
Review

T
udalen214



 

 

 

 

 

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
30th June 2021 

 
Report of the Director of Environment and Regeneration 

Nicola Pearce 
 
 
Matter for Information 
 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
Covid-19 Enforcement Team   
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
To provide an update on the work of the Covid-19 Enforcement team. 
 
Background 
 
The ‘Swansea Bay Prevention and Response Plan’ (initially published in August 
2020 and updated in June 2021), details the regional response to Covid-19 and 
identifies enforcement action and advisory interventions as tools to minimise the 
transmission risk particular settings present to staff, customers or premise users. 
 
Experience highlights that sectors such as the hospitality industry (in particular, 
pubs and clubs), large retailers, manufacturers and large employers and the 
beauty sector are facing challenges in terms of adopting the legal and statutory 
guidance requirements and maintaining compliance on an ongoing basis.  
 
In addition, clusters of infection across the region have over time shown a lack of 
compliance with social distancing rules, mixing of households and infection 
prevention / control measures. This has led to an increase in the number of 
community exposure locations being associated with new cases. The night time 

Tudalen215

Eitem yr Agenda10



economy presents particular challenges in both town centres and suburban 
locations. 
 
Public Protection resources within the Council are finite, this therefore limits the 
proactive support available for sectors and the availability of officers to take the 
necessary enforcement action in response to intelligence or complaints from 
across the region. In addition, experience from the Test, Trace and Protect (TTP) 
Regional Response Team and the wider Contact Tracing Service shows that 
additional resources are required to investigate identified exposure locations and 
ensure appropriate control measures are in place to control the onward 
transmission of infection. 
 
Neath Port Talbot Covid-19 Enforcement 
 
Since October 2020, in order to strengthen the prevention element of the Regional 
Plan and to enhance the resources available to the Council, a team of Covid-19 
Enforcement Officers were recruited.  
 
Based in the Environmental Health and Licensing teams respectively, officers have 
been deployed on a reactive and proactive basis across a range of commercial, 
licensed and domestic settings, including: 
 

 Proactive advice and support to community settings as identified in the 

Swansea Bay Covid-19 Prevention and Response Plan; 

 Responding to requests for support and advice from businesses; 

 Responding to complaints regarding compliance with Coronavirus 

Regulations; 

 Supporting the Regional Response Team in investigating potential exposure 

/ transmission locations identified through contact tracing; and 

 Wherever proportionate and necessary, taking appropriate enforcement 

action to ensure compliance with Coronavirus Regulations to protect public 

health and link with other enforcement agencies such as the Police as 

required. 

Service Demands / Pressures 
 
In addition to the continuation of the above and as part of the wider work in relation 
to the management of ‘variants of concern’, local authority enforcement teams are 
now required to undertake enhanced monitoring and compliance visits / checks on 

Tudalen216



travellers arriving from Amber list countries. It is hoped that this work will help 
ensure compliance through active management and deterrence, with cases being 
passed to the Police where there is strong evidence an offence has been 
committed. 
 
It is also important that a programme of proactive inspections across sectors to 
ensure ‘Covid secure standards’ continues to be delivered, including licensed 
premises, retail premises, close contact services and workplaces. It is intended 
that such inspections, will also include ‘safety inspections’ as part of the overall 
recovery plan to restart programmed health and safety inspections of workplaces. 
 
Furthermore, the Environmental Health service is now experiencing an increase in 
requests for advice and guidance for events and outdoor activities. With larger 
events being planned to re-start, it is anticipated further advice, visits and checks 
will be required by our Health and Safety Enforcement Officers moving forward. 
 
In terms of a broad overview of activity undertaken to date, the Covid Enforcement 
team have proactively advised 1,250 premises; conducted 912 visits; issued 173 
warning letters, 13 business improvement notices and 3 fixed penalty notices; and 
dealt with a total of 1,550 enquiries. 
 
Staffing Arrangements 
 
Notably, on 2nd June the Welsh Government (WG) announced that Contact Tracing 
in Wales is to be extended with associated funding until the end of March 2022. In 
light of the ongoing enforcement service demands and pressures highlighted 
above, it will be equally important for Welsh Government and individual local 
authorities to commit to the continuation of support / funding for the Covid 
Enforcement team over the same period – whilst currently, staff contracts end on 
30th September 2021, in line with Personnel Committee agreed processes, an 
extension of contracts until 31st March 2022 is proposed. 
 
In addition, and in order to meet the current and emerging service demands, there 
is a need to keep under review how staff resources are deployed. As referenced 
above, the pool of Covid Enforcement Officers will continue to be split and 
deployed across the Environmental Health and Licensing teams respectively. 
 
Through to the end of March 2022, it is proposed that the team will comprise of: 
 

Tudalen217



 1x Senior Covid Enforcement Officer (GR9) – in recognition of the 

supervisory role; 

 4x Covid Enforcement Officers (GR7) – based in Environmental Health, split 

into area teams; 

 2x Health & Safety Enforcement Officers (GR7) – based in Environmental 

Health, with the focus on proactive Covid and H&S workplace inspections; 

 2x Covid Enforcement Officers (GR7) – based in Licensing; and 

 1x Operational Support Officer (GR3). 

Members should be aware that if demand for the service continues to increase, 
there may be the potential need to recruit further staff resources from the external 
market to meet the demand. 
 
Financial Impacts 
 
The cost associated with the proposed staffing structure is as follows: 
 
Post Per Annum 6 Months 

Pro-Rata 

1x GR9 Senior Covid Enforcement Officer £  46,952 £23,476 

4x GR7 Covid Enforcement Officers (EH) £149,380 £74,690 

2x GR7 Health & Safety Enforcement Officers (EH) £  74,690 £37,345 

2x GR7 Covid Enforcement Officers (Licensing) £  74,690 £37,345 

1x GR3 Operational Support Officer – Covid Enforcement £  25,261 £12,631 

Total: £370,973 £185,487 

 
Whilst the TTP programme in Wales is funded from a separate Welsh Government 
pot, funding for enforcement activities is drawn from the Local Authority Hardship 
Fund – the fund is run on a claims basis for additional costs incurred and/or loss 
of income. 
 
In terms of additional funding in 2021-22, the Welsh Government Budget has 
secured circa £207m for local government Covid support for the first 6 months of 
the financial year (i.e. 1st April – 30th September 2021) – this figure includes 
additional funding for a number of work streams, including enforcement. 
 
Decisions on funding for the second half of the year will be for the new 
administration in Welsh Government. Whilst to date no decision has been made, 
given the importance of the enforcement work going forward it is anticipated that 
confirmation of extended funding will be received in due course.  

Tudalen218



At this point however, the extension of contracts to 31st March 2022 for this critical 
work to be delivered will be at financial risk to the Authority and ultimately will be a 
financial pressure should the Authority be unable to recover costs incurred from 
Welsh Government. 
 
Integrated Impact Assessment 
 
An Integrated Impact Assessment is not required for this report. 
 
Valleys Communities Impacts 
 
No implications. 
 
Workforce Impacts 
 
No implications. 
 
Legal Impacts 
 
No implications. 
 
Risk Management Impacts 
 
The Swansea Bay Prevention and Response Plan includes a risk register. 
 
Consultation 
 
There has been no requirement to externally consult on this matter. 
 
For Noting 
 
Members to note the following: 
 

 The continued work of the Covid-19 Enforcement team; and 

 The extension of staff contracts (in line with agreed Personnel Committee 

delegations) until 31st March 2022 and for the Authority to seek to recover 

costs incurred from the WG Local Authority Hardship Fund. 

Appendices 
 

Tudalen219



None.  
 
List of Background Papers 
 
Swansea Bay Prevention and Response Plan. 
 
Officer Contact 
 
Ceri Morris – Head of Planning and Public Protection  
Tel: 01639 686681 or e-mail: c.morris1@npt.gov.uk  

Tudalen220

mailto:c.morris1@npt.gov.uk


NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 

30th June 2021

Joint Report of the Head of Engineering and Transport
Mr D W Griffiths and the

Head Property and Regeneration
Mr S Brennan

Matter for Decision 

Ward Affected: Cymmer

SWANSEA BAY UNIVERSITY HEALTH BOARD AND NEATH PORT 
TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL JOINT WORKING PAPER 
ON THE UPPER AFAN VALLEY 

Purpose of Report: 

There are currently two separate but linked issues that will impact on 
the residents in the Upper Afan Valley within the next 5 year period. As 
detailed below, there is an urgent need to address issues with the 
highway infrastructure whilst there is also an ongoing assessment of 
the facilities available to deliver appropriate healthcare within the area. 
Plans are included in Appendix A & B showing the strategic overview 
and location.

Executive Summary:

This paper will examine the links between the two pieces of work and 
assess the benefits for the residents of the Upper Afan Valley, 
Swansea Bay University Health Board (SBUHB) and Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough Council (NPTCBC) in delivering a coordinated, timely 
and cost effective approach to the two issues  

Tudalen221

Eitem yr Agenda11



The existing GP Practice in Cymmer is a SBUHB Managed Practice 
(Cymmer Health Centre) and although meeting operational standards, 
does not meet the standards and accommodation requirements of 
modern health care. 

An estates solution for the Upper Afan Valley has been identified as a 
priority within the Primary Care Estates Strategy priority schemes 
2019. This scheme development will require a full options and site 
locations appraisal and full business case submission to Welsh 
Government

The options will include a new build option, on a yet to be identified 
site in the Upper Afan Valley, or the adaptation of an existing facility in 
the area that is not currently used for the delivery of healthcare 
services.

In addition to SBUHB estates concerns at Cymmer, Neath Port CBC 
has identified constraints on the highway with three structures needing 
to be strengthened.  Cymmer viaduct shown in the photographs in 
Appendix C, is a grade II listed structure that spans the River Afan.  It 
provides the only suitable access to the communities of Abercregan 
and Glyncorrwg for heavy vehicles, buses and emergency vehicles.  
The viaduct is currently restricted to an 18 tonne weight limit with traffic 
controlled by traffic signals to restrict the road to one-way working.  
Ongoing deterioration of the viaduct means that without extensive 
maintenance it will have to be closed to heavy vehicular traffic 
preventing HGV’s, emergency vehicles and public transport vehicles 
from serving the communities.  Owing to the severity of the 
deterioration, the structure cannot be repaired.   

Timeline 

RELOCATION OF HEALTH CENTRE
Indicative TimelineActivities

New build 
property

Refurbishment 
of alternative 
accommoda-
tion

Comments / Risks

Framework 
option/location 
appraisal

1 Month 1 Month Agree brief and 
technical solution. 
Unable to progress this 
without initial patient 
engagement to inform 

Tudalen222



options appraisal and 
site search. 

HB paper - approve 
way forward/fees

Risk/Design Fees (at 
risk) not approved 

Appoint design team

1 Month 1 Month 

Estimated design & 
full planning 
application approval 
(if new build) or 
change of use 
planning permission 
(if refurb.) 

7 Months 3 Months

Tender 3 months 2 months Procurement/timeline 
risk

Complete fully 
tendered business 
case

1 Month 1 Month

Health Board 
endorse business 
case

1 Month (14 
Months to 
get to 
endorsed 
business 
case)

1 Month (9 
Months to get to 
endorsed 
business case)

WGov submission / 
scrutiny / approval

2 Months 2 Months Possibly reduce to 1 
month?

Appoint contractor 
and enter into 
contract

1 Month 1 Month 

Estimated Works 9 Months 6 Months Subject to complexity & 
Contractors programme

Commissioning 1 Month 1 Month 

HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT SCHEME
Detailed design 10 months
Planning approval 4 months
Tender (Jan ‘23) 2 months
Early Contractor 
Involvement

2 months

Construction 18 months Following relocation of 
health centre

Tudalen223



An indicative programme for the two options can be seen in 
Appendix D.

Issues

The provision of primary care services within the Health Board 
Managed Practice has been subject to patient and political scrutiny, 
particularly from the population of Cymmer, dissatisfied with the  
transformation of GP services in line with the principles of the Primary 
Care Model for Wales in support of the vision in ‘A Healthier Wales’. 
An integral part of any changes to either service delivery or the moving 
of that service to new premises, is the interaction and opinion of the 
community which it serves. An engagement exercise will need to be 
undertaken to ensure full community involvement at the outset, prior to 
the framework option / location appraisal and will need to be linked to 
the wider engagement plan recently developed for the Health Board 
Managed Practice. The Community Health Council (CHC) has 
advised, following discussion at their Executive Committee that a 6-
week engagement exercise should be undertaken to seek the views 
from the population on the potential for a relocation and their 
suggestions for a new site. 

Capital investment will be required to progress with any proposed 
development of premises and this would need to be progressed as a 
fully tendered business case through Welsh Government. There is no 
current confirmed process for primary care estates development 
funding and indicative timelines for business case development and 
submission (excluding patient engagement) will take approximately 9 
to 14 months’ dependent on preferred option and approximately 9 to 
14 months for development completion; however, this will again 
depend on options and complexity of scheme. 

Longer term revenue impact will need to be considered should the 
Health Board be required to enter into a lease arrangement, 
depending on the outcome of the options / site appraisal.  The current 
building is a Health Board clinic with minimum service fees. A new 
development / premises would mean committing to increased service 
changes and potential long term lease arrangements. External 
Advisers to the project are required in order to provide the appropriate 
expertise for the safeguarding of the long term investment to the NHS 
in Wales and NWSSP – Specialist Estates Advisors will be intrusted to 
support this scheme. Legal advice and independent quantity 
(monitoring) surveyors are required to be part of the professional team.

Tudalen224



To maintain vehicular connectivity to the villages of Abercregan and 
Glyncorrwg, there are three structures which need to be strengthened. 
One of these structures, Cymmer viaduct has been restricted to one 
way working with an 18 tonne weight restriction imposed; however, the 
structural assessment has shown that the structure is only capable of 
carrying 3 tonne of traffic.  The weight limit was imposed in 1999, since 
then the concrete has continued to deteriorate and the Council deems 
it at risk of structural collapse by leaving the 18 tonne restriction in 
place, especially as traffic surveys have shown that the bridge is being 
used illegally by heavier vehicles. 

The adjacent carriageway is extremely steep with very tight hairpin 
bends making it difficult for buses or HGV’s to safely navigate without 
grounding when negotiating the bend.  Vehicles over 18 tonne do 
negotiate the hairpin bend but have extreme difficulty, needing to take 
the whole carriageway and reversing several times to get around the 
hairpin. This is extremely dangerous both for the HGV’s and for other 
traffic using the road.

It is proposed that the carriageway adjacent to Cymmer Viaduct is 
improved to allow larger vehicles to negotiate this route maintaining 
access to these communities.  Several options have been considered 
for the highway improvements with two options being shortlisted.  
Details of both options can be seen in Appendix E and F.

Capital investment for the design of the highway improvements has 
been granted by the Welsh Government through the Local Transport 
Fund during 2020/21 and 2021/22, further Capital funding will be 
required for the construction of the project.

A public consultation exercise will be required for the highway project 
and will need to align with the public engagement for the potential 
relocation of the health facility in Cymmer.

As a consequence of the above it is clearly evident that the provision 
of appropriate health care facilities and the retention of vehicular 
access infrastructure to communities within the Afan Valley will require 
patient engagement / consultation and Welsh Government funding. 
Consideration should therefore be given to the coordination of such 
activity which should improve efficiencies and therefore timely delivery, 
in addition to minimising the overall cost.

Tudalen225



Benefits and Opportunities  

1. The development of an estates solution within the Upper Afan 
Valley was agreed as a high priority for the following key drivers:

 Condition, functionality and suitability of estate; existing premises 
within the Upper Afan Valley are three community clinics, which 
currently house, 2 GP Practices, a dental practice and 
community services. These buildings, designed as community 
clinics some 40 years ago, are no longer fit for purpose and 
need considerable investment.  

 The strategic drive is to provide as many services as close to 
patient’s homes as possible. Car use is low within the valley 
area and there are very poor public transport and active travel 
links. 

 An aging population with more complex health needs; the 
communities in the Upper Afan Valley continue to be amongst 
the poorest and disadvantaged in Wales. The ill health of the 
population is also a significant issue. More than a third of people 
in the Upper Afan valley say that they have a limiting long-term 
illness, whilst life expectancy is amongst the shortest in the UK – 
at 74.8 years in Cymmer it is nearly 3 years less than the figure 
for Wales. 

 Long term sustainability of primary care services and the 
increasing need to work on a multi-agency basis. Providing the 
integrated space as an enabler and premises to attract new GPs 
to area, which in turn should help facilitate the exit strategy for 
the managed GP practice. There is evidence that poor GP 
premises is linked to recruitment and retention challenges and 
sustainability issues of a GP practice without the premises to 
maximise income and facilitate new ways of working. 

2. The topography in Cymmer is challenging; Cymmer is situated on 
the side of a steep valley with Cymmer viaduct and the health 
centre being circa 25m higher than Avon Street, making travel to 
the health centre on foot or by car difficult.

Tudalen226



3. Several options have been considered for the realignment of the 
carriageway. The two preferred options can be seen in Appendix E 
and F.  Of the two options 

 Option A avoids the existing health centre at Cymmer and has 
been costed at circa £5.76m 

 Option B requires the land on which the existing health centre 
is located and is costed at circa £4.42m

The relocation of the health centre has the potential to realise a cost 
saving to the highway scheme of circa £1.34m and would provide a 
better road alignment.

4. The revised road alignment also removes the need to strengthen 
the two former railway bridges that presently need to be replaced.

Risks 

For the Health Centre

1. To do nothing means:

 The Health Board will continue to manage the GP Practice long 
term which has a current impact on PCTS management time 
and GMS allocation above that of independent contractor status

 Future sustainability risk of Afan Valley Group Practice 
(Glyncorrwg / Blaengwynfi) which without adequate estates 
provision in the Upper Afan Valley provides little opportunity for 
succession planning for the single handed contractor. 

 Requirement to invest in existing estate to ensure services 
continue to be provided safely. 

 Minimum level of service provision will continue with no 
opportunity for service design, provision of care closer to home, 
including cluster services or provision of care out of hospital and 
therefore not aligned strategically or taking the opportunity to 
tackle health inequalities.   

2. Capital investment via Welsh Government funding will need to be 
pursued however there is no current confirmed process for primary 
care estates funding. 

Tudalen227



3. Current indicative timelines will need to include patient engagement 
and potential public consultation. The outcomes of this will need to 
inform the final position. However as indicated above, this activity 
could be coordinated with the consultation associated with the 
highway works to avoid duplication and potential confusion.

For the Highway Improvements

4. To do nothing is not a viable option, Cymmer viaduct is 
deteriorating and will need to be closed to traffic in the short to 
medium term.

5. The adjacent road is very steep, narrow and winding with hairpin 
bends making it very difficult for large vehicles to negotiate.  Due to 
the vertical and horizontal profile of the road, travel along this 
section is very dangerous especially for the large vehicles and 
oncoming traffic.

6. Topographical difficulties and the lack of space adjoining the 
highway constrains options for improvement and make construction 
whilst maintaining access to homes and businesses in the area 
difficult.

7. Capital investment via Welsh Government funding will need to be 
pursued through transport grants, this is a bidding process and the 
allocation of funding is not guaranteed. 

8. Public consultation on the highway improvements will need to run 
alongside the public consultation for the relocation of the health 
centre.

Summary

The existing GP Practice in Cymmer does not meet the standards of 
accommodation of modern health care.  An estates solution for the 
Upper Afan Valley has been identified as a priority within the Primary 
Care Estates Strategy priority schemes 2019.

Cymmer viaduct is presently weight restricted to 18 tonne vehicles, the 
structure is continuing to deteriorate and will need to be closed to 
vehicles in the short to medium term.  The adjacent carriageways are 
not suitable for HGV’s, some emergency vehicles and public service 

Tudalen228



vehicles and needs to be improved to maintain access to the adjoining 
communities of Abercregan and Glyncorrwg.

Conclusion

It is clear from the information currently available that the issues within 
the Upper Afan Valley require a coordinated approach that will 
maintain and improve public services for the local residents. It is also 
likely that this coordinated approach will deliver the most cost effective 
solution.

Joint delivery of the relocation of the health facility and highway 
improvements will result in:

 Improved health care facilities for the community
 Joint public engagement / consultation between the Health 

Board and the Council.
 An improved road alignment for the alternative route avoiding 

Cymmer viaduct.
 Cost savings to the highway scheme of circa £1.34 million by 

avoiding the need for substantial retaining walls and other civils 
work.

 Less disruption to the community as the relocation, and 
demolition of the health centre and the road improvements will 
take place concurrently.

 The opportunity to develop premises to deliver a multi-sector 
approach to integrated service delivery which supports the 
strategic priority of health, national strategic drivers and local 
wellbeing plans to support people in managing their physical, 
mental and social well-being.

Whilst further detailed feasibility work is necessary, the urgent nature 
of the highways works means that there is a very tight ‘window of 
opportunity’ to make a decision that will help to avoid major disruption 
to the Highways network whilst protecting key health services within 
the Afan Valley.

Recommendations 

1. To support a coordinated approach between SBUHB and NTPCBC 
for a joint delivery of a potential relocation of the health facility and 
highway improvements.

Tudalen229



2. To agree for a joint meeting to be arranged with Welsh Government 
officials to explore the potential for this approach and investment.

3. To agree the need to progress and align the engagement activities 
for both health and highways. 

Reasons for Proposed Decision:

To support a coordinated approach between SBUHB and NTPCBC.

Implementation of Decision:

The decision is for immediate implementation with the agreement of 
the relevant scrutiny chairperson and therefore not subject to the 3 day 
call in period).

Appendices:

Appendix A and B - plans showing the strategic overview and location.
Appendix C - Cymmer viaduct is shown in the photographs.
Appendix D – is the indicative programme for the two options.
Appendix E - General arrangement of carriageway improvements with 
health centre retained.
Appendix F - General arrangement of carriageway improvements with 
health centre relocated.

Tudalen230



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 
 

Strategic Overview 
  

Tudalen231



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

LOCATION OF CYMMER AND ADJOINING COMMUNITIES

CYMMER
VIADUCT

BLAENGWYNFI

ABERGWYNFI

ABERCREGAN

CROESERW

PONTRHYDYFEN

A4107

A4063

A4107

GLYNCORRWG

◄ TO NEATH

◄ TO PORT TALBOT
TO MAESTEG

▼

TO RHONDDA  ►

CYMMER

CYMMER
HEALTH
CENTRE

T
udalen232

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
N



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B 
 

Location 
  

Tudalen233



APPENDIX B

LOCATION PLAN

CYMMER HEALTH CENTRE

CARRIAGEWAY TO BE IMPROVED

CYMMER VIADUCT

ABERCREGAN

GLYNCORRWG

CYMMER

TO NEATH &
PORT

TALBOT TO
MAESTEG

Tudalen234

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
N



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C 
 

Photographs 
 

 

 

Tudalen235



GOOGLE IMAGE SHOWING CYMMER VIADUCT AND ADJACENT CARRIAGEWAY.  

CYMMER VIADUCT 

ALTERATIVE ROUTE 

FIRE STATION 

HEALTH CENTRE 

T
udalen236



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 CYMMER VIADUCT  

  

  

T
udalen237



 

EXISTING CYMMER HEALTH CENTRE VIEWED FROM CYMMER VIADUCT 

 

 

EXISTING CYMMER HEALTH CENTRE VIEWED FROM STATION ROAD 

 

Tudalen238



 

 

 

 

CARRIAGEWAY TO BE IMPROVED TO ALLOW LARGE VEHICLES TO SAFELY 

NEGOTIATE THE HAIRPIN BEND 

Tudalen239



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D 
 

Programme  
 

 

 

  

Tudalen240



NEW BUILD HEALTH CENTRE

A
p

r-
2

1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

Se
p

-2
1

O
ct

-2
1

N
o

v-
2

1

D
ec

-2
1

Ja
n

-2
2

Fe
b

-2
2

M
ar

-2
2

A
p

r-
2

2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
n

-2
2

Ju
l-

2
2

A
u

g-
2

2

Se
p

-2
2

O
ct

-2
2

N
o

v-
2

2

D
ec

-2
2

Ja
n

-2
3

Fe
b

-2
3

M
ar

-2
3

A
p

r-
2

3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
n

-2
3

Ju
l-

2
3

A
u

g-
2

3

Se
p

-2
3

O
ct

-2
3

N
o

v-
2

3

D
ec

-2
3

Ja
n

-2
4

Fe
b

-2
4

M
ar

-2
4

A
p

r-
2

4

M
ay

-2
4

Ju
n

-2
4

Ju
l-

2
4

A
u

g-
2

4

Se
p

-2
4

O
ct

-2
4

N
o

v-
2

4

D
ec

-2
4

Ja
n

-2
5

Fe
b

-2
5

M
ar

-2
5

Framework option/location appraisal 1 Month

HB paper - approve way forward/fees - Appoint design team 1 Month 

Estimated design & full planning application approval 7 Months

Tender 3 months 

Complete fully tendered business case 1 Month 

Health Board endorse business case 1 Month

WGov submission / scrutiny / approval 2 Months 

Appoint contractor and enter into contract 1 Month 

Estimated Works 9 Months 

Commissioning 1 Month 

Completion of detailed design 10 months

Planning approval 4 months

Tender 2 months

Early Contractor Involvement 2 months

Construction 18 months

REFURBISHMENT OF ALTERNATIVE ACCOMMODATION

A
p

r-
2

1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

Se
p

-2
1

O
ct

-2
1

N
o

v-
2

1

D
ec

-2
1

Ja
n

-2
2

Fe
b

-2
2

M
ar

-2
2

A
p

r-
2

2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
n

-2
2

Ju
l-

2
2

A
u

g-
2

2

Se
p

-2
2

O
ct

-2
2

N
o

v-
2

2

D
ec

-2
2

Ja
n

-2
3

Fe
b

-2
3

M
ar

-2
3

A
p

r-
2

3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
n

-2
3

Ju
l-

2
3

A
u

g-
2

3

Se
p

-2
3

O
ct

-2
3

N
o

v-
2

3

D
ec

-2
3

Ja
n

-2
4

Fe
b

-2
4

M
ar

-2
4

A
p

r-
2

4

M
ay

-2
4

Ju
n

-2
4

Ju
l-

2
4

A
u

g-
2

4

Se
p

-2
4

O
ct

-2
4

N
o

v-
2

4

D
ec

-2
4

Ja
n

-2
5

Fe
b

-2
5

M
ar

-2
5

Framework option/location appraisal 1 Month 

HB paper - approve way forward/fees - Appoint design team 1 Month 

Estimated design & full planning application approval 3 Months

Tender 2 months

Complete fully tendered business case 1 Month 

Health Board endorse business case 1 Month

WGov submission / scrutiny / approval 2 Months 

Appoint contractor and enter into contract 1 Month 

Estimated Works 6 Months 

Commissioning 1 Month 

Completion of detailed design 10 months

Planning approval 4 months

Tender 2 months

Early Contractor Involvement 2 months

Construction 18 months

APPENDIX D - PROGRAMME CYMMER HEALTH CENTRE AND ROAD REALIGNMENT SCHEMES

Indicative Timeline - Health centre

Programme version 1 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025

Indicative timeline for highway improvement scheme

Indicative Timeline - Health centre

Indicative timeline for highway improvement scheme

T
udalen241



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix E 
 

General arrangement of carriageway 
improvements with health centre retained 

 
 

 

 

  

Tudalen242



M
AESTEG

Fire
Station

ROAD

ROAD

Library

Club
A 4063

STATION

Playground

HealthCentre

Refreshment
Rooms (PH)

Gilgal Apostolic

Church

Tel Ex

AlbionHouse

Cattle
Grid

A4107

S
A

F
L

E

B
W

S

B
U

S

S
T

O
P

C

A

D

W

C

H

Y

N

 
G

L

I
R

K

E

E

P

C

L

E

A

R

ENGINEERING AND TRANSPORT

NICOLA PEARCE BSC (Hons), Dip TP, MRTPI

DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND REGENERATION

THE QUAYS, BRUNEL WAY

BAGLAN ENERGY PARK

NEATH SA11 2GG

A1

C:\Users\ts323\Desktop\CYMMER\C20910-GA-PLAN A.dwg

Date

Approved

Drawing No.

File No.

Drawn

Date

Scales

Financial Code No.

Checked

Date

Job Title

Ch

Client

Rev Details Dr Ap Date

THIS IS A C.A.D. PRODUCED DRAWING AND SHOULD NOT BE AMENDED BY HAND.

J
o
b
 
T

i
t
l
e

D
r
g
.
 
N

o
.

NOTES

1. All dimensions are in millimetres

unless   otherwise stated.

Status PRELIM

Ordnance Survey Licence:  © Hawlfraint a hawilau cronfa ddata’r goron 2013. Rhid trwydded yr arolwg ordnans 100023392. © Crown Copyright and Database Right 2013. Ordnance Survey 100023392.

 AAI 

JULY '20

 MCB

JULY '20

 HIH 

JULY '20

1:500

C20910 / GA / PLAN 'A'

C
20

91
0 

C
Y

M
M

ER
 C

A
R

R
IA

G
EW

A
Y

 R
E-

A
LI

G
N

M
EN

T
C

2
0

9
1

0
 
/
 
G

A
 
/
 
P

L
A

N
 
'
A

'

· ACQUISITION OF HEALTH BOARD LAND REQUIRED
ADJACENT TO BUILDING TO ALLOW CONSTRUCTION
OF HIGHWAY.

· IMPACT ON HEALTH CENTRE OF TRAFFIC PASSING
DIRECTLY IN FRONT AND AT THE REAR OF HEALTH
CENTRE BUILDING.

· ACCESS TO EXISTING CAR PARK AND JUNCTION IS
SUB-STANDARD.

· SUBSTANTIAL RETAINING WALLS REQUIRED ADJACENT
TO AND AT THE REAR OF THE HEALTH CENTRE.

· DIFFICULT TO ACHIEVE SUITABLE JUNCTION
IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO HEALTH CENTRE.

· TRAFFIC HAVING TO ENTER OPPOSING
TRAFFIC LANE ON EXITING THE JUNCTION.

· SUBSTANTIAL RETAINING WALLS REQUIRED
AFFECTING JUNCTION VISIBILITY.

· DEDICATED CYCLE WAY LINK
UNACHIEVABLE DUE TO LACK OF WIDTH

EXISTING CARRIAGEWAY

PROPOSED CARRIAGEWAY

RESURFACING

NEW CARRIAGEWAY

CONSTRUCTION

HIGHWAY VERGE

COLOURED SURFACING

PROPOSED RETAINING WALLS

PROPOSED FOOTWAY

PROPOSED EMBANKMENT

PROPOSED SPEED CUSHIONS

PROPOSED 20mph ZONE

PLAN 'A' HEALTH CENTRE RETAINED

20mph

ZONE

20mph

ZONE

20mph

ZONE

STATION ROAD TO BE

CLOSED OFF

BUSINESSES AFFECTED

C20910 CYMMER CARRIAGEWAY

RE-ALIGNMENT

PRELIMINARY DESIGN OPTION 1

WITH HEALTH CENTRE RETAINED

CYMMER VIADUCT TO BE

CLOSED TO TRAFFIC

FAILING

STRUCTURES

HEALTH BOARD

LAND BOUNDARY

T
udalen243

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
RB

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
IL

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
CRAIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
Avondale

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
Job Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
Bryn Siriol

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
MARGAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
PLEASANT VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
Y FAN TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
Pwll Nofio

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
BRYTWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
Glyncymmer

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
AVON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
AV0NDALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
Senior Citizens

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
(Cymer)

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
PW

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
River Avan

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
Swimming Pool

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
(Afon Afan)

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
Golwg Y

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
Mynydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
John

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
Ty Sant

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
Glyncymmer

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
RAILWAY TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
127



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix F 
 

General arrangement of carriageway 
improvements with health centre relocated. 

 
 

 

Tudalen244



Fire
Station

Library

Club

Playground

Refreshment
Rooms (PH)

Gilgal Apostolic

Church

Tel Ex

AlbionHouse

Cattle
Grid

S

A

F

L

E

B

W

S

B

U

S

S

T

O

P

D
I
M

M
Y

N
E

D
I
A

D

N
O

 
E

N
T

R
Y

L

P

6

.

0

m

M

A

E

S

T

E

G

 

R

O

A

D

M

A

E

S

T

E

G

 

R

O

A

D

A

4

1

0

7

 

S

C

H

O

O

L

 

R

O

A

D

A

V

O

N

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

CRAIG Y FAN TERRACE

R

W

1

RW2

RW5

R

W

3

S

T

A

T

I
O

N

 
R

O

A

D

A

4

0

6

3

 

M

A

E

S

T

E

G

 

R

O

A

D

A

4

1

0

7

 

L

L

O

Y

D

'

S

 

T

E

R

R

A

C

E

F

I

R

E

 

S

T

A

T

I

O

N

 

A

C

C

E

S

S

 

R

O

A

D

S

T

O

P

B
U

S

S
T

O

P

B

U

S

S

T
O

P

ENGINEERING AND TRANSPORT

NICOLA PEARCE BSC (Hons), Dip TP, MRTPI

DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND REGENERATION

THE QUAYS, BRUNEL WAY

BAGLAN ENERGY PARK

NEATH SA11 2GG

A1

C:\Users\ts323\Desktop\CYMMER\C20910-GA-PLAN B.dwg

Date

Approved

Drawing No.

File No.

Drawn

Date

Scales

Financial Code No.

Checked

Date

Job Title

Ch

Client

Rev Details Dr Ap Date

THIS IS A C.A.D. PRODUCED DRAWING AND SHOULD NOT BE AMENDED BY HAND.

J
o
b
 
T

i
t
l
e

D
r
g
.
 
N

o
.

NOTES

1. All dimensions are in millimetres

unless   otherwise stated.

Status PRELIM

Ordnance Survey Licence:  © Hawlfraint a hawilau cronfa ddata’r goron 2013. Rhid trwydded yr arolwg ordnans 100023392. © Crown Copyright and Database Right 2013. Ordnance Survey 100023392.

26/007500/B054/266305

 AAI 

MAY '21

 MCB

MAY '21

 HIH 

MAY '21

1:500

C20910 / GA / PLAN B

C
20

91
0 

C
Y

M
M

ER
 C

A
R

R
IA

G
EW

A
Y

 R
E-

A
LI

G
N

M
EN

T 
   

 G
EN

ER
A

L 
A

R
R

A
N

G
EM

EN
T

C
2

0
9

1
0

 
/
 
G

A
 
/
 
2

0
2

1

PROPOSED CARRIAGEWAY

PROPOSED FOOTWAY

HIGHWAY VERGE

COLOURED SURFACING

PROPOSED RETAINING WALLS

PROPOSED PARAPET / 'L' BEAM

PROPOSED EMBANKMENT

EXISTING CARRIAGEWAY

EXISTING FOOTWAY

C20910 CYMMER CARRIAGEWAY

RE-ALIGNMENT

GENERAL ARRANGEMENT

DESIGN OPTION PLAN B

NEW ROUNDABOUT TO BE

BUILT TO ACCOMMODATE

ALL VEHICLE TURNING

MANOEUVRES

FAILING STRUCTURES

TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED

RE-ALIGNMENT OF

MAESTEG ROAD

DUE TO FAILING

STRUCTURES

NEW FIRE STATION ACCESS

ROAD AND JUNCTION TO BE

CONSTRUCTED WITH

IMPROVED VISIBILITY AND

TURNING MANOEUVRES

ROAD TO BE CLOSED TO

VEHICULAR TRAFFIC.

PROPOSED PARAPET

WALLS WITH 3.5m FOOTWAY

PROVIDED BETWEEN

KEY

PROPOSED 3m WIDTH SHARED

FOOTWAY/CYCLEWAY

PLAN 'B' HEALTH CENTRE RELOCATED

· HEALTH CENTRE AND CAR PARK TO BE

DEMOLISHED

· ADDITIONAL AREA ENABLING IMPROVED

JUNCTION DESIGN AND FORWARD VISIBILITY

· ADEQUATE WIDTH AVAILABLE FOR NEW

DEDICATED CYCLE WAY LINKS

· LESS ROCK CUTTING, EXCAVATION AND

RETAINING WALLS REQUIRED

· SuDS, BIODIVERSITY AND PUBLIC AMENITY

REQUIREMENTS ACHIEVED

STATION ROAD

TO BECOME ONE

WAY STREET

HEALTH BOARD

LAND BOUNDARY

PROPOSED 3m

WIDTH SHARED

FOOTWAY /

CYCLEWAY

PROPOSED 3m

WIDTH SHARED

FOOTWAY/CYCLEWAY

PROPOSED

REPLACEMENT

PARKING AREA

PROPOSED 3m

WIDTH SHARED

FOOTWAY/CYCLEWAY

ALBION BEND TO BE WIDENED TO

IMPROVE FORWARD VISIBILITY AND

LARGE VEHICLE PASSING MANOEUVRE

T
udalen245

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
DP

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
BL

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
BN

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
LC

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
RB

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
WT

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
IL

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
RK

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
SW

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
Avondale

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
MARGAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
Allotment Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
Pwll Nofio

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
BRYTWN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
Glyncymmer

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
AV0NDALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
PW

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
River Avan

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
Swimming Pool

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
(Afon Afan)

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
Golwg Y

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
Mynydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
John

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
Ty Sant

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
Glyncymmer

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
A 4107

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
RAILWAY TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
PS

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
TR



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cabinet

30 June 2021

Report of the Head of Human & Organisational Development – S Rees

Matter for Decision

Wards Affected: All Wards

Report Title: An Anti-Racist Wales: The Race Equality Action Plan for Wales -
consultation draft response. 

Purpose of Report 

1. To approve a consultation response to Welsh Government’s An Anti-Racist Wales: 
The Race Equality Action Plan for Wales on behalf of Neath Port Talbot Council. 

Executive Summary

2. The challenges and inequities faced by ethnic minority communities became more 
prominent over the last year when events ‘shone [a light] on the systemic and 
institutional racism faced by Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities both in 
Wales and elsewhere’.  Recognising that urgent action was required, Welsh 
Government together with partners and stakeholders have developed a Race 
Equality Action Plan.  

3. The Race Equality Action Plan set out the vision for an anti-racist Wales, bringing 
about meaningful change to the lives of ethnic minority people. 

4. The Welsh Government is carrying out a 12-week consultation seeking views from 
individuals, communities, community based groups, trade unions, experts by 
research and from public, private and third sector partners to further refine and 
develop the Action Plan. 

5. Members are asked to approve a draft response to the consultation on behalf of 
the Council. 

Background

6. In March 2020 a commitment was made by the Welsh Government to produce a 
Race Equality Action Plan (Action Plan), following calls from the Wales Race 

Tudalen247

Eitem yr Agenda12



Forum and broader stakeholders. Following the convening of the First Minister’s 
Black Asian and Minority Ethnic COVID-19 Steering Group work and the Socio-
economic Sub Group report recommendations, the work to develop the Action 
Plan was accelerated.  

7. Together with partners and stakeholders a Race Equality Action Plan was 
developed which included a vision where ‘…Wales is a country that is anti-racist, 
where everyone is treated as an equal citizen’, along with details of goals and 
actions to meet this vison by 2030.  

8. The following priority action areas were identified:

 education
 employment and income
 leadership and representation
 health
 social care
 hateful crime and justice
 housing and accommodation

 arts, culture, sports and 
heritage

 local democracy
 environment
 Welsh language
 cross-cutting issues

9. Responses to the Action Plan consultation will help refine and develop the final 
version of the Plan which Welsh Government aims to publish in autumn 2021.

The draft response to the Race Equality Action Plan consultation   

10. Officers have drafted a response to the consultation document, Appendix 1, in 
relation to:

 the vision, purpose and values for an anti-racist Wales
 the different policy areas that should develop tangible goals, actions and 

outcomes
 areas of government work that may have been missed
 barriers to achieving our goals, action and outcomes
 the use of language.

11. Development of the plan is founded on irrefutable evidence including personal 
experience shared by many in our communities, academic research and 
worldwide activism that has brought about clarity, and shame, that ‘systemic and 
institutional racism is faced by Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic in Wales…’. 

12. The whole ethos that permeates the Action Plan, from its purpose through to its 
‘imagined future of 2030’ (an envisaged future would possibly be a better 
description), cannot be disagreed with.

Tudalen248

https://gov.wales/covid-19-bame-socio-economic-subgroup-report-welsh-government-response-html
https://gov.wales/covid-19-bame-socio-economic-subgroup-report-welsh-government-response-html


13. The policy areas predominantly reflect those in the EHRCs ‘Is Wales Fairer?’ and 
the qualitative evidence that has accompanied government enquiries, local 
research and global events over the last year. 

14. While the Race Equality Action Plan is overwhelmingly supported, like all action 
plans its realisation will be dependent on a range of issues, including a shared 
understanding, buy in from all sectors, sufficient resources and access to support 
and advice. 

Financial Appraisal

15. A number of actions identified in the Race Equality Action Plan are already in 
train and so are budgeted for. However, there will be a significant number of 
actions that cannot be met or can only be met in part through existing budget, 
thereby increasing financial pressures over the life of the Action Plan.  

Integrated Impact Assessment
16. An Integrated Impact Assessment has been undertaken by Welsh Government as 

part of the development of the Race Equality Action Plan and thus a further 
assessment is not required for the response to the consultation. 

Valleys Communities Impact

17. The implementation of the Race Equality Action Plan will contribute to supporting 
the valley communities.

Workforce Impact

18. It is anticipated that the Race Equality Action Plan will be implemented either as 
part of work already in train/due to be implemented or as completely new 
actions with no additional resources to accompany the Plan.  

Legal Impact

19. The Race Equality Action Plan fulfils the requirements of the Public Sector 
Equality Duty in the Equality Act 2010.

 
  Risk Management

20. The Race Equality Action Plan has been developed as part of Welsh Government’s 
moral and legal obligations. Failure to meet the Public Sector Equality Duty could 
lead to a compliance notice from the Equality and Human Rights Commission (an 

Tudalen249

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-04/an-anti-racist-wales-integrated-impact-assessment.pdf


independent statutory agency established under the Equality Act 2006) as well as 
reputational risk to all concerned.

Consultation

21. Welsh Government’s consultation period begun on 24 March 2021 and will end 
on 17 June 2021. 

Recommendations

22. That members consider and approve the draft response to the Welsh 
Government's consultation on ‘An Anti-Racist Wales: The Race Equality Action 
Plan for Wales’, which will be submitted as a response on behalf of Neath Port 
Talbot CBC.

Reason for Proposed Decision

25. To help support the statutory requirements set out in the Equality Act 2010 
(Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011.  

Implementation of Decision

26. The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in.

Appendices

27. Appendix 1 – Response to the consultation on ‘An Anti-Racist Wales: The Race 
Equality Action Plan for Wales’  

List of Background Papers

 An Anti-Racist Wales: The Race Equality Action Plan for Wales 
 An Anti-Racist Wales: The Race Equality Action Plan for Wales Summary
 Consultation Document 
 Welsh Government’s Integrated Impact Assessment

Officer Contact

28. Mrs Sheenagh Rees Head of Human and Organisational Development Tel: 01639 
763315 or e-mail: s.rees5@npt.gov.uk

29. Mrs Rhian Headon, Corporate Policy Officer, Equalities and Welsh Language  Tel: 
01639 763010 or email r.headon@npt.gov.uk

Tudalen250

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-03/race-equality-action-plan-an-anti-racist-wales_2.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-04/race-equality-action-plan-an-anti-racist-wales-summary.pdf
https://gov.wales/consultation-race-equality-action-plan-anti-racist-wales-html
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-04/an-anti-racist-wales-integrated-impact-assessment.pdf
mailto:s.rees5@npt.gov.uk
mailto:r.headon@npt.gov.uk


  

Tudalen251



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



Appendix 1

Draft response to the consultation on Welsh Government’s

An Anti‑Racist Wales: The Race Equality Action Plan for Wales

Question 1

Does the vision, purpose, values and the imagined future to 2030 reflect what 
you would like to see achieved by 2030? What may get in the way to realise the 
vision and values? What may help to realise the vision and values?

The vision, purpose values and the future (more envisaged than imaginary) reflect 
our underlying ethos and therefore cannot be disagreed with. 

The events of 2020 refocused our attention to address the inequalities and inequities 
that many members of our minority ethnic communities experience in their daily 
lives. As a Council we have already begun to have the difficult conversations, to 
revaluate our policies and practices as well as working to shape the future of the 
Council to improve life for our all our citizens. 

Realisation of the vision and values will be dependent on a range of issues: a shared 
understanding; effective communication; community involvement; buy in from all 
sectors; respect and understanding of our differences; sufficient resources (people 
and financial); advice and support and education, in all its forms.  

Question 2

We would like your views on the goals and actions. To comment on some or 
all of the goals, actions and outcomes please reflect on the below:

 Does the explanation (narrative / background) make clear why we have chosen 
the goals and actions in this policy area?

 Is it missing any priorities, background or other information?
 Do you agree with the selected goals and actions? What would you add or take 

away in relation the actions?
 Will each goal and associated actions create the desired outcomes we have 

stated? If not, what would you want to change so that we achieve changes that 
are truly anti-racist in the time scales stated?

 How could the positive or negative effect be increased, or mitigated?

The goals and actions in the Race Equality Action Plan appear to be a direct 
response to the evidence amassed over the last year which highlighted the strength 
of feeling of inequality, inequity and racism of policies and practices and society in 
general.

The collection and analysis of data (performance, workforce or service user) is a key 
feature across all policy areas. Standardisation of a framework for use across all 
service areas and organisations would help ensure those who are struggling to get to 
grips with data collection have guidance and those who are more adept do so in the 
knowledge that the collection of data is appropriate and can be easily comparable.  

Tudalen253



Appendix 1

Leadership and Representation
A single target for public sector bodies in relation to recruiting ethnic minority staff 
will not accurately reflect the individual circumstances for those bodies with a small 
diverse demographic and so may struggle to achieve the target. 

There does not appear to be any clarity as to which bodies are subject to the various 
actions within this section: the terms public sector bodies, public bodies, public 
services all appearing to be used interchangeably. It is not clear therefore if action 
would be applied personally to Leaders and/or Chief Executives within local, 
government.

Following an enquiry to Welsh Government it was confirmed that the use of 
terminology will be addressed in the final version of the Race Equality Action Plan 
and the leadership commitments specially intended for local, government are 
included in the local government section. 

Therefore the understanding is that personal commitments and accountability which 
are a feature for bodies identified in this section do not include local government and 
as such commitments and accountability for Leaders/Chief Executives are included 
in the local government section. 

Education  

This policy area is comprehensive with clear goals, actions and accompanying 
narrative. 

The recognition of and emphasis placed on the various frameworks and reporting 
arrangements will help ensure that appropriate weight will be given to them by 
schools, governors, local authorities and the inspectorates to instil confidence 
amongst pupils, parents and the wider community. 

Local Government  

The goals and action complement and enhance the requirements of the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 albeit through an ethnic minority lens.  

The focus on analysis of workforce data will assist in the better understanding of the 
local position and provide a systematic and uniform approach for benchmarking and 
improvement for local government.

As there are no outcomes identified it is difficult to determine whether the actions will 
be appropriate. 

Tudalen254



Appendix 1

Question 3

Are there any goals and actions that you can think of that are missing? Who 
should deliver on them and what actions would help to deliver them?

Education – embedding anti-racism in curriculum delivery would ensure a more 
inclusive approach by schools: celebrating the contribution of ethnic minorities in 
terms of their history, culture and lived experiences would help to foster greater 
awareness and understanding of others. Rather than one off events this should be 
incorporated into the delivery of the curriculum across the school year, for example 
Black History Month, Gypsy Traveller Month, Chinese New Year, Ramadan and EID

Training could be delivered by those who understand what racism actually means, 
those that have lived through it, those that can influence others through detailed 
personal experiences and challenges that are faced on a daily basis. This will give 
teachers and students an insight of the real `live` issues that some of our community 
are having to deal with throughout their lives when encountering racism.

Question 4

What are the key challenges that could stop the goals and actions achieving 
anti-racism by 2025?

The date quoted should be 2030

Challenges that could stop, or at least limit, the goals and actions achieving anti-
racism will include:  

Resources – although a number of actions are already in train the lack of/limited 
resources may affected their effective and timely implementation. The increased 
demands on budgets and workforce to meet the wide ranging actions may be 
detrimental to the anti-racism agenda. Support and agreement are not always 
sufficient to ensure successful implementation. 

Leadership – without a firm commitment to the Action Plan timescales will slip and 
more harm than good will be done in the long run; reinforcing calls of racism and 
damaging the seeds of confidence that have grown within communities over recent 
months.  

Societal behaviour – changing behaviour take time and space – eight years may 
not be long enough.  

Communication - campaigns will need to be effective and appropriate, from 
national, regional and local sources, to ensure a shared understanding.  

Buy in – the importance of the agenda needs to be understood/communicated to 
and within public bodies and to communities.  

Tudalen255



Appendix 1

Time – or lack of… so much to do in such a short period of time. 

Lack of standardisation (education) – a standardised policy for schools for 
reporting racist incidents to local authorities as well as the standardisation of 
definitions of racist behaviour (currently subjective by each school) would be 
beneficial. 
Standardisation of policies and procedures to provide a framework of good practice 
in schools across Wales would provide clarity and focus which would help in 
achieving the goals of anti-racism set for 2030; standardised definitions, reporting 
systems, IT systems used to gather data would all help to reinforce actions of Race 
Equality Action Plan. 
A model of an anti-racist school in the 21st century should be provided as an 
exemplar for all schools to work towards across Wales to ensure standards are 
raised/ procedures are followed. 
Reporting systems should be consistent across all Welsh local authorities where 
racial incidents can be recorded and monitored accurately.  The same reporting 
criteria must be used, and this will enable targeting to become more focussed
Curriculum – a clear framework for a more integrated approach to anti-racism, 
cultural and diversity teaching within the new curriculum – using a range of methods 
including lived experience and whole school approach rather than in silos. 
In order to deliver the goals and actions, schools must be given sufficient funding to 
provide suitable training. Training must be continuous and not seen as one off 
sessions. The whole plan must change teachers and children’s views and therefore 
must be embedded into the school curriculum and not to be seen as one off 
sessions. There has to be a meaning behind the delivery and children and schools 
must understand why they are delivering it and what they want to achieve, as 
opposed to just an awareness exercise

Question 5

What resources (this could include funding, staff time, training, access to 
support or advocacy services among other things) do you think will be 
necessary in achieving the goals and actions outlined?

Funding –essential to ensure the goals and actions are achieved. As stated 
previously some of the actions are already in train but additional or new funding will 
ensure timely progress is made and evidence the commitment to the Action Plan.   

Support – pan Wales support for anti-racism training/advice/mentoring for 
workforce/communities would help ensure a consistent approach.  

Training – essential for workforce (including senior officers) and elected members to 
attend training/meetings. Basic mandatory training for all with tailored training 
sessions as required. This should be replicated within the school environment with 
governors, head teachers, teachers and other school staff undertaking training to 
reinforce a whole school ethos of anti-racism and diversity. 

Tudalen256



Appendix 1

Community role models – community members to support services/schools 
(voluntarily or remunerated); building confidence of staff/pupils as well as providing 
opportunities for community members. For example, the Vulnerable Learner Service 
employ female teaching assistants from different ethnic and cultural backgrounds 
from local communities. Not only are they role models for teachers, pupils and 
parents but are encouraged to undertake training to further their own careers, some 
becoming teachers themselves.  

Staff forum – enable engagement with staff to assist with monitoring progress and 
provide feedback.

Staff time – to attend training /meetings; to enable sufficient time for planning and 
implementation of action plan, or merging into current processes wherever possible.

Question 6

Do you feel the Race Equality Action Plan adequately covers the intersection 
of race with other protected characteristics, such as religion or belief, 
disability, age, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, sex, and marriage and 
civil partnership? If not, how can we improve this?

While there some intersectionality referenced in the Action Plan the intersectionality 
of race and disability seems to be overlooked in nearly all policy areas – environment 
and cross cutting goals being the exception.

The disadvantages and impacts experienced by disabled people as a consequence 
of the pandemic and reported in the media has like the impacts on race highlighted 
the inequities that are faced on a daily basis. To be a member of an ethnic minority 
with a disability, where a disability has yet to be diagnosed, where a disability is 
considered shameful or support has yet to be sought/offered, only exacerbates the 
issues faced. 

Question 7

Please see the section on Governance. What suggestions can you provide for 
measuring success in creating an anti-racist Wales and for strengthening the 
accountability for implementation?

Accountability and monitoring of progress is welcomed and essential. However we 
would not be able to support the proposed steering group ‘refocus’ to hold local 
government and other public bodies to account. The Council has its own governance 
arrangements; scrutiny and cabinet, complemented by internal/external groups 
where appropriate, along with external scrutiny bodies for example Estyn, Equality 
and Human Right Commission, Care inspectorate Wales, etc. which would be better 
placed to provide oversight.  

Tudalen257



Appendix 1

We are mindful that progress must be made and would support the commitment to 
report progress in a way that does not create an extra burden for already stretched 
councils; possibly incorporate actions into existing plans and reported through 
established reporting frameworks.  

Measuring of racial incidents in schools will be a key feature of the Race Equality 
Action Plan – however support for schools to identify and record/report racial 
incidents without recrimination will be essential. 

A change in behaviour will be key to the success of the Race Equality Action Plan 
but it will not be simple to measure.  

Quantitative measures such as an increase in the number of ethnic minority staff in 
organisations, are straightforward but will only give half the picture; qualitative data is 
essential to gather too. Historically this has been difficult to obtain but if the Race 
Equality Action Plan is successful engagement should become easier as 
communities increase in confidence and positive changes become more visible.  

Understanding people’s experience of hate crime from its occurrence, through its 
reporting and investigation to court proceedings will be one of the main area where 
success can be measured.   

Question 8

We would like to know your views on the effects that these proposals would 
have on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for people to use 
Welsh and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

What effects do you think there would be? How could positive effects be 
increased, or negative effects be mitigated? 

The Race Equality Action Plan highlights the opportunities available to pupils and 
adults from ethnic minority backgrounds to learn Welsh via Welsh medium education 
or adult learning courses. While having no guarantee of take up ensuring access is 
available will help meet the aims of the Government’s Cymraeg 2050.

It is important to see the Welsh language and culture considered in the same way as 
other languages and cultures thereby ensuring a more robust approach to belonging 
in a diverse Wales can be achieved. 

Question 9

Please also explain how you believe the proposed policy approach could be 
formulated or changed so as to have positive effects or increased positive 
effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on treating 
the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language, and no 

Tudalen258



Appendix 1

adverse effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on 
treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language.

As stated above appropriate and additional resources will be required to realise the 
actions thus ensuring commitment to the Race Equality Action Plan and its outcomes 
are visible. 

Question 10

This plan has been developed in co-construction, and discussions around 
language and identity have shown that many people do not consider the term 
‘BAME’ to be appropriate. As a result we refer to Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic people or particular ethnic minority people in the Plan. However, we 
recognise that this term is also problematic and, where possible, being more 
specific to the particular race or ethnicity an individual or community identifies 
with is generally preferred. However, there are times where it is necessary to 
make reference to all those people who share the experience of being subject 
to racism. 

We have used the term Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic people for this 
purpose. What are your views on this term and is there an alternative you 
would prefer? Welsh speakers may wish to consider suitable terminology in 
both languages.

While the term Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic has been used by when making 
reference to a number of different communities it is not one that is supported by the 
communities themselves. 

One of the problems highlighted with using BME/BAME terminology is that the terms 
are not always associated with White ethnic minorities such as Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller of Irish Heritage groups. These groups are among the most marginalised 
and disadvantaged communities and some argue that these descriptions marginalise 
these communities even further.

The Council has been advised locally that the preference is the use of minority ethnic 
communities or individual ethnic minority communities by name. 

Question 11

We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any related issues 
which we have not specifically addressed, please use this space to report 
them:

Communication will be key to the success of the Race Equality Action Plan; the 
narrative, the Plan itself, progress, updates etc.   

Tudalen259



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cabinet 

30th June 2021

Report of the Director of Education, Leisure and Lifelong 
Learning  

Andrew Thomas

Matter for Decision

Wards Affected: All Wards 

The Members Community Fund (protocol for 
relaunch)

Purpose of the Report 

1. To update Cabinet on the relaunch of the Members Community Fund, and 
seek approval to resurrect the programme within the confines of a 
condensed timeframe. 

Executive Summary

2. In its first term (14.06.18 to 31.03.20), the Members Community Fund 
supported 135 projects across all 42 NPT Wards. The projects addressed 
local needs and supported projects and initiatives that contributed towards 
creating vibrant and sustainable communities. 

A Report evaluating the performance of the Fund in its first term, 
refinements to the Fund criteria and the way in which project proposals 

Tudalen261

Eitem yr Agenda13



were to be reported in the Fund's second term, was approved by Cabinet 
on 25.06.20. 

Due to the significant impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the timescales for 
the Fund's second term as presented to Cabinet on the 25.06.20, as well as 
the continuation of the Members Community Fund itself, took lesser 
precedence and the programme was shelved. However the Council is now 
in a better financial position and after careful consideration the Members 
Community Fund can be re- launched.

This report serves as a means of communicating the 'new' timescales 
associated with the Funds second term, and seeks approval from Members 
to relaunch the Fund on that basis.

Background

3. The Project Development & Funding Unit (PDFU) within ELLL successfully 
carried out the governance of the Fund in its first term, acting as the Grant 
Management Organisation, and would look to do the same in its second 
term.

The relaunch of the Members Fund in its second term builds upon 
experience and the interpretation of the Fund in its first term.

A new reporting arrangement was approved by Cabinet on 25.06.20. This 
was arrived at to foreshorten the volume of paper associated with each bid 
tabled at Cabinet. 

The 'Guiding Principles' Paper, also approved by Cabinet on 25.06.20, 
governs the management and stipulates the refined eligibility criteria for 
the Fund. This document has been recently amended to reflect the changes 
to the time lines associated with the Fund in its second term and is 
attached at Appendix A.

Notable alterations include:-

A condensed time frame to make bids and to report proposals to Cabinet 
(launch 1st July 2021, for PDFU to receive bids up until 14th February 2022).

The deadline for submitting bids will be the 14th February 2022. The 
deadline for seeking Cabinet approval for projects will be 23rd March 2022. 

Tudalen262



The PDFU will project manage proposals that have been tabled by the 
current Administration, i.e. those that have sought approval at Cabinet 
prior to purdah on the 28th March 2022.

Highways infrastructure projects must be submitted by the 31st December 
2021 to allow sufficient time to advertise for approval, to explore 
objections and to facilitate delivery of the projects going forward.

The 'Guidance Notes for Members', which follows the same vein as the 
'Guiding Principles' Paper but in a more condensed format, and 'The 
Members Fund Application Form' (Appendices B and C respectively) gained 
approval at Cabinet on 25.06.20, and have also been amended to reflect 
the new timescales. 

With these refinements the Members Fund is again deemed to be 'fit for 
purpose' and an appropriate vehicle to be used to promote inward 
investment.  

Financial Impact 

4. No implications as the Members Fund is already a budget line found from 
the Council's Reserve Fund.

Equality Impact Assessment 

5. A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken to assist the Council 
in discharging its legislative duties (under the Equality Act 2010), the Welsh 
Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015, the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

The first stage assessment has indicated that a more in - depth assessment 
is not required as the summary concludes there are positive outcomes for 
the sustainable development principle, collaboration and involvement, with 
no impact on equalities or the Welsh language.

Workforce Impacts

6. There are no workforce impacts associated with this report.

Tudalen263



Legal Impacts

7. The delivery of the Members Community Fund will come within the 
purview of the Local Government Act 2000 which introduced well-being 
powers which enable every Local Authority to have capacity to do anything 
which it considers likely to promote an improvement to economic, social or 
environmental well-being in the area. Under section 56 of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011 sanction is given for both Executive and 
Non - Executive Members to invest within their own Ward.

The Council's Constitution should be referred to for explicit guidance on 
governance.

Risk Management

8. There are no risk management issues associated with this report.

Consultation

9. There is no requirement for external consultation on this item.

Recommendations 

10. That the content of this report is noted and the approval given by Members 
to relaunch the Members Community Fund within the confines of a 
condensed timeframe.

Reasons for Proposed Decision

11. To facilitate the governance and delivery of the Members Fund in its second 
term.

Implementation of Decision

12. The decision is proposed for immediate implementation with the 
agreement from the relevant Scrutiny Chairperson and therefore not 
subject to the 3 day call in period.

Tudalen264



Appendices 

13. The refreshed 'Guiding Principles' Paper that will be used to govern the 
Members Fund in its second term.

The refreshed 'Guidance Notes for Members' that accompanies the 
Members Fund Application Form.

The Members Fund Application Form that will be used to capture 
information on bids made to the Members Fund in its second term.

List of Background Papers

14. None

Officer Contact

Paul Hinder, Project Development & Funding Manager, (ELLL).  

Tel:  01639 763390, email: p.hinder@npt.gov.uk 

Tudalen265

mailto:p.hinder@npt.gov.uk


Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



1 | P a g e

MEMBERS COMMUNITY FUND – GUIDING PRINCIPLES       APPENDIX A

1. Background

The Members Community Infrastructure Fund is financed from Council Reserves and is to be 

operational again between July 2021 and March 2022.

£10,000 is set aside for each Ward Member. The £10,000 is to be invested in projects that 

support the delivery of the Council’s policies and priorities. Money left unallocated by 

Members in 2021/22 will return to Reserves. The Fund will receive bids until the 14th 

February 2022 and the Project Development and Funding Unit (PDFU) will project manage 

proposals that have been tabled by the current Administration, i.e. those that have been 

presented by Councillors and have gained approval at Cabinet prior to purdah and the 28th 

March 2022.

Ward Members are to identify priority projects within their own Ward and present these 

proposals for consideration of Cabinet.

The Project Development and Funding Unit within ELLL will act as the Grant Management 

Organisation (GMO) and will have strict control and governance of the Fund.

The Members Community Infrastructure Fund is for the benefit of all of the communities 

within the 42 Electoral Wards of Neath Port Talbot. The Fund will be encoded, one Folio 

Number per Member, and spend against each Folio will be monitored by NPTCBC Technical 

Accounts.

2. Aim of the Members Community Infrastructure Fund

The money will be used to address local needs and to fund projects and initiatives that will 

contribute towards creating vibrant and sustainable communities. 

Applications and proposals that demonstrate how Council funding will be used to lever in 

additional resources in support of Council policies and priorities are welcomed. It is 

intended that the Members Community Fund will endeavour to maximise other funding 

Tudalen267



2 | P a g e

streams and draw in additional external funding which will add value to inward investment 

within the Ward under determination, (whilst recognising there are time constraints that 

will impact upon the likelihood of this happening in Tranche II of the Members Fund).

3. Principles

The following are Guiding Principles used to prioritise and help in the determination of bids 

made to the Members Community Fund.

  

Projects will:-

 Directly address identified issues, needs and opportunities in a particular 

community.

 Demonstrate added value to the local communities through clear outcomes.

 Be well thought out and have robust financial plans and delivery proposals.

 Demonstrate synergy and complementary activities with other projects and 

initiatives in the area.

 Demonstrate support from the local community and partner organisations.

 Meet the needs of existing and future generations.

 Recognise and respond to the diversity and uniqueness of the community.

 Be sustainable and should not ordinarily create ongoing operational/revenue costs.

4. The Members Community Infrastructure Fund

 Will be made available to Members as the ‘Members Community Fund’, which will 

be administered by the Project Development & Funding Unit (PDFU) within ELLL.

 The PDFU will act as the Grant Management Organisation (GMO).

 The Fund will be available as a means of directly funding or match funding those 

project proposals that come before the Grant Management Organisation (GMO).

 Projects that show merit will be reported to Cabinet for consideration and decision. 

Tudalen268



3 | P a g e

5. Grant Management and Administration 

The Grant Management Organisation (GMO) will be responsible for the standard Award 

conditions and will promote consistency and fairness. The GMO will:

 Be the first point of contact for all Members wishing to access the Fund.

 Take enquiries about the Fund and advise upon eligibilities and ineligibilities.

 Equip the Members, who are interested in making a bid, with the appropriate 

Guidance Notes and Application Form.

 Provide advice upon complex bids which might require early and constructive 

dialogue. Information will be given upon project management issues such as the 

need for statutory undertakings, adherence to the Corporate Procurement Rules, 

H&S, site investigations and best value as befitting the individual project 

requirements.

 Check bids for completeness, accuracy, deliverability, and sustainability.

 Act as a Clearing House by appraising bids to ensure that proposals are credible, 

realistic and practical and are ready for determination/assessment.

 Undertake consultations with partner organisations that can add to the 

understanding of a project submission. 

 Prepare Reports for Cabinet in a timely fashion so as to facilitate early decision 

making and rapid response.

 Write to the Members notifying of outcome.

 Process payments, ensuring the money has been allocated appropriately and in 

accordance with the grant offer letter. 

 Record all transactions to allow immediate reconciliation of spend against 64 

Headings

 Have transparent, robust, auditable and impartial governance procedures.

6. The Process

 It will be for Members to identify projects to go forward for consideration. The onus 

is on the Member to identify local priorities and bring proposals to the GMO.

Tudalen269



4 | P a g e

 These projects may enhance existing Council services, support and augment existing 

voluntary sector provision or protect and refurbish capital assets that are in need of 

investment.

 Members can invest a minimum of £1,000 up to the maximum of the £10,000 

allocation per Ward Member on any one or a combination of projects in 2021/22. 

Bids to the Members Community Fund will be accepted at any time up until the 14th 

February 2022 as this will be an Open Programme with no set cyclical Rounds of 

funding. Fully worked proposals will be presented to the cyclical Rounds of Cabinet 

meetings for appraisal .No approvals can be sought in purdah.

 Revenue projects and projects that involve the procurement of essential small items 

of capital equipment can be considered.

 Members may wish to augment a project that they have already supported in the 

earlier Round of the Members Fund, by building upon the earlier initiative with the 

2021/2022 allocation (the GMO will need to be convinced that the earlier initiative 

has worked). 

 Should a Member wish to develop a traffic calming, or a Traffic Regulation Order or a 

Highways Infrastructure type proposal these must be lodged with the GMO by the 

31.12.21 to allow for approval to advertise, to explore objections to the proposal and 

to facilitate ongoing delivery.

 The Member may wish to use other locally sourced external grant aid (i.e. from 

Section 106 Agreements, Mineral Deposits, Renewable Energy sources, etc.) to 

match fund the £10,000 allocation. The PDFU can advise upon this course of action 

which will add value to local investment. All sources of match funding that are to be 

associated with the Total Project Cost must be in place and secure before a bid is 

made to the Members Fund and presented to Cabinet for approval.

 Certain Wards may be represented by more than one Ward Member. Where there is 

general agreement between Ward Members that they wish to pool their individual 

£10,000 allocation as a means of securing a bigger, more ambitious project, this is 

permissible under the Fund criteria.

 Should a Ward Member feel strongly about, and can evidence the need for, 

financially supporting a venture that is not within their own Electoral Ward, this is 

Tudalen270



5 | P a g e

permissible under the Fund criteria. The investment outside of the indigenous Ward 

can be made in any Ward providing that a need can be evidenced.

 Members are to complete the Members Community Fund Application Form and 

then seek a meeting (which may now be through a ‘virtual’ digital platform, like 

‘Teams’ – an appointment should be booked as Officers will be working remotely.) 

with the PDFU (as the GMO) to go through the submission.

 The PDFU will complete all the relevant checks.

 The Member will personally sign off the bid and declare, to the best of their 

knowledge, that the information contained within the Application is correct and 

authentic.

 Further information will be requested if the bid is in anyway incomplete or 

ambiguous.

 A synopsis of the Project proposals received from Members will be reported to the 

next available Cabinet meeting for determination/award.

 During execution of this Fund, all parties will abide by all the relevant current 

legislation and regulations.

7. Examples of eligible Projects (N.B. These suggestions are indicative 

not exhaustive)

1. Environment – e.g. environmental enhancements, traffic calming, street furnishings 

community landscaping projects, nature trails, local interpretation, recycling 

initiatives, community gardens.

2. Education – e.g. Educational activities that are not part of the traditional school day, 

‘Forest School’, Road Safety initiatives, non – statutory support for libraries(‘Friends 

of’ Organisations, etc.) , non-statutory youth projects, one off materials, staging an 

exhibition, environmental education projects, community education activities.

3. Health – e.g. Essential capital items for Food co-ops, exercise referrals, health and 

well-being events.

4. Culture – e.g. cultural events, promotional leaflets, productions, gateway features.

Tudalen271



6 | P a g e

5. Recreation – e.g. Community facilities, playground refurbishments and renewals, 

multi-sport games areas, improvement to sporting facilities, festivals of sport and 

Taster Days

8. Ineligible Projects

 Statutory Activity

 Any project that has already started cannot be considered, however separate stages 

of a project can apply for this Fund

 Any project where contracts have been signed or orders placed before approval

 The promotion of religious faith activities (although applications from religious 

organisations are allowed if the proposed project benefits the wider community)

 Highways schemes that have no evidenced need or community benefit (genuine 

outcomes will need to form part of the proposal in order to win through in 

assessment).

 Projects that impact upon or adversely affect the sustainability of existing provision 

perhaps elsewhere in the area of benefit

 Applications from private sector organisations

 Applications to assist Organisations that receive funding from the Public purse 

(Police, NHS, etc.)

 Applications on behalf of other organisations or in the name of a professional 

fundraiser

 Funding core staff

 Feasibility studies

 Trips and visits 

 Funding of recoverable VAT costs

 Running costs such as utility costs, routine hall hire, etc.

 Insurance and/or legal costs

 Proposals that are without a specific project in mind – i.e. simply gifting money to 

keep an Organisation operational

 Projects that conflict or adversely affect the Council’s aims,  policies or priorities

 Fundraising campaigns

Tudalen272



7 | P a g e

 Party political activity or fundraising

 Purchase of land

 Duplication of other projects being delivered locally

 Individual beneficiaries

9. General Requirements

Member Applications for financial assistance may be categorised into one of three potential 

bid types:-

1. Enhancement to Council Services – this will require the PDFU to work with Officers in 

Environment, Social Services, Neighbourhood Services, Leisure, etc. to gain 

assurances that the proposal is workable, strategically correct, affordable and 

sustainable going forward. The PDFU must be convinced of the project’s worth 

before presenting it in a Report format to Cabinet.

2. Assistance to Voluntary sector Groups – if the Member’s investment is intended to 

support community activity and the facilitator of that activity is within the voluntary 

sector (e.g. the Management Committee of a Community Centre); the PDFU will 

require sight of that Organisation’s Constitution, Accounts, Insurances and Bank 

Account details so as to be convinced that they are a worthy Organisation to invest 

in. A Quote for the item to be purchased from the Award of grant will also be 

required in order to verify that the item has been economically sourced. There may 

be a requirement for additional information, relevant to the project e.g. evidence of 

ownership for capital projects. This would need to be specified on the Application 

Form completed by the Member.

3. Complex bids requiring a multi-faceted approach to funding – the PDFU would take a 

‘hands on ‘approach by working with the Member(s) to arrive at a total funding 

package that mirrors the total project cost. The PDFU would stay with such a project 

from inception to completion and would, according to the nature and complexity of 

the project, be responsible for site investigation works, commissioning, supervision, 

grant draw down schedules, Practical Completion, post installation inspection, etc.

Tudalen273



8 | P a g e

10. Legal Implications

 Section 56 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 provides sanction for non – 

executive Members to be given authority to carry out both Executive and Non – Executive 

functions, but only within their own Ward. There is detailed statutory guidance 

accompanying the above provision and this must be read in conjunction with other 

statutory requirements e.g. that Council resources must not be used to publicise political 

parties. The Cabinet Executive Members will make a decision on the bids that come forward 

for determination under the auspices of the Members Community Fund. Both Executive and 

Non – Executive Members will then deliver the proposed projects that have won through in 

assessment.

The Local Government Act 2000 introduced well-being powers which enable every Local 

Authority to have capacity to do anything which it considers is likely to promote an 

improvement to economic, social or environmental well – being of their area. There are 

limits on the power to promote well – being in that the power does not enable a Local 

Authority to do anything which it is unable to do “by virtue of any prohibition, restriction or 

limitation on their powers which is contained in any enactment, whenever passed or made”.

The Members Community Fund Scheme should remain transparent and be consistently 

applied in order to safeguard public confidence .The Council’s Constitution should be 

referred to for explicit guidance upon governance.

In keeping with all other extra voluntary contributions, the Members Community Fund will 

be subject to Internal Audit.

11. Conflict of Interest 

Any Cabinet Member who has a financial interest (or if a family member has such an interest) in a 

project under discussion, should declare the nature of his/her interest and withdraw from the room 

and the determination of any Award.

Similarly if a Cabinet Member acts as a Trustee or forms part of a Board or Management Committee 

of an Organisation which hopes to be a recipient of a grant from the Fund, that Member should not 

Tudalen274



9 | P a g e

be involved in decisions that directly affect the grant .The Cabinet Member should declare an 

interest and withdraw from the room. 

Cabinet Members will declare an interest in projects that originate from their own Electoral Ward 

and play no further part in the determination of an Award by leaving the room.

Conflicts of interest will be a standing Agenda item and the Members will be bound by the Council’s 

Code of Conduct.

Non – Executive Members will be responsible for bringing project proposals to the Cabinet for 

decision. These Members are also bound by the above and must declare on the Members 

Community Fund Application Form should there be a financial or personal conflict of interest, which 

would otherwise create a bias or affect broader community interest.

12. Payment of the Award

Following the assessment of bids that are made to the Members Community Infrastructure 

Fund PDFU, acting as GMO, will notify the Applicant of the Cabinet’s decision to support or 

to reject the bid.

The Applicant Member will be asked, as part of the Application Form to declare that if 

successful with an Award the grant will be used solely and specifically for the purposes 

described or as intended.

Should the bid succeed, the GMO will, according to Section 9 ‘General Requirements’ 

above:-

1. Arrange a Journal Transfer from the relevant Member Folio Code to a Project Code 

furnished by the Council Dept. charged with carrying out the work e.g. to ‘Highways’ 

if a traffic calming initiative, to ‘Street Care’ if tree planting or placement of street 

furnishings, etc.

2. Pay by electronic BACS proforma the Community Organisation that has been 

identified in the bid. This will be completed using the Bank Account and Sort Code 

Tudalen275



10 | P a g e

that was gleaned from the Organisation during the initial appraisal of the proposal 

when first delivered to PDFU by the Member Applicant.

3. PDFU pay through General Exchequer and receipted Invoice for goods and services 

that have been procured to arrive at some of the more capital intensive, complex 

projects that have been project managed ‘in house’.

Second and subsequent bids made by the same Member will be accepted throughout 

2021/22 up until the 14th February 2022, until such time as their allocation of £10,000 is 

fully utilised.

The above transactions are to be recorded against 64 Folio Headings (one for each Elected 

Member). Trackers and spreadsheets will be kept by Technical Accountancy to log 

expenditure against a working budget of £640,000.

The Member Applicant will be reminded that the GMO reserves the right to monitor a 

project post Award, and proof of outcomes associated with the project could be asked for.

Tudalen276



1 | P a g e

MEMBERS COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE FUND  APPENDIX B

GUIDANCE NOTES FOR MEMBERS

What is the Members Community Fund?
The Fund is financed from the County Borough Council’s Reserves and is available in 
Financial Year 2021/22 until the 14th February 2022 only. £10,000 is set aside for each Ward 
Member. The Fund is administered by the Project Development & Funding Unit (PDFU) 
within Education, Leisure and Lifelong Learning (ELLL) acting as the Grant Management 
Organisation (GMO). The Fund is to be governed for the benefit of priority projects within 
the 42 Wards of Neath Port Talbot.

Members are to identify preferred projects within their own Ward and present these 
proposals for consideration to the PDFU for the decision of Cabinet.

Project proposals must align strongly to the Council’s Corporate Plan outcomes. These 
policies and priorities insist upon working towards creating healthier, safer, more resilient 
and more economically viable communities.

How to apply?
Please read through these Guidance Notes to find out more about the Community Fund and 
the types of project that can be funded.

It is advisable to initially contact the PDFU and take advice upon the proposal. The Unit can 
advise upon eligibilities, how best to procure the project, assist in its commissioning, advise 
upon site investigations, VAT and project management.

The Project Development & Funding Unit is based in Room 307B (2nd Floor) Civic Centre, 
Port Talbot, SA13 IPJ. Officers can be contacted on Tel: 01639 763390 or 01639 763552. 
Email – p.hinder@npt.gov.uk or e.stanton@npt.gov.uk. Officers now work remotely and it is 
important that Members book an appointment via ‘Teams’ so that dedicated time can be 
invested in exploring the best way of developing a bid.

Members making the initial enquiry with the PDFU will be equipped with an Application 
Form which will capture the essential ingredients of the proposal. The PDFU will, upon 
receipt of the completed Application Form, check the Form for accuracy and the project for 
credibility, practicality and sustainability.

 Please ensure that all questions in the Application Form are answered and that all 
supporting documentation that has been asked for is provided. Submission of an 
incomplete Application will delay the processing of the bid.

 There will be no cyclical Rounds of funding as the Members Community Fund is an 
Open Programme receiving proposals and bids at any time up until the 14th February 
2022. Member Applicants will be notified of the outcome of their bid following a 
decision made by Cabinet.

Tudalen277

mailto:p.hinder@npt.gov.uk
mailto:e.stanton@npt.gov.uk


2 | P a g e

About the Grant
The primary intent of the Fund is to support projects that align strongly to the aspirations of 
the Council’s policies and priorities. Projects should:-

 Generate a genuine long term community benefit
 Address an evidenced need 
 Be well thought through and have robust financial plans and delivery proposals
 Complement , rather than duplicate existing provision
 Be sustainable. 

How much can you apply for?
Members can apply for funding between £1,000 and £10,000 from the Community Fund by 
using the enclosed Application Form. The funding can be used to support any one or a 
combination of projects in 2021/22. Money left uncommitted within the Member’s 
allocation in 2021/22 will be returned to Reserves.

Where a Member of a Ward feels strongly about investing the whole of their £10,000 to 
support a single project, this is permissible under the Fund criteria.

Members may wish to augment a project that has already received their Member’s funding 
in an earlier Round, as a means of building upon the earlier investment. This is permissible 
providing that the GMO can be convinced that the earlier initiative has worked and is 
worthy of continued support.

Certain Wards may be represented by more than one Ward Member. Where there is 
general agreement between Ward Members that they wish to pool their individual £10,000 
allocation as a means of securing a more ambitious project, this is permissible under the 
Fund criteria.

Should a Ward Member feel strongly about, and can evidence the need for, financially 
supporting a venture that is not within their own Electoral Ward, this is permissible under 
the Fund criteria. The investment outside of the indigenous Ward can be made in any Ward 
providing that the need can be evidenced.

Should a Member wish to develop a traffic calming, or a Traffic Regulation Order or a 
Highways Infrastructure type proposal, these must be lodged with the GMO by the 31st 
December 2021 to allow for approval to advertise, to explore objections to the proposal and 
to facilitate ongoing delivery.

There will be no retrospective funding.

(Please contact the PDFU for advice upon project costs and the funding arrangements – Tel: 
01639 763390/763552, email p.hinder@npt.gov.uk or e.stanton@npt.gov.uk). 

The Grant Management Organisation (GMO) will refer all bids for funding to Cabinet for 
decision. The Member Applicant will receive the outcome of the assessment in writing. The 

Tudalen278

mailto:p.hinder@npt.gov.uk


3 | P a g e

Applicant should await the outcome of assessment before any start is made on the project 
that is to be funded.

Match Funding – Added Value
Applications and proposals that demonstrate how Council funding will be used to lever in 
additional resources in support of Council policies and priorities are welcomed. It is 
intended that the Members Community Fund will endeavour to maximise other funding 
streams and draw in additional funding which will add value and investment to the Ward 
that is under determination (whilst recognising there are time constraints that will impact 
upon the likelihood of this happening in Tranche II of the Members Fund).

The PDFU can assist Members in identifying additional locally sourced external grant aid (i.e. 
from Section 106 Community Levy infrastructure payments, Mineral Deposits, Renewable 
Energy Community Benefit Funds, etc.) 

All sources of match funding that are associated with the Total Project Cost must be secured 
and available before a bid is made to the Members Fund before a project can be presented 
to Cabinet for approval. The Members Fund is seen as the final piece of the funding jigsaw.

What can be funded?
Projects that have a positive impact on the community and meet the criteria of the Fund will 
be considered for funding. The need for the project should be evidenced. The project should 
not duplicate existing provision but complement what is happening in the Ward.

The Members Community Fund can support both revenue and capital projects. Work that 
will score well in the assessment of the bid might include new, additional or improved 
facilities or services. Projects that require funding for repair, replacement or renewal are 
also eligible.

Members that request financial support from the Fund must prove that their project is 
sustainable in the long term and that the project will continue beyond the life of the grant. 
Any project progressed should be sustainable and should not ordinarily create additional 
ongoing operational/revenue costs.

Examples of projects that could be supported include (these suggestions are indicative not 
exhaustive):- 

 Environment – landscaping, traffic calming, street furnishings, interpretation, 
community gardens, recycling initiatives.

 Education – educational activities that are not part of the traditional school day, 
‘Forest School’, Road Safety initiatives, non – statutory support for libraries (via 
‘Friends of’ Organisations, etc.), non – statutory youth provision, one off materials, 
staging an exhibition, biodiversity projects.

 Health – Essential capital items for Food Co – ops, exercise referrals, well-being 
events.

Tudalen279



4 | P a g e

 Culture – staged productions, promotional leaflets, gateway projects, working with 
an artist in residence.

 Recreation – Community facilities, playground refurbishments and renewals, 
improvement to sports facilities, Open days and Festivals.

Bids that will not be supported in assessment might include those that require funding for:-

 Refreshments, food and drink (and fireworks).
 Trips/excursions.
 Projects that impact upon and affect the sustainability of existing provision perhaps 

elsewhere
 Religion and Faith groups and the advancement of any religion (unless for instance 

the building that is to be improved by the investment has a community benefit).
 Highways schemes that have no evidenced need or community benefit (genuine 

outcomes will need to form an essential part of the proposal in order to win through 
in assessment).

 Party political activities
 Applications to assist Organisations that receive funding from the Public purse 

(Police, NHS, etc.)
 Funding of recoverable VAT
 Running costs such as utilities, routine hall hire, etc.
 Insurances and legal costs
 Proposals that are without a specific project in mind – i.e. simply gifting money to 

keep an Organisation operational.
 Purchase of land
 Individual beneficiaries
 Projects that conflict or adversely affect the Council’s aims, policies or procedures

Again, this is not an exhaustive list - please contact the Project Development & Funding Unit 
(PDFU) on Tel: 01639 763390/763552 or email p.hinder@npt.gov.uk and 
e.stanton@npt.gov.uk for advice.

All project submissions will be assessed on merit by Cabinet. The assessment decision is 
final.

Second and Subsequent Applications to the Fund
Second and subsequent bids made by the same Member will be accepted throughout 
Financial Year 2021/22 up until the 14th February 2022, until such time as the individual 
Member’s allocation of £10,000 is fully utilised. The Members Community Infrastructure 
Fund will receive bids up until the 14th February 2022 in readiness for presentation to 
Cabinet on the 9.03.2022 or ‘Special Cabinet’ on the 23.03.2022.The PDFU will project 
manage proposals that have been tabled by the current Administration, i.e. those proposals 
that have gained approval at Cabinet prior to purdah and the 28th March 2022. 

All transactions against the Members Community Fund will be recorded against 64 Folio 
Headings. The Member will be kept updated as to the status of their investment profile. 

Tudalen280

mailto:p.hinder@npt.gov.uk
mailto:e.stanton@npt.gov.uk


5 | P a g e

PDFU will advise Members upon complex projects that require a multi-faceted approach to 
funding and accountancy. 

Declaration
The Member, as an authentic Applicant, is to sign that to the best of knowledge the 
information contained in the Application is correct and that they will take responsibility for 
the development of the project. 

If the information offered in the Application changes the Member will inform the GMO 
immediately.

If Grant aid is awarded, it is to be used only for the purposes stipulated in the offer letter. 
The Council reserves the right to recover grant aid that is inappropriately used.

The Member Applicant will be reminded that the GMO reserves the right to monitor a 
project post Award as a means of satisfying the Council that the outcomes as depicted in the 
original Application have been achieved as intended.

In the making of the Application the Member must declare any financial or personal interest 
in the project. Similarly if the Member acts as a Trustee or forms part of a Board or 
Management Committee of an Organisation which hopes to be a recipient of a grant from 
the Fund, that Member must declare a direct conflict of interest (conflicts of interests may 
arise where a Member’s personal or family interests and/or loyalties potentially conflict 
with those of the broader community and create a danger of bias). Members are bound by 
the Council’s Code of Conduct.

Tudalen281



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



APPENDIX C

MEMBERS COMMUNITY FUND ROUND II

APPLICATION FORM 
(To be read in conjunction with the accompanying Guidance Notes)

Deadline for Applications – 14th February 2022

Applications involving Traffic Regulation Orders or Highways Infrastructure must be 
submitted by 31st December 2021

1.1
Name of Councillor(s) submitting the proposal for funding

1.2 Is the proposal intended to (choose one option only):-

1. Enhance Existing Council Services?                                                        ☐

2. Assist Voluntary Sector providers?                                                          ☐

If your proposal is to assist the voluntary sector, please tell us about the 
organisation you wish to support:- 

Name of organisation 
Contact person
Contact email/ phone number

3. Form part of a more complex project which would require input from 
the Project Development and Funding Unit (PDFU) to facilitate its 
delivery?                                                                  

 ☐

Tudalen283



2 | P a g e

2.1 Please describe the project you wish the Members Community Fund to 
support.
(This may be revenue or capital investment) 

2.2 How have you identified the need for the project? 
(How do you know the project is really needed?)

Tudalen284



3 | P a g e

2.3 What genuine long term community benefits do you anticipate as a result of the 
investment?
(What outcomes do you hope to see?) 

2.4 How will the project be sustained after the Members Fund investment has 
ended? 
(Please tell us how the project will be looked after and maintained) 

Tudalen285



4 | P a g e

Project Costs

3.1 Please provide a breakdown of the total cost of this project excluding VAT (this 
cost can exceed the £10,000 allotted per member if match funding has been 
identified as part of the funding package). 

Item £ Amount Tick if you are 
applying for this 
item from the 
Members 
Community Fund 

Total amount required for the whole project 
(exclusive of VAT) (A)
Total VAT for this project (B) 
Total Project Cost (A)+(B)

3.2

How much money are you asking the 
Members Community Fund for? 

£

How much have you raised elsewhere for the project? Please list funders and amounts 
below. 

Please be aware that Members Community Fund proposals cannot be reported to Cabinet 
for approval unless all other facets of the funding package have been secured. 

£
£
£

3.3 Other Information – Please outline any other information which you think would help 
strengthen your bid to the Fund. 

Tudalen286



5 | P a g e

Conflict of Interest – to be completed by the Ward Member(s)

In the making of this Application you must declare any conflict of interest which could 
arise from financial, personal or family involvement within the Organisation which 
hopes to be a recipient of a grant from the Fund.

Please declare as appropriate (leave blank if there is no perceived Conflict of interest 
which might otherwise create a danger of bias).

Please state nature of Interest(s) – i.e. as a Trustee, 
Committee Member, family member, employee, etc. 

Signed

Declaration – to be completed by the Ward Member(s)

 I am authorised to make the Application. 
 I certify that to the best of my knowledge the information contained in this 

Application is correct. 
 If the information changes in any way I will inform the PDFU immediately.
 I further confirm that if successful, I agree the following conditions:

 Use the grant only for the purpose in the offer letter 
 The invoices submitted under this Scheme not being used to claim 

grant aid from other sources for the same expenditure 
 Agree to monitoring visits, post Award
 Not to use the funding for any projects that conflict or adversely affect 

the aim or policies of the Council. 

Name 
(Block 
Capitals) 

Electoral 
Ward (Block 
Capitals)

Signed Date 

Tudalen287



6 | P a g e

Checklist 

In its appraisal of the proposed project the PDFU must be convinced of the 
project’s worth and its suitability to go forward to Cabinet for assessment. If 
the project is to ‘Enhance Existing Council Services’ the PDFU will work with 
other Council Departments to check that the project is workable in terms of 
affordability and deliverability. If the benefit of investment is to ‘Assist a 
Voluntary Sector provider’ it is important that the Council has confidence in 
that organisation. 

If your application is being made on behalf of a Voluntary Sector, we will need 
to be in receipt of:- 

(Tick box to indicate enclosed) 

☐  A signed and dated constitution 

☐  Audited Accounts If a new organisation, please provide a copy of current bank 
statement (showing the account name and details) 

☐  Bank Account details in the name of the Organisation – Name & address of 
Bank, Bank Account Number and Sort Code 

☐  Two named Bank signatories and their position in the Organisation 

☐  A competitive, valid Quote for the services to be provided and/or a 
competitive, valid quote for the essential items of capital equipment that are to 
be procured from an Award 

☐  A current Insurance Policy (Appropriate to the project, facility or activity to be 
developed) 

☐  Freehold tenure or Lease Agreement (if the project involves improvements to 
land or buildings) 

IMPORTANT 
Please ensure you have answered every question as incomplete Application 

Forms will take longer to process. 

Please return your application marked ‘Members Community Fund’ to: 

The Project Development & Funding Unit (Room 307B)
Education, Leisure & Lifelong Learning

2nd Floor 
Civic Centre 
Port Talbot 
SA13 1PJ 

Or p.hinder@npt.gov.uk / e.stanton@npt.gov.uk 

Tudalen288

mailto:p.hinder@npt.gov.uk
mailto:e.stanton@npt.gov.uk

	Agenda
	5 Rhaglen Sgiliau a Thalent Bargen Ddinesig Bae Abertawe
	City Deal Business Case
	IIA Screening Skills and Talent programme

	6 Prosiect Sinema Canolfan Celfyddydau Pontardawe
	Appendix 1
	EPSON116

	7 Adolygiad Archwillio Cymru o'r System Rheoli Perfformiad Corfforaethol (CPMS)
	Appendix 1 - Action Plan CPMS Review

	8 Buddsoddiadau o Gronfeydd Wrth Gefn 2021/2022
	9 Adfer, Ailosod, Adnewyddu
	RRR Initial Thoughts 11th June.V3 Let's Talk pptx
	Appendix 1 - recover reset renew
	cabinet report - recover reset renew - appendix 2

	10 Tim Gorfodi COVID-19
	11 Papur ar y cyd Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Bae Abertawe a Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Castell-nedd Port Talbot ar Gwm Afan Uchaf
	Appendices Cabinet 300621

	12 Cymru Wrth-hiliol: Cynllun Gweithredu Cydraddoldeb Hiliol Cymru - ymateb i'r ymgynghoriad drafft
	Appendix 1 - Draft response to the Race Equality Action Plan consultation

	13 Cronfa Gymunedol yr Aelodau
	Appendix A Members Community Fund Guiding Principles Mark II (002)
	Appendix B Members Community Fund - Guidance Notes for Applicants Mark II (002)
	Appendix C MCF Application Form Mark II


